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NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
 

Friday, October 29, 2021 
9:00 a.m. 

 
Nebraska Cattlemen Office 

4611 Cattle Drive, Lincoln NE 
 

Non-Meeting Luncheon to follow 
 

Option of Video/Audio Conference for Members of the Public 
 

Notice Published: October 24, 2021 – Omaha World Herald 
October 24, 2021 – Lincoln Journal Star 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Open Meetings Act – Copies of the Open Meetings Act are located on the table at the 
entrance to the meeting room, posted against the wall and are online at 

https://www.nifa.org/about/board-of-directors 
 
 
1. Call Meeting to Order and Roll Call – 5 minutes 

2. Public Comment Related to the October 29, 2021 Agenda Items (comment period 
limited to five minutes) – 5 minutes 

3. Consent Agenda – 5 minutes 

a. August 20, 2021 NIFA Board of Director Meeting Minutes 

b. Executive Director’s Report 

c. Report from Governance Committee 

d. Report from Programs Committee 
 



AGENDA 

October 29, 2021 
 

e. Report on Agricultural Program, Including Loans in Process 

f. Report on Single Family Program 

g. Report on Community Engagement Activities 

h. Report on Collaborative Resource Allocation of Nebraska (CRANE) 

i. Private Activity Bond Cap Summary 

Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Minutes and Accept the Reports on the Consent 
Agenda as Presented 

Strategic Topic – 20 minutes 

4. Board Policy and Implementation through Programming Priorities 
 

Action Items – 95 minutes 

Programs Committee – 35 minutes 

5. Discussion of the Proposed 2022/2023 Qualified Allocation Plan for the Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) Program and the Nebraska Affordable Housing Tax Credit 
(AHTC) Program 

6. Ratification of Public Hearing held Thursday, October 28, 2021, at 9:30 a.m. for the 
following project: 
 

Highlander Apartments Phase IV - $13,000,000 
 

7. Review and Consideration for Adoption of Bond Resolution No. MF-198 Authorizing the 
Issuance of Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue 
Bonds (Highlander Phase IV Project), Series 2021 in an Aggregate Principal Amount not 
to Exceed $13,000,000 for the Benefit of HPIV, LLC in Connection with the Construction 
of an Approximate 70-unit Multifamily Housing Development to be Located in Omaha, 
Nebraska 

 
 
 



AGENDA 

October 29, 2021 
 

 
Audit Committee – 15 minutes 

8. Presentation of Draft Audited Financial Statements and Consideration of a Motion to 
Approve the Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2021 

Single Family Housing Finance – 10 minutes 

9. Review and Consideration for Approval to File Notice with the Nebraska Legislature 
and the Governor of the State of Nebraska of NIFA’s Intent to Issue Single Family 
Housing Program Bonds in the Aggregate Principal Amount of up to $400,000,000 

Operations – 5 minutes 

10. Review and Consideration for Adoption of Board Resolution No. 457 Amending and 
Restating the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan 

    Governance Committee - 30 minutes 

11. Closed Session to Discuss Executive Director’s Performance Review 

12. Review and Request for Approval of Report and Recommendation from Governance 
Committee Regarding Executive Director’s Performance Review 

NIFA Highlights – 5 minutes 

13. Announcements and Discussion of Upcoming Events  

14. Adjournment 
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October 2021  
Board Meeting Executive Director Report 
 
NIFA Board Members: 
We completed our fiscal first quarter (Q1) at the end of September and are well on our way into 
Q2. This has been a very action-packed quarter for the staff, with work on the QAP and both the 
Emergency Rental Assistance program and the Homeowners’ Assistance Fund (HAF), as well as a 
variety of other projects. More updates below. 

Strategic Topic:  QAP Process, Approach and Policy Goals of current QAP   

Meeting Action Items: 

Program Committee:  

The Board will discuss the current proposed 9% LIHTC/AHTC QAP and the 4% LIHTC, and 
LIHTC/AHTC QAP, as well as a few revisions that will address how the LIHTC program fits into the 
overall NIFA Strategy, as we work on the strategic plan and working toward a more broad 
housing strategy in conjunction with DED and the Governor’s office. As you are aware, much 
work has been done over the last year to address the policies and strategies recommended by 
the Board, which included the following items, also shown with the NIFA Core Values associated 
with those priorities:  

• Distributing tax credit projects more equitably across rural Nebraska. 
o Core Value: Commitment  

• Supporting long-term, positive outcomes for families. 
o Core Value: Commitment  

• Maximizing both quality of construction and number of units created. 
o Core Value: Stewardship  

• Incentivizing cooperation and collaboration within neighborhoods and communities, 
including government, non-profits and private sector collaboration and cooperation. 

o Core Value:  Collaboration and Innovation  

While this set of QAPs is reflective of NIFA’s core values of Commitment, Collaboration, 
Stewardship, Innovation and Integrity, it is not “finished” and likely never will be. Partially, this is 
because the tactics and strategies to achieve the policies noted will evolve; partially because 
policies may also change over time. For this iteration, the proposed QAP documents emphasize 
placing projects in geographically diverse locations, assessing projects against like projects in 
metro-vs non-metro, and also ensuring that projects are sited in areas where residents can 
thrive. It also attempts to incentivize developer investment in higher opportunity areas or in 
QCTs with robust and collaborative revitalization efforts, not just in neighborhoods that 
traditionally serve those without means. It further recognizes, and adjusts points for, services and 
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amenities that both cost the developer more and make a larger, positive impact on the tenant 
population.  

Sara will address the already existent list of items for future discussion that have been identified 
and she elaborate on what we intend to be a more iterative process relating to policy and QAP 
changes going forward. 

Audit Committee:  The FY2021 Audit has been completed and presented to the Audit committee, 
who is recommending its acceptance by the Board. The audit, which is always a large 
undertaking, was completed in a shorter time frame this year, in part due to fewer complexities 
relating to swap valuations on variable rate bonds. The audit will be presented to the Board. 
 
Single Family Housing Finance:  It is the time of year for the Board to begin the notification 
process to put the Board in position to request the 2022 annual authorization for up to 
$500,000,000 in single family bond issuance. This practice means the Board does not have to 
continually authorize small bond issuances. 
 
General:  In accordance with changes to the law, we request that the Board consider amending 
the Authority’s Flexible Benefit Plan.  IRS guidance permits the dependent care carryover to be 
effective January 1, 2021. 
 
Governance Committee:  
Zelle, our HR partner, has sent out a 360 review to staff, as well as an evaluation, approved by the 
Governance Committee, to the Board. I hope to harmonize future reviews with the end of the 
fiscal year; ideally an August review, once fiscal year results are in and NIFA goals have been 
measured toward completion. The Board will discuss Executive Director performance at the 
meeting. 
 
Other Updates: 
Meetings:  We are planning a Strategic Planning offsite – there was no Board consensus for 
timing, so we are using the current working date for the session as the day prior to the Board’s 
meeting in December. Please block December 9, beginning at lunch and running to end of day. 
The session will be off-site, in the Lincoln area. In developing the 2022 Board calendar we are 
working on when and where to hold the traveling Board meeting; please stay tuned. It appeared 
that the most important factor for selecting a location was being able to see NIFA’s impact on a 
community/area.  
 
Marketing Initiatives:  As you may have noted, we launched the NIFA Board’s Engage portal. I 
hope you have found that to be a useful tool. We welcome your feedback. Marketing is currently 
rebranding documents and forms and creating protocols and procedures, as well as working with 
departments on business goals that can be supported by the department. 
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Community Engagement:  The team has been planning for the NIFA Housing Conference, to be 
held March 28 – 30. This event will be available both live and online in a hybrid format. In 
addition, the data visualization tool implementation is proceeding, and we expect it to be ready 
for a presentation at the December Board meeting.  
 
Legislative Reception:  We have begun preparations to hold a legislative reception, as suggested 
by the Board. Once the date is firmed-up we would appreciate having you block that on your 
calendars to attend, along with key staff. We plan to hold the reception during the legislative 
session, to maximize the number of attendees. 
 
Homeownership Assistance Program and Emergency Rental Assistance:  NIFA is preparing to 
submit the Nebraska HAF plan to Treasury, with the Governor’s approval, on or about November 
1, 2021. In addition, the Nebraska Homeowners Assistance Fund pre-launch website:  
https://nhaf.nifa.org is launched and is collecting names of persons who wish to be notified once 
the program goes live.  Emergency Rental Assistance is continuing and the State program is 
working with other jurisdictions on appropriate reallocation agreements. 
 
BDO technology report:  The technology BDO report is complete. Several of the BDO 
recommendations are being addressed within the FY 2022 Budget and WIGs, although many 
others will need intentional focus and resource allocation. This will be reflected in the 2023 
Budget process, as well as in the re-forecasted budget which we will bring to the Board in 
December. 
 
Multifamily and Tax Credit Department:  The Tax Credit Allocation team has been hard at work on 
focus groups and public hearings as the work on the proposed QAP. Additional information was 
provided above under the Programs Committee section. 
 
HR:  We are still seeking to hire several positions, including some for the HAF Program. Relating 
to the CRMO position, we have hired a national search firm. 
 
Engagement Opportunities:  
Please mark your calendars for the NIFA Housing Conference, which will be held in hybrid form, 
on March 28 – 30, 2022.  I look forward to seeing you at the Board meeting on Friday, October 29th 
at 9:00 a.m. at the new Nebraska Cattlemen’s office. Thank you to Galen for assisting us with 
finding this location. 
 
 
Regards, 

 
Shannon R. Harner, Executive Director 

https://nhaf.nifa.org/
https://nhaf.nifa.org/


Governance Committee 

Report to the Board of Directors 
October 29, 2021 

 

Committee Members:  Others Attending:  
 George Achola   Shannon Harner 
 Warren Arganbright   Robin Ambroz  
 Herb Freeman   Christie Weston 
 Galen Frenzen   
 
Meeting Details:  
 Tuesday, October 26 at 3:30 PM 
 via Video Conference 
 
 

Summary of Meeting Discussion: 
 
Selection of Committee Chair 
The committee appointed Warren Arganbright as Chair of the Governance Committee. 
 
Review of Nebraska Opportunity Fund (NOF) Report 
Staff presented the quarterly NOF report and shared with the committee the steps that 
are being taken to collect outcome data so that we can measure the impact that NOF is 
having. 
 
Board-Adopted Policies 
Staff is in process of compiling a list of policies that have been adopted by the Board since 
NIFA’s inception. Once complete, the committee intends to review the policies, delegating 
to other Board Committees as appropriate, and bring recommendations to the Board on 
any policies that need to be updated. 
 
Annual Performance Review of Executive Director 
The committee continued the meeting without staff to discuss the Executive Director 
performance review. Zelle compiled the Board and staff responses into a summary to 
facilitate the discussion. The committee’s report and recommendation will be presented at 
the Board meeting on October 29. 
 



 
                                                                                                                                

  

NIFA Programs Committee  
Report to the Board of Directors 

October 29, 2021 
 
 
Committee Members:    Others Attending: 

Susan Bredthauer     Shannon Harner 
Herb Freeman     Sara Tichota 
Michael Walden-Newman   Pamela Otto 
Colten Zamrzla 

 
Meeting Details:  
 Monday, October 18, 2021, at 2:00 PM 
 via Video Conference 

 
Summary of Meeting Discussion: 

 
Review and Recommendation of the 2022/2023 Qualified Allocation Plan 
(“QAP”)  

 
Sara reviewed the recommended QAP changes and presented details 
regarding revisions resulting from the October 8, 2021, public hearing.  
The Committee asked NIFA staff several questions.  Extensive discussion 
regarding the QAP revisions and underlying policies took place.  Michael 
Walden-Newman moved that the Programs Committee recommend to 
the NIFA Board the approval of the 2022/2023 Qualified Allocation Plan 
as it relates to the 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) and 
Affordable Housing Tax Credit (“AHTC”) Programs, and also includes 
provisions for allocation of the 4% LIHTC and, for a portion of the 4% 
LIHTC, related AHTC Programs. Seconded by Susan Bredthauer. 
Approved unanimously. 

 
 



AGRICULTURAL LOAN SUMMARY 
 
Public Hearing Date: August 5, 2021 

Series Resolution: Providing for the Issuance of Agricultural Development Direct 
Loan Revenue Bond (Andrew and Aubrey Bader Project) Series 
2021 (the “Bond”) 

Borrower: Andrew J. and Aubrey Bader 

Bank: First Northeast Bank of Nebraska, Ceresco, Nebraska 

Purpose: Loan (the “Loan”) to acquire approximately 160 acres of farm 
real estate, including a pivot and power unit, located in the NW¼ 
of Section 33, Township 13 North, Range 1, east of the 6th P.M. 
(located at the southeast corner of the intersection of County 
Road 22 and County Road C) in Butler County, Nebraska.  

Amount: $404,775 

Bond Dated Date: September 17, 2021 

Terms: The Bond shall bear interest at 2.900% per annum until 
September 17, 2031.  On that date and every 10 years thereafter, 
the interest rate will be adjusted to the interest rate based on 
the base rate on corporate loans posted by at least 70% of the 10 
largest U.S. Banks known as the Wall Street Journal U.S. Prime 
Rate (the “Benchmark”), minus 0.35%.  Payments will be 
rounded to the nearest $.01.  Interest shall be computed on an 
Actual/365 basis.  The loan shall be paid on demand and if no 
demand is made, principal and interest shall be paid in 29 annual 
payments of $20,075.44 (subject to any interest rate changes) 
beginning March 1, 2022 and each March 1 thereafter to and 
including March 1, 2050.  The final payment of the entire unpaid 
balance of principal and accrued interest thereon will be due 
March 1, 2051 (the “Maturity Date”).  Upon an interest rate 
change, the payments will be reamortized at the new interest 
rate over the remaining term. If a payment is more than 5 days 
past due, the Borrower will be charged 5% of the regularly 
scheduled payment or $10, whichever is greater.  However, the 
charge will not be greater than $25.  The interest rate during the 
term of this Bond, will never be greater than 8.000% or less than 
2.900%.  After maturity or acceleration, interest will accrue on the 
unpaid principal balance of the Bond at a rate of 18.000% per 
annum, until paid in full. 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM #3d. 

Beginning Farmer/Rancher Division Report 

 

NEW AG LOAN IN-PROCESS: 
 

• Borrower:  Aaron and Stacie Pistulka 
• Purpose:  Purchase of 207 acres of farm real estate, including a pivot, well, and 

underground pipe – Harlan County, Nebraska 
• Purchase price: $1,130,000 
• NIFA loan/bond amount: $558,000 
• Interest rate through NIFA of 3.94% variable (Market rate: 5.25% variable) 
• Bondholder:  The First State Bank of Holdrege – Holdrege, Nebraska 



HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM REPORT
Board of Directors Meeting

October 29, 2021



NIFA will administer funds from the U.S. Treasury Department for the Homeowner
Assistance Fund (HAF) to assist eligible homeowners who have been financially
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

We have been gathering data and input to develop and finalize the Nebraska HAF
Plan, with the goal of submitting to Treasury by November 1, 2021. HAF will provide
Nebraska homeowners with assistance in the form of mortage reinstatement,
mortgage payments, past due property taxes, insurance premiums, utility liens or
common charges that threaten sustained ownership of the property.

In partnership with the Governor's office, State Budget office and Deloitte, NIFA
continues to keep Nebraskans in their homes with the Emergency Rental Assistance
Program. We work daily with Deloitte and Central Navigators across the state
assuring that renters have provided the required information for assistance. We have
linked the State with the other local ERA jurisdictions as they explore reallocation of
funding in an effort to maximize the funds from Treasury through September 2022. 

NIFA COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT REPORT
10.29.21

H OME OWNE R  ASSI ST ANC E  FUND

The National Council of State Housing
Agencies (NCSHA) held their annual
conference in September as well as
their annual Educational and
Development Workshops  for the
National Council State Housing Board
(NCSHB) members.

This was a very educational event with
topics ranging from COIVD-19 relief
efforts to Sustainable and Special
Needs Housing.  

NC SH A - ANNUAL
C ONFE R E NC E

E ME R G E NC Y  R E NT AL ASSI ST ANC E  PR OG R AM

NIFA launched new workspaces for
our Partner Programs through the
Proteus Engage platform.  

These workspaces are the perfect way
for NIFA to provide concentrated
program information to our partners
as well as creating a location to hold
conversations, program documents
and share housing efforts in their
communities.  

PR OT E US E NG AG E
PLAT FOR MS

The Community Engagement team has decided to continue providing monthly
informational webinars in a virtual format.  These webinars will highlight partners
and programs across the state that align with NIFA's mission.  Last month, we
highlighted the Legal Aid of Nebraska's Housing Justice program and this month, we
partnered with the Nebraska Children and Families Foundation.  

 NE T WOR K I NG  WI T H  NI FA



CRANE Public Meeting Report 
NIFA Office and Via Conference Call 

August 25, 2021 
9:00 a.m. 

Attendees (via Zoom): Michael Maroney and Annette Artherton, Omaha Economic 
Development Corporation; Denise Gehringer, Sheltering Tree; George Achola and Andria 
Bell, Burlington Capital; Carly Davis, Hoppe Homes; Matt Dougherty and Ryan Durant, RMDX, 
LLC; Kayla Beller, Apogee; Ryan Harris, MHEG; Mechele Grimes, Nebraska Department of 
Economic Development; and Pam Otto and Kirk Benner, NIFA. 

Meeting called to order by Pam Otto at 9:01 a.m. 

Larimore 3483 – Omaha 
Michael Maroney reported that they will be sending all documents today. 

Shadow Lake Apartments - Papillion 
George Achola reported that they received the letter and are gathering the information 
to complete the application. 

The Sandhills Townhomes - Valentine 
Carly Davis reported that the additional information was submitted in the online application. 

YES One Stop - Omaha 
George Achola reported that the application was uploaded yesterday. 

Central Park Towers - Omaha 
Kayla Beller reported they are gathering the required information for the September 
23rd submission date. 

Lofts on Main Street - Plattsmouth 
Matt Dougherty reported that he signed the paperwork NIFA needed and will send the 
check later this week. 

Open Door Mission - Omaha 
No one was on the call from Open Door Mission. 

Meeting adjourned: 9:16 a.m. 



NIFA PROJECT NAME APPLICANT TOTAL LIHTC MARKET # OF PROJECT PROFIT FINANCING ESTIMATED LIHTC AHTC CATEGORY
PROJECT # & ADDRESS NAME COUNTY UNITS UNITS UNITS BLDGS TYPE STATUS SOURCES COST REQUESTED REQUESTED DESIGNATION

7-0974 3483 Larimore Omaha Economic Development Douglas 45 45 0 1 Rehabilitation Non-Profit City CDBG Funds 14,422,895$           904,815$           904,815$           Category 3
2221 North 24 Street 2221 North 24th street Metro Tax Increment Finacing
Omaha, NE 68110 Omaha, NE 68110 Multifamily Historic Tax Credit

(Annette Atherton:  402.505.6041) Seniors State Historic Tax Credit

7-0989 Shadow Lake Apartments Sheltering Tree Inc Sarpy 48 44 4 2 New Construction Non-Profit Deferred Developer Fee 11,573,312$           673,247$           673,247$           Category 1
72nd & Ponderosa Dr PO Box 4990 Metro Owner Equity
Papillion, NE 68046 Omaha, NE 68104 Multifamily

(Denise Gehringer: 402.973.0229 Developmentally Disabled
(George Achola: 402.930.3090) Disaster

7-1000 The Sandhills Townhomes Hoppe & Son, LLC Cherry 15 15 0 4 New Construction For Profit Cash Flow Loan Heartland 3,662,532$             262,270$           262,270$           Category 2
Lot 1 & 8, Blk 5 & L 4 Blk 3, L 8 Blk 7 5631 S. 48th Street, Suite 220 Non-Metro
Valentine, NE 69201 Lincoln, NE 68516 Row Home

(Jake Hoppe:  402.730.9639) Homeless

7-1014 YES Campus Youth Emergency Services, Inc. Douglas 40 40 0 1 New Construction Non-Profit Deferred Developer Fee 15,745,231$           660,008$           660,008$           Category 2
528 S. 27th Street 2679 Farnam Street, #205 Metro Owner Equity
Omaha, NE 68105 Omaha, NE 68131 Multifamily

(Mary Fraser Meints: 402.345.5187) Special Needs:
Homeless or near
homeless youth

7-1015 Lofts on Main Street RMDX, LLC Cass 41 32 9 2 New Construction/ For Profit Loan 14,549,360$           648,463$           648,463$           Category 2
814 Main Street 4910 Dodge Street Adaptive/Reuse Historic Tax Credit
Plattsmouth, NE 68048 Omaha, NE 68132 Metro Deferred Developer Fee

(Matt Dougherty: 402.884.2870) Multifamily Owner Equity
Disaster LB840

SHTC

7-1016 Grand Island Liberty Campus White Lotus Group Hall 70 70 0 2 Adaptive/Reuse For Profit Loan 22,003,571$           725,000$           725,000$           Under Review
2300 West Capital Avenue 10404 Essex Court, Suite 101 Multifamily HOME Funds-$750,000
Grand Island, NE 68803-2003 Omaha, NE 68114 Seniors Tax Increment Financing

(Arun Agarwal: 402.408.0005) Federal Historic Tax Credits
State Historic Tax Credits
Deffered Developer Fee

Donation of Land & Buildings

259 246 13 12 81,956,901$           3,873,803$        3,873,803$        

(updated 10/5/21)

NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY
LOW INCOME HOUSING TAX CREDIT PROGRAM

CRANE APPLICATION LIST



NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY AS OF 10/13/21
PRIVATE ACTIVITY CAP-ALLOCATION STATUS
CALENDAR YEAR 2021

50% 30% 324,995,000

Housing Statewide 50% 50% Governor's GRAND
Carryforward Housing Jan-June July-Dec Discretionary TOTAL

Beginning Allocation 755,239,665.00   162,497,500.00     32,499,500.00    32,499,500.00    97,498,500.00    1,080,234,665.00 

Allocations Todate (215,097,490.60) 0.00 (31,713,800.00) (558,000.00) 0.00 (247,369,290.60)

Ag Allocation not used (1,728,200.00) (1,728,200.00)
Conditional Allocations (18,000,000.00) (18,000,000.00)

50% Waiver- Exec. Order 21-07 31,941,500.00 (31,941,500.00) 0.00
Transfers- Exec. Order 21-07 15,001,000.00 (15,001,000.00) -                        

Balance Remaining 540,142,174.40   162,497,500.00     28,000,000.00    -                     82,497,500.00    813,137,174.40    
28,000,000.00      813,137,174.40       

Originated 2018 2019 2020
Expires 2021 2022 2023 TOTAL

Beginning 153,081,271.00 283,146,897.00 319,011,497.00 755,239,665.00
Used (153,081,271.00) (62,016,219.60) (215,097,490.60)
Ending 0.00 221,130,677.40 319,011,497.00 540,142,174.40

Total by 
District AG IDB MF District
1 (631,740) 0 0 (631,740)
2 0 0 (13,000,000) (13,000,000)
3 (2,640,060) 0 (16,000,000) (18,640,060)

Total by Category (3,271,800) 0 (29,000,000) (32,271,800)
Conditional Allocations 0 (18,000,000) (18,000,000)
Ag Allocation not used (1,728,200) (1,728,200)

Total (5,000,000) 0 (47,000,000) (52,000,000)

20%

Ag/ IDB/Non Statewide Hsg

Housing-CARRYFORWARD DETAIL

Ag/IDB/Non Statewide Housing-ALLOCATION DETAIL



NIFA Board of Directors Meeting  

October 29, 2021 

Agenda item #5 Discussion of the Proposed 2022/2023 Qualified Allocation Plan for 
the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) Program and the Nebraska Affordable 
Housing Tax Credit (AHTC) Program. 

 

Program Background:  Biannually, the NIFA staff reviews the Qualified Allocation Plan 
(“QAP”) and the documents used to administer the LIHTC and AHTC programs. This 
review includes gathering and analyzing input from the public, housing providers, 
communities, and public resource allocators. In addition, NIFA staff continually takes note 
of possible programmatic improvements, concepts used in other states, industry best 
practices, and feedback from ongoing conversations with partners. Policy direction from 
the Board combined with the data referenced above provides the framework for updates 
to the QAP.   

Generally, there are few proposed changes to the QAP and all related documents. 
However, this year, at the Board’s behest, NIFA staff restructured the QAP and made 
numerous changes to create a QAP that clearly articulates the policy objectives of the 
Board. NIFA staff would like to note that while it was not feasible to make all of the 
envisioned changes in this QAP, staff has already prepared notes and suggestions for 
future iterations of the QAP.  

Notifications regarding the public hearing and the availability of the Draft QAP documents 
on the NIFA website were sent via email, shared on www.nifa.org, and published in the 
Omaha World-Herald and Lincoln Journal Star. The public hearing was held on October 8, 
2021. Comments from the public hearing and the recommended changes resulting from 
the public hearing are attached and at www.nifa.org. 

 

The steps involved in the QAP review and approval process include:  

1. NIFA Board policy discussion 

2. Meetings with focus groups for input 

3. Collaboration with the Nebraska Department of Economic Development 

4. Internal development by NIFA staff of revisions  

5. Posting of a draft QAP for public review  



6. Collecting and addressing comments from the public hearing  

7. Discussing final proposed revisions with NIFA Board Programs committee  

8. Reviewing and submitting the revised QAP and public comments to the NIFA Board of 
Directors for approval  

9. Submitting NIFA Board approved plan to the Governor for approval  

 

Board Action Required: Discussion only. 



Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
2022/2023 Qualified Allocation Plan Public Hearing 

Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) &  
NE Affordable Housing Tax Credit (AHTC) Program  

October 8, 2021 
 

Attendees:  Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development; Chris Lenz and Brent 
Williams, Excel Development Group; Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group; Chris 
Schroeder, NEMA; Rob Woodling, Foundations Development; Charlie Wesche 
and Wayne Mortensen, NeighborWorks Lincoln; Ryan Durant, RMD Group; Jim 
Posey, Straightline Development; Joseph Shannon, Greater Saint Paul 
Ministries;  Jake Hoppe and Fred Hoppe, Hoppe Development; Matthew 
Cavanaugh, Name Housing Corporation; Susan Nickerson and Mechele Grimes, 
Nebraska Department of Economic Development and Lauren Foster, Greater 
Fremont Development Corporation.     
 
NIFA Staff in Attendance: Sara Tichota, Robin Ambroz, Pamela Otto, and 
Shannon Harner. 
NIFA Board in Attendance: Susan Bredthauer, Michael Walden-Newman 
 
Meeting called to order at 9:06 a.m. CDT 
 
Summary of Public Comments categorized by topic: 
Family Housing:  
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development 

Concerned about the emphasis on larger units in QAP. Remove family points 
and keep senior points. Written comment provided as well as a report 
regarding housing shortages.  

 
Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group 

Teresa Kile read from her written comments which are attached. 
 

NIFA is reducing the required percentage of 4-bedrooms units or larger 
from 20% to 10% and the number of points available from two (2) points 
to one (1) point.   

 
 
 

1



Senior Housing:  
Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 

Raise the points for a senior project from 2 to 4.5 to allow residents to 
remain in the neighborhoods they have lived in all their lives. 

 
Brent Williams, Excel Development Group 

Reiterate what Kathy Mesner mentioned about the need for senior housing. 
Seniors don’t want to move out of neighborhoods. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
regarding senior housing points at this time. 
 

QCT:  
Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 

If you are set on leaving Areas of High Opportunity in the application, 
consider the following: raise the QCT points from 1 to 4.5 to offset the 
change and allow developments to be funded in neighborhoods that need 
housing the most. 
 
NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. In addition, the points available for Areas of 
High Opportunity have been reduced to a maximum of three 3 points.  

 
Small Community: 
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development  

Keep small community points as they still need housing.  
 
Rob Woodling, Foundations Development 

Do not remove small community points, You will find in rural areas that 
people will have to pick between 50 units in Grand Island and 5 units in Alda, 
people will go to Grand Island. The tax credits will go to the bigger rural 
cities and not the smaller rural areas. 
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Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development 

Elimination of small community points is concerning. The ability to serve a 
small community is important, and otherwise, there is going to be a high 
concentration of developments in the bigger cities. 

 
NIFA is reinstating the small community points for Non-Metro areas 
only. 

 
Threshold: 
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development 

Does not like the removal of threshold points, as that shows readiness. 
 
Rob Woodling, Foundations Development 

Taking away the threshold points, especially zoning, could result in projects 
that are not ready to proceed. Putting some readiness points back in makes 
sense. 
 

Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 
I agree that zoning shows readiness; however, in rural areas, it is very 
difficult to find land that is already zoned for multifamily or allows 
multifamily. Land in rural areas is mostly agriculture and we would have to 
then ask the seller to rezone the land before a reservation is made for the 
development. Harder and harder to find properly zoned properties. 

 
Zoning will now be a tie-breaker item.  NIFA will continue to evaluate 
these criteria, but no change is proposed at this time for threshold. 

 
Efficiency Measures: 
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development- 

CDBG-DR requirements will cause significant cost increases to a 
development.  We need to be able to pull out those increases for those 
applicants applying for CDBG-DR to be competitive in the efficiency points. 

 
The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
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NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis which is consistent with the 
practice in previous years.  

 
Density Configurations: 
Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development  

Housing density points, we do continue to believe that is at odds with urban 
and suburban and it does add costs and leaves out the missing middle. 

 
Wayne Mortensen, NeighborWorks Lincoln 

Density bonuses are incentivizing suburbanizing projects, land is the highest 
it has been in metro areas. Sustainability 12 units per acre, to be consist with 
transportation, we are essentially telling developers that transit is not 
important. Density points should be revisited. 
 

Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group 
Teresa Kile read from her written comments which are attached. 

 
NIFA is removing the density points and will continue to evaluate 
density standards.  

 
CROWN and Right of First Refusal: 
Rob Woodling, Foundations Development 

By removing the CROWN projects from right of first refusal, no one will do 
CROWN projects, balancing it back out makes sense. 

 
Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group 

Teresa Kile read from her written comments which are attached. 
 

NIFA will allow CROWN projects to request points for the Right of First 
Refusal. 
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Green Standards: 
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development 

The housing industry needs to think about Green standards and how they 
can be incorporated into a development. If we don’t move the dial on 
renewable energy than many of our tenants are going to be facing utility 
bills that rival their rents. This is an opportunity to think out of the box and 
incentivize new programs to partner with LIHTC. 

 
Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group 

We really need to weigh the cost of what the green standard will add to the 
project and the lifespan and what is the cost to sustain long term. Does it 
add value to the tenant and developer? To keep the green standard 
continuously, is that really helping the tenant long term, as the higher the 
debt for a project, the tenant will end up paying. We need green standards 
that keeps properties affordable. 

 
Wayne Mortensen, NeighborWorks Lincoln 

For future QAP, NIFA needs to research best practices from other states 
regarding their green standards and adopt green standards (Enterprise, 
etc.) in ways that allow developers to know what is needed for their 
developments to be sustainable for the environment. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate these criteria, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 

 
High Opportunity: 
Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 

Based on the map, most all the North and South Omaha neighborhoods 
would receive zero (0) points out of a potential four and a half (4.5) points 
for a proposed housing development, either senior or family. This is also 
true for locations in the downtown Lincoln neighborhoods which include 
from 1st Street to 27th Street and from Van Dorn to the north edge of town. 
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Rob Woodling, Foundations Development 
This is for metro only and should be state-wide, as non-metro will get less 
points and it will be difficult for them to get NDED funds. There is a moral 
argument against how it is currently set up. Why is the opportunity for rural 
children less important than urban children? This should cover the entire 
state if NIFA is going to do it. 

 
Brent Williams, Excel Development Group 

With the High Opportunity section, developers will try to chase the points. I 
have talked to a few of the Lincoln land developers in south and east Lincoln 
and talked to them about the willingness to sell land to LIHTC developers. I 
was told that LIHTC developments decrease land values and there is no way 
they would be willing to sell land for a LIHTC projects (unless it is for an 
outrageous price) in the high opportunity areas. 
 

Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development 
We are very interested in trying to meet the high opportunity areas section. 
There has been concern about over concentrating low-income housing in 
one area. Regarding what Brent Williams brought up, it is good to have 
some affordable housing next to the newer development areas. It is going 
to require a bold set of rethinking about how the QAP prioritizes location. 

 
Wayne Mortensen, NeighborWorks Lincoln 

Consideration of additional housing in low- and moderate-income areas 
needs to stay a priority as those neighborhoods need housing as well.  

 
Bishop John Shannon Senior, Greater St. Paul Ministries Pastor North Omaha 

I represent the citizens of North Omaha that have lived in North Omaha all 
their lives.  Their property is deteriorating, and by making it difficult to build 
affordable housing in North Omaha, these citizens are going to keep living 
in these houses that is not healthy just to stay in their neighborhoods. Most 
of these citizens do not want to move to west Omaha, as it is not in their 
social network. Affordable housing is needed in North Omaha. 

 
NIFA is reducing the high opportunity indexes to one (1) point in each 
index area. The overall category maximum point value will be three (3) 
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points.  NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. 

 
HOME Funds: 
Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 

Could we do a little better job of providing detail for eligible HOME 
applicants. Eliminating regional non-profits? Who is eligible? 

 
NDED Response: Eligible Developers/Owners for HOME include 
developers or owners of the rental housing and may be small-scale 
property owners, for-profit developers, nonprofit housing providers, 
CHDOs, the local government, redevelopment organizations or public 
housing agencies. Per 24 CFR 92, the commitment of HOME or HTF funds 
(written agreement) will be with the project owner. 

 
Amenities: 
Fred Hoppe, Hoppe Development 

I have a holistic comment, I believe the goal of tax credits is to be integrated 
into communities and bring affordable housing into market rate 
neighborhoods. The QAP is not responsive in putting developments into 
market rate neighborhoods, the Metro only portion kind of goes there but 
there are no points for putting a development by a park. The developer is 
required to put the park in themselves. Exclusive parks for the development 
are not inclusive to neighborhoods. Tailor some of the amenities to 
proximity not exclusivity, so we can make housing a part of a neighborhood 
and not secluded. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate these criteria, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 
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Supportive Services: 
Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development 

Supportive Services are challenging for rural areas, with limited access to 
organizations to provide these services. 

 
NIFA is reducing the maximum number of points from six (6) to four (4) 
with at least one supportive service being offered in partnership with a 
community based or regional service provider.  In addition, at least one 
of the selected services must have a point value of at least two points or 
higher. 

 
4% Qualified Allocation Plan Timeline: 
Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development 

The Deadline on the 4% AHTC is so quick, the concern is that you will have 
projects that won’t address the needs of this QAP.  

 
NIFA will move the 4% AHTC application round into 2022, with a 4% LIHTC 
only round now occurring in late 2021. 

 
Positive Comments: 
Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development 

I appreciate that metro vs non-metro are going to be scored separately.  
 
Jake Hoppe, Hopper Development 

There is a lot to celebrate in this QAP and some interesting and bold choices. 
 
Meeting Adjourned at 9:56 a.m. 
 
Written Comments received – See attached correspondence from: 

• Don Curry 
• Chris Lenz, Excel Development Group 
• Jake Hoppe, Hoppe Development 
• Kathy Mesner, Mesner Development 
• Neeraj Agarwal, Clarity Development 
• William Lukash, Omaha Planning Department 
• Ryan Durant, RMD Group LLC 
• Ryan Harris, Midwest Housing Equity Group 

8



• Teresa Kile, White Lotus Group 
• Todd Lieberman, Brinshore Development, LLC 

 
Don Curry 

High Opportunity: In my opinion by not incentivizing Affordable Housing 
Development in North and South Omaha, you are contributing to 
Gentrification, and you would be placing Tenants of Color in hostile 
conditions, ex. “You are not welcome here!”; given the current state of race 
relations. 

 
NIFA is reducing the high opportunity indexes to one (1) point in each 
index area. The overall category maximum point value will be three (3) 
points.  NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. 

 
Chris Lenz – Excel Development Group 

High Opportunity: Based on the map most all of the North and South 
Omaha neighborhoods would receive zero (0) points out of a potential four 
and a half (4.5) points for a proposed housing development, either senior or 
family. This is also true for locations in the downtown Lincoln 
neighborhoods which include from 1st Street to 27th Street and from Van 
Dorn to the north edge of town. 

 
NIFA is reducing the high opportunity indexes to one (1) point in each 
index area. The overall category maximum point value will be three (3) 
points.  NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. 
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QCT: If you are set on leaving this point option in the application (High 
Opportunity), I would ask you to consider the following: raise the QCT points 
from 1 to 4.5 to offset the change and allow developments to be funded in 
neighborhoods that need housing the most. 

 
NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. In addition, the points available for Areas of 
High Opportunity have been reduced to a maximum of three 3 points. 
 
Senior Housing: Raise the points for a senior project from 2 to 4.5 to allow 
residents to remain in the neighborhoods they have lived in all of their lives. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
regarding senior housing points at this time. 

 
Jake Hoppe – Hoppe Development 

Positive Comments: 
o Metro versus Non-Metro: removing the competition from Metro and non-

metro ensures clarity in how projects will be scored, distribution of projects 
in the state, and sets up the opportunity to tailor applications to be most 
appropriate for the communities they serve. 

o Rule regarding a $500,000 financing gap: creating this rule will ensure 
feasible projects that are executable as well as ensure reasonable request 
for NDED or other funding. 

o Strengthening the oversight of the non-profit for ROFR: this change is a 
positive step to ensuring that non-profits are independent and represent a 
housing interest, as opposed to an extension or tool to secure awards. 

o Reduction of Emphasis on Preservation and Increase in Time to 20 years: 
this step helps orient toward new construction of units and removes 
adverse incentives to resubmit deals for the purposes of supporting 
development fees. 

o Family Development Category: this change will incentivize the development 
of family-appropriate housing, which we think is laudable. 

o Points based on the Children’s Diversity Index: this change will incentivize 
placement of projects outside of historically high poverty neighborhoods. 
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o New efficiency point scoring: the change to efficiency points based on total 
development costs, instead of eligible basis, will encourage mixed use 
developments and removes incentive stacking as a mechanism to 
strengthen the appearance of efficient development. 

 
4% Qualified Allocation Plan Timeline: The timing of the 2022 4% 
applications is insufficient to effectively respond to the priorities outlined in 
the new QAP. 

 
NIFA will move the 4% AHTC application round into 2022, with a 4% LIHTC 
only round now occurring in late 2021. 

 
Supportive Services: Supportive services as defined are highly proscriptive 
and do not adapt to the flexible scenarios that may be encountered, 
especially in Western Nebraska, where the delivery of on-site services may 
be challenging, and many off-site delivery methods have become accepted. 

 
NIFA is reducing the maximum number of points from six (6) to four (4) 
with at least one supportive service being offered in partnership with a 
community based or regional service provider.  In addition, at least one 
of the selected services must have a point value of at least two points or 
higher. 

 
Management Experience: Concerned about the certification of experience, 
as well as the sheer number of points in this category. It does not appear 
clear that these points will distinguish between two organizations with many 
projects, one which has managed them well, and one that has managed 
them poorly. They both seem that they would receive the maximum number 
of points. 
 
NIFA will continue to evaluate these criteria, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 

 
Density: The QAPs retain a prioritization for housing typology that reflects a 
rural or suburban typology and is not reflective of the “missing middle” 
housing typologies that have frequently been referenced as critical to 
include in the housing stock. The two story, individual entrance limitations 
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remove significant design creativity. Further, this prioritization within the 4% 
AHTC it is not responsive to the use and need of 4% bonds with AHTC to 
build denser multifamily projects. 

 
NIFA is removing the density points and will continue to evaluate 
density standards.  

 
Small Community: Removal of the small community points will eliminate 
tax credit projects in communities of <5,000 residents, and virtually eliminate 
them for all but 10-12 communities state-wide. 
 
NIFA is reinstating the small community points for Non-Metro areas 
only. 
 
4% Private Activity Bond Cap: The 4% QAP allows one project to have up to 
$18 million in bonds and if there is only $20 million in bonds, there is only 
enough for one award. 
 
The 4% Private Activity Bond Cap for AHTC rounds is proposed at 
approximately $40 million, not $20 million. 
   
4% AHTC QAP: The QAP clarifies that efficient housing production points will 
only be utilized in the event that multiple applications are received for a 
single county, it does not specify how they will be utilized. Will they be a tie 
breaker? Will they be added to the total number of other points? 
 
The Efficient Housing Production points will be added to the total 
number of points if more than one application is received in a county. 

 
Certification of Experience for Applicant and Management Company: 
How are these points earned? 
 
The details in the application have been updated to indicate how the 
categories will be evaluated. 
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Non-Profit Partner: How can we ensure a non-profit partner was adequate 
or approved? Will NIFA provide that feedback? 
 
NIFA staff is available to discuss specific questions regarding non-profit 
partners.  
 
Efficient Housing Production: Could we get confirmation of the exact 
calculation methodology? Specifically, is it total development cost – land 
divided by total units, or total LIHTC units? 
 
The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis, which is consistent with the 
practice in previous years.  
 
NDED Funding: Is there a reason a nonprofit needs to be involved for NDED 
funding? It is now passed directly to the developer. 
 
NDED Response: For HOME/HTF, NDED does not require a non-profit to 
be involved. The HOME and HTF programs require the written 
agreement to be with the owner to carry out eligible activities. 
However, with respect to CDBG-DR, NDED is carefully reviewing the 
requirements of the federal resource in the context of maximizing the 
program’s impact while minimizing risk to the state and potential 
subrecipients of CDBG-DR resources. This review includes consideration 
of alternative program delivery methods that decrease program risk 
and address administration efficiencies. 
 
Internet Services paid for by the landlord: We believe this should be, “at 
no cost to the tenant”. There are now numerous internet services that are 
supported for low income tenants, but paid through other programs. As a 
developer, we would seek to take advantage of these opportunities. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate these criteria, but no change is proposed 
at this time. If such a program is available to tenants, an Owner can 
submit that information to the NIFA Compliance Department. 
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Kathy Mesner – Mesner Development 
Family Housing: The idea that larger family housing, especially larger units, 
should be emphasized and prioritized is not only a waste of program 
resources but a failure to understand what is going on across Nebraska. 
There are a couple reasons many communities across the state don’t have 
affordable family housing. One reason affordable homes are being occupied 
by seniors who have no place to downsize. Another reason is that people are 
buying up everything on the market and renting out family homes to 
anyone because there are no other rentals on the market. Recommendation 
is to get rid of the 2 points for family developments and maintain the 2 
points for senior developments that are limited to 2-bedroom units because 
these 2 points help balance the efficiency scoring differential between 2- and 
3-bedroom units in the cost/sq ft and tax credits per occupant categories. 
 
NIFA is reducing the required percentage of 4-bedrooms units or larger 
from 20% to 10% and the number of points available from two (2) points 
to one (1) point 
 
Small Community: Recommend leaving the points for smaller communities 
in place, otherwise, all the non-metro projects will end up in Grand Island, 
Hastings, Kearney, Norfolk, Columbus, etc. 
 
NIFA is reinstating the small community points for Non-Metro areas 
only. 
 
Threshold Points: Eliminating all points for threshold items is a mistake, as 
most of the items that relate to readiness like zoning, site control, and 
funding commitments were previously scored with options for 1, 2, or 3 
points. By eliminating these points, you are denying certain projects the 
ability to distinguish themselves from other projects. 
 
Zoning will now be a tie-breaker item.  NIFA will continue to evaluate 
these criteria, but no change is proposed at this time for threshold . 
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Counties without projects: Does not believe that “Counties Without 
Projects” should be a part of CRANE. Most of the counties without projects 
have a declining population and may not be able to support the 45-year 
compliance period of the project. The collaborative efforts of CRANE cannot 
change the fact that some of our counties may not survive long term. 
 
NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 
 
Scoring CDBG-DR Applications: In order for developments to be 
competitive and use CDBG-DR funding, we should be able to ignore the 
costs added by regulations like Davis-Bacon. Otherwise, these added costs 
will make the project scores out of line with costs of projects using other gap 
financing sources and the CDBG-DR funds will go back to Washington. 
 
The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis which is consistent with the 
practice in previous years.  
 
Efficiency Housing Production: We need to add some efficiency points 
back into scoring. While it is important that we have amenities and 
supportive services, we should not ignore the need to make these projects 
as efficient as possible. In the last rounds, when we reduced housing 
efficiency points, we actually funded projects with no efficiency points. 

 
The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis which is consistent with the 
practice in previous years.  

 
Neeraj Agarwal – Clarity Development 

4% LIHTC/AHTC: Priority should be given based on whether the project 
would move forward. Priority should be given to projects that are not in a 
QCT, that are not able to secure gap financing measures. This ensures that 
AHTCs go to the projects that truly need this resource. 
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NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 
 
Maximum Volume Cap Allocations for AHTC/LIHTC rounds: Either change 
the $20 million of private activity volume cap per round to $80 million and 
maintain only one round in January 2022 and January 2023 to facilitate more 
4% projects or hold four rounds with $20 million each. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 
 
Maximum Volume Cap for LIHTC only rounds: Change to holding four 
rounds with $20 million each. 

 
NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 

 
William Lukash – Omaha Planning Department 

High Opportunity: The City of Omaha does not believe that driving 
affordable housing out of North and South Omaha will stop the 
concentration of affordable housing in those areas. Omaha needs 
affordable housing wherever it can be built. One preferred approach toward 
addressing the concentration of affordable housing is to require or prioritize 
a mix of affordable, workforce, and market rate units in housing projects. 
Through this model, neighborhoods can be uplifted by the arrival of higher 
income households who will attract banks, grocery stores, and other 
services greatly needed in these neighborhoods. 

 
NIFA is reducing the high opportunity indexes to one (1) point in each 
index area. The overall category maximum point value will be three (3) 
points.  NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. 
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Ryan Durant – RMD Group LLC 

Family Housing: These points could incentivize development of 
unnecessary units that would cause over housing. Also, if people build 4- or 
5-bedroom units then they will score well in the efficient points making 
these points an unfair competitive advantage.  
 
NIFA is reducing the required percentage of 4-bedrooms units or larger 
from 20% to 10% and the number of points available from two (2) points 
to one (1) point 
 
Small Community: It would seem to me that taking away small community 
points will deter development in small communities. 
 
NIFA is reinstating the small community points for Non-Metro areas 
only. 
 
CDBG-DR Funding: It would make more sense to shift CDBG-DR funding to 
4% LIHTC deals that actually need gap financing, as I think there will be 
limited participation with 9% rounds because of the onerous requirements 
of the program.  If these funds don’t get used, they will be sent back to 
Washington. 
 
NDED Response: Both 4% and 9% application rounds are contemplated 
in the HUD-approved CDBG-DR Action Plan. The CDBG-DR funds must be 
used toward disaster recovery activities, addressing disaster relief, 
restoration of infrastructure, and housing and economic revitalization, 
directly related to the 2019. 

Disaster (DR-4420). Furthermore, project construction costs funded by 
CDBG-DR programs must be necessary and reasonable. Applicants 
should verify cost reasonableness from an independent and qualified 
third-party architect, civil engineer, or construction manager. 
Monitoring and compliance are critical to successful implementation of 
the CDBG-DR program to ensure the program is carried out in 
accordance with state and federal requirements, this includes a review 
of subrecipient capacity and performance. Subrecipients will undergo 
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regular auditing to ensure that the program’s policies and procedures 
are being followed appropriately. 

 
Ryan Harris – Midwest Housing Equity Group 

4% Private Activity Bond Cap: On the open call on October 5, 2021, the 
Private Activity Bond Cap for 4% LIHTCs was $40 million but the draft QAP 
indicates $20 million. 
 
The Private Activity Bond Cap for 4% LIHTC/AHTC should have been $40 
million, not $20 million. 
 
4% Bond Application Deadlines: The application due date for 4% LIHTC 
with AHTC is due approximately 5 weeks after the QAP would go final. This is 
a very short amount of time to respond to the needs and goals of the QAP. 
 
NIFA will move the 4% AHTC application round into 2022, with a 4% LIHTC 
only round now occurring in late 2021. 
 
CROWN: CROWN projects are no longer able to compete with other projects 
electing to extend their compliance period. 
 
NIFA will allow CROWN projects to request points for the Right of First 
Refusal. 
 
Supportive Services: Supportive Services are still low impact to score or 
they are high cost burden to the projects, which forces projects to raise 
rents on the residents to pay for the services. Suggest a reduction in the 
maximum points available for supportive services. 
 
NIFA is reducing the maximum number of points from six (6) to four (4) 
with at least one supportive service being offered in partnership with a 
community based or regional service provider.  In addition, at least one 
of the selected services must have a point value of at least two points or 
higher. 
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Re-syndication: Does the rule about no re-syndication of projects before 
year 20 of their existing LURA include older projects or just projects going 
forward? 
 
The changes to re-syndication will be in effect for development 
applications applying under the 2022-2023 QAP.  
 
Rehab Efficiency Metrics: If there aren’t at least 4 rehab applications, prior 
years will be used to come up with efficiency metrics. Will these metrics 
affect the maximum eligible credit requests on these projects? We would 
suggest an inflation factor be included based on CPI or other inflation index 
to account for increasing costs, or decreasing costs, over the prior years. 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  
 
Small Community: Deals in small communities typically have few units than 
deals in urban locations and therefore small community deals generally 
score lower in the efficiency categories compared to the competition. With 
the implementation of the High Opportunity section for Metro only and 
removing small community points, this will affect the rural deals and request 
restoring the small community points. 
 
NIFA is reinstating the small community points for Non-Metro areas 
only. 
 
9% Rounds: MHEG viewed 2 rounds as beneficial because it gave projects 
that were not funded in round 1 the opportunity to make improvements to 
their applications for round 2. There is concern with 1 round, that NIFA will 
be forced to award deals that either shouldn’t be awarded or could be 
improved before applying a second time. 
 
NIFA will continue to evaluate the application process, but no change is 
proposed at this time. 
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Efficiency Housing Production: The proposed change to score efficiency 
points based on total development costs per unit rather than eligible basis 
per unit will have unintentional consequences of incentivizing larger deals. 
 
The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis which is consistent with the 
practice in previous years.  

 
Teresa Kile – White Lotus Group 

General Comments: When modifications are proposed for the Qualified 
Allocation Process are there measurements in place to monitor the impact 
of the change? For some of the proposed changes, the impact may not 
occur for 15, 30 or 45 years. Could developments be held hostage to long 
term commitments that may cause functional obsolescence? 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  

 
Architect and Developer Fees 4%: The cost for professional fees has risen; 
however, the percentages in the Qualified Allocation Plan have not. Could a 
study of professional fees across the State of Nebraska be helpful to 
determine if the percentages for Architect and Developer fees can be 
increased? 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  
 
CRANE Application Process: Competitive submittal and award dates are 
listed in the Housing Credit Allocation Plans. Could CRANE submittal, review 
and NIFA’s response dates also be listed as part of the 2022/2023 Housing 
Credit Allocation Plan for 9% LIHTC & AHTC? 

 
NIFA accepts CRANE applications monthly, due to the monthly review 
of CRANE applications the schedule for submittal, review and NIFA’s 
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response dates are all tentative. The tentative dates for 2022 and 2023 
will be posted on www.nifa.org.  
 
Architect and Developer Fees 9%: The cost for professional fees has risen; 
however, the percentages in the Qualified Allocation Plan have not. Could a 
study of professional fees across the State of Nebraska be helpful to 
determine if the percentages for Architect and Developer fees can be 
increased? 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  
 
Carryover Allocation and 10% Test: In the Qualified Allocation Plan, it is 
noted that revocation of credits will occur if deadlines are not met. Would it 
not be best to avoid revocation of credits if the NIFA deadline for the 10% 
test could align with the Section 42 deadline which is within one year of an 
executed Carryover Agreement? 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  
 
Compliance and Extended Use Period: If applicants are choosing 
additional points for longer compliance periods or for waiving the Qualified 
Contract, should the proforma’s of these applications also demonstrated 
that they are financially feasible for the time periods chosen? 
 
As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  
 
If the GP of a development is a non-profit organization and the development 
is transferred out of the LLC and to the GP at the end of 15 years for tax 
purposes, does that language as written in the application exclude the 
nonprofit GP from requesting a Qualified Contract in the future? 
 
No, if the GP is exercising a Right of First Refusal, the Qualified Contract 
option is not waived, unless the development received points to waive 
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the Qualified Contract or has committed to a longer affordability 
period, making the Qualified Contract option available at a later date. 

Right of First Refusal: If a nonprofit will be the General Partner of an LLC or 
LP, are they considered affiliated with a for-profit organization and unable to 
receive points in the Right of First Refusal? 

No, the non-profit General Partner may be offered the Right of First Refusal 
and obtain points for this commitment.  

Family Housing: Should there be measurements in place to ensure that 4 or 
more bedrooms are being utilized by households with 4 or more persons 
residing in them? 

As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  

Density: With the cost of land rising, is density configuration adding 
unnecessary costs to a development? 

As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  

Carryover and 10% Procedures Manual: In the Qualified Allocation Plan, it 
is noted that revocation of credits will occur if deadlines are not met. Would 
changing the 10% Test deadline to align with the Section 42 rules and 
regulations allow developments additional time to meet the requirement? 

As NIFA continues to evolve our Qualified Allocation Plan, questions 
such as this will be considered.  

Todd Lieberman – Brinshore Development, LLC 
Concerted Revitalization Effort: Adding a category for concerted 
revitalization effort as a point for point compendium to opportunity areas, 
would help to incentivize projects in cities that are meeting clear public 
policy objectives. 
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NIFA is reducing the high opportunity indexes to one (1) point in each 
index area. The overall category maximum point value will be three (3) 
points.  NIFA is increasing the QCT points available when submitting a 
Concentrated Community Revitalization plan from one (1) to two (2) 
points, with one (1) additional point available if the development is also 
part of a neighborhood redevelopment plan or participating in a Choice 
Neighborhood program. 

CDBG-DR Funding: Efficient housing production analysis should take into 
account the increased costs of Davis-Bacon requirements. 

The change to using total development cost less land for the Efficient 
Housing Production measurements will not be implemented. Instead, 
NIFA will use adjusted eligible basis which is consistent with the 
practice in prior applications.  

4% LIHTC/AHTC: Adding an explicit preference for public housing 
transformation in 4%/AHTC would be very helpful for large scale Choice 
Neighborhoods. 

NIFA will continue to evaluate this criterion, but no change is proposed 
at this time. 

CRANE: Add mixed income public housing redevelopment as an eligible 
CRANE project. 

NIFA has added language for Choice Neighborhood programs to be 
eligible under CRANE. 

4% and NDED funding: Can you apply for both 4%/AHTC and 4%/NDED in 
the same round? 

NDED Response: With respect to CDBG-DR, NDED will leverage CDBG-DR 
funding with Nebraska’s other housing programs, including LIHTC, 
HOME, HTF and NAHTF dollars. As with any application for funding, DED 
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seeks to ensure the most appropriate resource is paired with the 
project need and outcome. Technical assistance is expected to facilitate 
this effort. Furthermore, because the federal regulations associated 
with CDBG-DR may not be able to assist all flood-impacted households 
(e.g., unable to meet the income requirements), the 2021 NAHTF 
application cycle prioritized projects that served flood-impacted areas, 
addressing unmet housing needs that cannot benefit through the 
CDBG-DR program because of the more restrictive income 
requirements.  

 
However, HOME and HTF Programs are only used in conjunction with 
the 9% LIHTC application.  
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From: Outreach
To: Robin Ambroz; Sara Tichota; Pamela Otto
Subject: FW: HIGH OPPORTUNITY ZONE POINTS
Date: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 9:41:25 AM

I’m assuming this comment is in regards to the QAP.  If I’m incorrect and it should be
for something else, please let me know.

Thank you!
 
 

Susan Pulec
Outreach & Community Development Administrator
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority
Main: 402.434.3900
Direct: 402.434.0970
1230 O St. Ste. 200 Lincoln, NE 68508
www.nifa.org
 

           

 

 
From: Angela Kamau-Watson <Angela.Kamau-Watson@nifa.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 9:24 AM
To: Outreach <Outreach@nifa.org>
Subject: FW: HIGH OPPORTUNITY ZONE POINTS
 

 
 
From: CURRY BRANDING <currybranding@gmail.com> 
Sent: Friday, October 8, 2021 9:53 AM
To: Info <info@nifa.org>
Subject: HIGH OPPORTUNITY ZONE POINTS
 
In my opinion by not incentivising Affordable Housing Development in North and South Omaha, you
are contributing to Gentrification and you would be placing Tenants of Color in hostile conditions,
ex. "You are not welcome here!"; given the current state of race relations.

With Appreciation,
DON CURRY
 
 

Click here to report this email as spam.
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5631 S 48th St, Suite 220 | Lincoln, NE 68516 | (402) 489–1600 | info@hoppedevelopment.com  

 

 

HOPPE 
D E V E L O P M E N T  

 

October 7, 2021 
 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
c/o Sara Tichota 
1230 O Street, Suite 200 
Lincoln, NE 68508 
 
 RE: 2022/2023 QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN  
  COMMENTS & FEEDBACK 
 
Dear Sara –  
 
Our initial critical concern is that the timing of the 2022 4% applications is insufficient to effectively 

respond to the priorities outlined in the new QAP. Assuming the QAP is adopted, with some adjustments, 

at the next board meeting, we would essentially have 6 weeks to create a project and assemble a pre-

application. Given the large re-prioritization with regard to location and project orientation (e.g. emphasis 

on family and child welfare), we would request additional time to ensure that projects proposed are able 

to reflect these new priorities. Pushing the timing back 6 to 8 weeks will enable us to create a 

comprehensive response that clearly reflects these priorities.  

 There is much to applaud in this new QAP, which we believe strengthens the affordable housing program. 

Specifically, we believe the following measures will create a much stronger project portfolio.  

• Metro versus Non-Metro: Removing the competition from Metro and non-metro ensures clarity 
in how projects will be scored, distribution of projects in the state, and sets up the opportunity to 
tailor applications to be most appropriate for the communities they serve. 

• Rule regarding a $500,000 financing gap: Creating this rule will ensure feasible projects that are 
executable as well as ensure reasonable requests for DED or other funding.  

• Strengthening the oversight of the non-profit for ROFR: This change is a positive step to ensuring 
that non-profits are independent and represent a housing interest, as opposed to an extension or 
tool to secure awards.  

• Reduction of Emphasis on Preservation and Increase in Time to 20 years: This step helps orient 
toward new construction of units and removes adverse incentives to resubmit deals for the 
purposes of supporting development fees.  

• Family Development Category: This change will incentivize the development of family-
appropriate housing which, which we think is laudable. 
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• Points based on the Children's Diversity Index: This change will incentivize placement of projects 
outside of historically high poverty neighborhoods.  

• New efficiency point scoring: The change to efficiency points based on total development costs, 
instead of eligible basis, will encourage mixed use developments and removes incentive stacking 
as a mechanism to strengthen the appearance of efficient development.  

  

We have the following concerns.  

• Supportive Services: The supportive services as defined are highly proscriptive and do not adapt 
to the flexible scenarios that may be encountered, especially in Western Nebraska, where the 
delivery of on-site services may be challenging, and many off-site delivery methods have become 
accepted. Further, there is no suggestion that they support an evidenced-based intervention with 
any desired result. We believe that the developer should focus on the built environment, and if 
there truly are services best delivered by the landlord supported by evidence to enhance the 
target residents, these should be defined and proscribed.  

• Management Experience: We are concerned about the certification of experience, as well as the 
sheer number of points in this category. It does not appear clear that these points will distinguish 
between two organizations with many projects, one which has managed them well, and one that 
has managed them poorly. They both seem that they would receive the maximum number of 
points.  

• The QAPs retain a prioritization for housing typology that reflects a rural or suburban typology, 
and is not reflective of the "missing middle" housing typologies that have frequently been 
referenced as critical to include in the housing stock. The two story, individual entrance limitations 
remove significant design creativity. We have seen no evidence that these design constraints 
produce any particular outcome with regards to housing. Further, this prioritization within the 4% 
AHTC it is not responsive to the use and need of 4% bonds with AHTC to build denser multifamily 
projects.  

• Small Community Points: We are concerned that the removal of the small community points will 
eliminate tax credit projects in communities of <5,000 residents, and virtually eliminate them for 
all but ~10 - 12 communities state-wide. 

• The 4% QAP allows one project to have up to $18 million in bonds which effectively consumes all 
of the allocation.  If only $20 million in bonds is given, then there should be a limit in amount so 
more than one award may be given or, alternatively, change the language to allow more than $20 
million at the discretion of NIFA in order to award more than one project.  There is sufficient 
limitation in “one award per county” to keep to manageable AHTC.  

  

Areas for Additional Clarity 

• While the 4% AHTC QAP clarifies that efficient housing production points will only be utilized in 
the event that multiple applications are received for a single county, it does not specify how they 
will be utilized. Will they be a tie breaker? Will they be added to the total number of other points?  

• We are concerned about the certification of experience of the applicant and the management 
company and how these point are earned.  

• How could we ensure a non-profit partner was adequate or approved? Will NIFA provide that 
feedback? 

• Efficient Housing Production: Could we get confirmation of the exact calculation methodology? 
Specifically, is it total development cost - land divided by total units, or total LIHTC units? 
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• Is there a reason a nonprofit needs to be involved for DED funding? It is now passed directly to 
the developer.  

• Internet Services paid for by the landlord. We believe this should be, "at no cost to the tenant". 
There are now numerous internet services that are supported for low income tenants, but paid 
through other programs. As a developer, we would seek to take advantage of these opportunities.  

 
 
Thank you for your consideration.  
 
 
     Sincerely,  
 
   

Hoppe Development 
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most of our communities.  There are too many in the “baby boomer” bubble for 
the housing options we currently have available in most areas of the state. If you 
don’t believe what I am saying I am attaching an interesting report from 
Minnesota that describes this problem in more detailed terms. 

This report also points out that, the longer seniors stay in their family home, the 
less they are able to care for those homes. So, if we want to rescue and salvage 
these affordable family homes, we better find a way to provide quality affordable 
housing options for seniors and other small households as soon as possible.    

It doesn’t matter if it is Valentine or York, until you build affordable options for 
seniors and other small households you are never going to free up the affordable 
family housing available in communities.  I understand everyone wants to see 
new 3-4-5 bedroom homes occupied by families, but using this program for that 
purpose is bad decision making for a couple reasons.  Two wage earner families 
seldom qualify under tax credit rules because they make too much. One wage 
earner families seldom can afford even tax credit rents and utilities for larger 
more expensive family units. Without significantly more rental assistance these 
larger units are hard to rent. In addition, today’s construction costs clearly make it 
a bad decision to use our very limited resources on larger units that will drastically 
reduce the overall number of homes we are able to build statewide. This should 
be a big red flag to everyone.   

The good news is, we can use the LIHTC program to build housing that will benefit 
the low-income households it is intended to benefit while still helping to address 
the affordable family home crises our communities are experiencing.  If we use 
LIHTC to build a larger number of less expensive smaller units that give seniors 
and smaller households the type of downsized housing they need, they will move 
out of older family homes and we can start to better address multiple housing 
needs. About 60% of the tenants moving into our LIHTC units moved out of 
affordable larger family housing units.   These are generally seniors. 

We do not need to restrict LIHTC to senior housing but under no circumstances 
should we be de-valuing it in our QAP.  Smaller one, two and three-bedroom units 
are more cost effective to build, easier for tenants to afford, and make the best 
use of our limited LIHTC resources.  
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My recommendation is to get rid of the 2 points for family developments. I would 
maintain the 2 points for senior developments that are limited to 2-bedroom 
units because these 2 points help balance the efficiency scoring differential 
between 2 and 3-bedroom units in the cost/sq ft and tax credits per occupant 
categories. 

Points for Small Communities 

I also would recommend we leave the points for our smaller communities in 
place.  These points were put in the QAP to give small communities a chance to 
compete.  I would guess that many of you think by adding a non-metro set aside 
we are evening things out for everyone outside the immediate Lincoln and Omaha 
areas.  This is not true.  Smaller towns have fewer material suppliers, contractors, 
and local resources.  They are simply harder to build in.  The non-metro set aside 
may help the fact that we only funded 24 new units west of Lincoln last year, but 
it isn’t going to help Fullerton, Nebraska compete for a project.  We need to keep 
the 2 points for smaller communities.  Otherwise, all the non-metro projects will 
end up in Grand Island, Hastings, Kearney, Norfolk, Columbus, etc. 

Eliminating points for Threshold Items 

I am concerned about the changes that have taken place to our QAP which 
squeeze down the total number of points that will be used to determine what is 
awarded credits.  Eliminating all points for threshold items is a mistake.  Most of 
the items that relate to readiness like zoning, site control, and funding 
commitments were previously scored with options for 1, 2, or 3 points.  These 
have always been distinguishing factors among projects. Eliminating these points 
assumes all projects are equally likely to proceed. We all know this is not true. 
When you squeeze point categories where projects are not always equal you are 
denying certain projects the ability to distinguish themselves from other projects.  

Counties Without Projects 

I don’t believe we should make “Counties Without Projects” a part of CRANE.  
Most of the counties that do not have projects have declining populations and 
may very well not be able to support LIHTC projects for the 45-year compliance 
period that these projects promise.  The collaborative efforts of CRANE cannot 
change the fact that some of our counties may not survive long term. 
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Scoring CDBG-DR Applications 

If we are going to be able to use the CDBG-DR funds for GAP financing we need to 
be able to use them with tax credits.  In order to be competitive for tax credit 
scoring it seems we should be able to ignore the costs added by regulations like 
Davis-Bacon.  Otherwise, these added costs will make the project scores out of 
line with costs of projects using other GAP financing sources. The result is that we 
will expend our other funds and the CDBG-DR funds will go back to Washington. 

Efficiency Points 

We should add some efficiency points back into our scoring.  While it is important 
that we have amenities and supportive services we should not ignore the need to 
make these projects as efficient as possible.  In the last rounds, when we reduced 
housing efficiency points, we actually funded projects with no efficiency points.   

Stretching our resources as far as possible, making them accessible to all parts of 
the state, and serving the greatest number of households should always be our 
priority.  

Thank you. 
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The workforce housing shortage: Getting 

to the heart of the issue 

April 2018 

By Kelly Asche, Research Associate 

To read this report online, visit our website at www.ruralmn.org. 

Providing housing for a community or region’s population is complex and dynamic. A 

healthy housing market should be able to provide housing for most people and their 

diverse needs through a combination of natural churn and new construction.  

In rural areas, however, economic and demographic forces are at work creating a 

housing shortage that many communities say is keeping them from attracting much-

needed new workers. 

But while hundreds of for-profit, non-profit, and government organizations are doing 

great work around Minnesota to untangle these housing issues, the housing shortage is 

complex and not well understood by people outside the housing field. This report looks at 

two major factors as to why the housing market isn’t naturally providing the housing 

needed in many rural communities: 

• The considerable increase in construction costs that are pricing younger families out of 

the market for starter homes and skewing the market in strange ways; and 

• The relatively higher percentage of seniors living in rural communities, which, combined 

with their desire to age in place, the emphasis on helping them do so, and the lack of 

assisted living facilities in rural communities, is causing not only a bottleneck in houses 

coming on the market but also increasing the likelihood that the amount of dilapidated 

housing will increase in the future. 

It is important to note as well that not all rural areas are facing housing shortages. This 

issue is limited to regions where economic activity is growing and where new workers are 

needed to fill an aging workforce, which is a large segment of Greater Minnesota, but not 

everywhere. Some rural areas are also facing related housing issues such as vacant 

housing and/or severe dilapidation of their housing stock, but these are not covered in 

this report. 
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Who needs housing? 

An increasing number of job vacancies (Figure 1) have employers demanding an in-

migration of workers, and they are blaming the lack of appropriate housing as a 

significant reason for why they can’t attract more workers. At the same time, rural 

development organizations across Greater Minnesota are feeling the pressure to add 

more housing to attract these new workers and new, “younger” families. 

 

 

Figure 1: Since 2005, most of the non-metro regions have shown faster growth in job vacancies than the Twin Cities 

area. The job vacancy index provides a way of measuring growth by dividing the accumulated number of job 

vacancies by the number of job vacancies in 2005. (Data: MN DEED) 

 

It might be difficult to believe that places with small increases in their population or 

overall declines would need new housing. However, population and housing are not as 

closely linked as one might expect. Families are smaller today than they were decades 

ago, but that doesn’t necessarily equate to fewer households. Table 1 shows that for 

even our most rural counties (for the definitions of these categories, see the appendix 

titled “Definition of Four County Categories”), there has been an increase in the number 

of households despite a 21% drop in population since 1970. The table also highlights the 

growth in the number of households compared to population in other rural county types. 

 

County group % change in households % change in population 

Entirely rural  9% -21% 

Town/rural mix  50% 12% 

Urban/town/rural mix  73% 31% 

Entirely urban  106% 62% 
Table 1: Percent change in households and population by county group, 1970–2016.  

(Data: Decennial Census & ACS 5-year) 
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Adding pressure to this issue is the migration trend of middle-age householders moving 

to rural areas in search of more affordable housing. Rural areas tend to see an in-

migration of households in the 30- to 49-year-old age group, a trend that’s typically 

overshadowed by the larger out-migration of 20- to 29-year-olds. But research by the 

University of Minnesota Extension’s Center for Community Vitality shows that a 

significant contributing factor in choosing to migrate to rural areas has been to find more 

affordable housing.1  

Appropriate housing tied up with older households 

A healthy churn in housing is a necessary part of a community’s ability to meet the social 

and economic needs of its members. Not every household moves, of course, but there 

are life-stages when a move is more likely: beginning employment, career changes, 

children being born or leaving the house, growing old, and/or due to health concerns. At 

different stages of life, householders often either choose or are forced to leave behind 

their current housing, freeing it up for those who need and can afford it (Figure 2).  

 

Age: 20s 30s 40s 50s 60s 70s 
 

Housing 
Cycle: 

Single- or 

multi-family 

rent 

Single-

family own 
Upgrade Downsize 

Assisted 

living 

New Units 
Built: 

Multi-family 

rentals 

Starter 

homes 
Larger homes Townhome units 

Assisted 

living units 

Old Units 
Left Behind: 

 
Multi-family 

rentals 

Starter homes or 

older, single-family 

houses 

Larger homes and older, 

single-family houses 

Townhome 

units, larger 

homes, 

single-family 

homes 

Figure 2: The housing life stages in an ideal housing market. At each point in a family’s life cycle, new units are built 

to meet their demand while their old units are left behind for the next set of buyers. (Source: U of MN Extension | 

Center for Community Vitality - Ben Winchester) 

 

In rural areas, however, older households tend to move less (Figure 3), while at the same 

time they represent a larger percentage of total households (Figure 4).2 In addition, the 

longer elderly householders stay in their homes, the more likely it is for their homes to 

become dilapidated or at least not kept up to code, often because the elderly homeowner 

is unable because of income or health or both to make the necessary improvements.  

  

                                           
1 http://www.extension.umn.edu/community/brain-gain/ 
2 For information on the geographic breakdowns of these charts, read the appendix titled 

“Definition of Four County Categories”. 
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 Entirely rural  Town/rural mix  Town/rural/urban mix  Entirely urban 

 
Figure 3: Households 65+ in rural areas are less likely 

to have moved into a rental unit within the past 15 

years compared to urban areas. This can limit the 

amount of housing available in a community.  

(Data: ACS 5-year) 

 
Figure 4: The percentage of households that have 

someone living with them aged 60 years or higher is 

higher in rural communities. (Data: ACS 5-year) 

 

This lack of movement among older households creates something of a domino effect in 

the rural housing stock, freeing up fewer single-family homes for the new workforce and 

resulting in a shortage of housing across the entire life-cycle spectrum (Figure 5). 

 

Age: 20s 30s 40s 50s 60s 70s 
 

 Housing 
Cycle: 

Single- or 

multi-family 

rent 

Single-family own  
Assisted 

living 

New Units 
Built: 

Few multi-

family 

rentals 

No starter 

homes built 

A few larger 

homes 
Few townhouse units 

Few 

assisted 

living units  

Old Units 
Left Behind: 

 
A few multi-

family rentals 

A few older, 

single-family 

houses 

  

Figure 5: The housing life stages as they exist in many rural communities today.  

(Modified source: U of MN Extension | Center for Community Vitality - Ben Winchester) 

 

The data is beginning to show evidence that this lack of housing churn in rural areas is 

tightening both the rental (Figure 6) and for-sale home market (Figure 7).  
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Figure 6: Rental vacancies as a percentage of total households is currently lower than it was in 2000 in rural 

counties. (Data: Decennial Census & ACS 5-year) 

 

 

Figure 7: The number of home sale closings in entirely rural and town/rural mix counties have increased since 2010, 

yet the number of homes listed for sale has decreased. (Data: Minnesota REALTORS) 

 

Increasing costs of construction 

Despite growing pressure on community leaders to rehab substandard housing and/or 

build new units to meet demand, increasing construction costs are making both of these 

strategies challenging.  
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Housing professionals give several reasons for the sharp increase in construction costs 

lately:  

• The increasing cost of materials; 

• The increasing price of land to build on; 

• The increasing cost to prep build-sites with water, sewer, and other infrastructure; 

• A sluggish recovery in the number of home building companies since the Great 

Recession, forcing up prices for their services; 

• A competitive retail construction market in larger communities that can pay more 

for projects, forcing up “bids”; 

• Labor shortages in the trades industries leading to higher wages; and, 

• The increasing number and complexity of building codes. 

Specific data confirming each of these reasons is limited, but employment and business 

data confirm a lower number of businesses and employees in the home building industry 

compared to pre-recession years. (See Appendix: Increasing costs to build new.) 

Of course, these reasons for construction and rehab cost increases impact rural and 

urban areas alike, but what makes this issue uniquely rural is the impact they have on 

the mismatch between construction costs and home values in rural areas. 

New construction “starter homes” are out of reach 

Despite a demand for housing and a lack of available older housing, high construction 

costs are contributing to the fact that the number of housing units being built has not 

recovered in rural areas since 2010 and are currently about half of what they were in 

2000 (Figure 8).  

 

Figure 8: Estimates of new housing units are from the Building Permits Survey. To be able to compare regions, the 

number of housing units to be built is divided by the number of households in 2000, 2010, and 2016. The building 
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of new housing units has not recovered since the Great Recession and is currently about half of what it was in 2000. 

(Data: U.S. Census Building Permits Survey, Decennial Census, ACS 5-year) 

The lack of housing development in rural areas is not due to a decrease in rural 

household incomes. In fact, median household incomes, median home sale prices, 

contract rents, and mortgage and homeowner costs have been growing, particularly in 

counties outside of the entirely urban counties (Table 2). 

 

County group 

Median 

household 

incomes - % 
change since 

2000 

Median home 

sale price - % 
change since 

2010 

Contract rent - 
% change since 

2000 

Mortgage and 

homeowner 

costs - % 
change since 

2000 

Entirely rural 51% 45% 58% 65% 

Town/rural mix 42% 40% 57% 57% 

Urban/town/rural mix 36% 57% 58% 52% 

Entirely urban 35% 42% 52% 52% 

Table 2: Percent change of median household incomes, median home sale price, contract rent, and mortgage and 

homeowner costs reveal that the largest increases have been outside of our most urban counties. (Data: Decennial 

Census & ACS 5-year, Minnesota REALTORS) 

 

These indicators today are still 60% to 75% that of urban areas, but even though the gap 

has narrowed, developers are building far fewer homes in rural areas now than they were 

in the early 2000s, when the disparities in these indicators between rural and urban were 

much wider (Figure 8).  

Many housing professionals have reported building costs increasing 60% to 90% since 

2000, a much faster rate than incomes across the state. 

Rick Goodeman, CEO of the Southwest Housing Partnership, talks about a time when 

they administered a program that assisted in the development of new homes in very 

small towns for households with incomes just above the limits required to access more 

traditional housing programs. These homes are typically modest in square footage and 

amenities but help replenish the housing stock for incoming workforce. 

“In the late 1990s and early 2000s, we could work with small communities to 

develop new housing that cost a little over $100,000. Now, you can barely build 

that same house for $200,000,” Goodeman says. 

In the early 2000s, Southwest Housing Partnership worked with the city of St. Peter to 

develop a new housing division on the edge of town called “Nicollet Meadows.” With the 

help of various housing finance programs, the city and SWHP were able to keep the 

project financially sustainable with an average purchase price for these homes of 

$128,010. A new and very similar development in St. Peter (same number of bedrooms 

and square footage) is currently priced between $197,250 and $207,500, a 60% 

increase in the sale price back in 2000.  
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One owner of a construction company in west central Minnesota says that he receives 

phone calls frequently from households inquiring about the construction of a new home. 

When they receive the estimate, they are shocked. They’re hoping for something a little 

over $100 a square foot, but the lowest cost to build is more like $200 per square foot. 

“The building of new homes has come to a halt in this area because people are priced 

out of the market,” this builder says.  

Unfortunately, the incomes needed to afford these “starter” homes are out of reach for 

much of the new or younger workforce. As Nick Dalton from United MN Bank in New 

London explains, “considering the qualifying ratios and down payment requirements for 

most conventional mortgage products, it is common to see household incomes fall short 

of what is needed to afford a starter home or a home that isn’t in need of repair or 

improvement.” 

Lack of market for new construction “starter homes” 

Not only are these homes out of reach for the new or younger workers, but the perception 

exists among households that can afford this price that it “isn’t much house” for the 

price.  

At $200,000, a new-built home would cost 50% - 90% more than the median value of 

existing homes in the area (Figure 9). Even if a family could afford to build a new starter 

home at this price, it could be difficult to convince them, knowing that they could buy 

one of the existing homes around them at the same price, and it would probably be 

larger, have more character and be in a more desirable location. And to add insult to 

injury, when construction is completed, the new house would likely be appraised at a 

lower selling price than what it cost to build. 

 

 

Figure 9: Home values have increased since 2000, but values in non-urban areas lag significantly, while the cost of 

construction soars. (Data: Decennial Census & ACS 5-year) 
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This leaves very few households demanding newly built starter homes and makes it 

challenging for developers to build these projects even in areas where there might be 

high demand for workforce housing. 

Low rents and inability to take risk 

If new workforce or younger households can’t afford to build new starter homes, there is 

hope that building rental units, where efficiencies can make the financial model more 

manageable, can be a solution.  

Here the issue is a bit more nuanced. In the right market with high demand where 20 or 

more units could be built and rented, developers sense some optimism. However, the 

challenge is overcoming significantly lower rents in rural areas.  

Although rents in non-urban areas have increased between 50% and 60% since 2000, 

they lag significantly behind urban rents (Figure 10). To make these projects financially 

feasible, rents right now would need to be around $800 per month, which can be 50% to 

100% more than current median rents in many non-urban areas.  

 

 
Figure 10: Similar to home values, rent paid in non-urban areas is significantly lower compared to urban rents. (Data: 

Decennial Census & ACS 5-year) 

 

Some developers believe there is a market for those rent prices, but the data to prove it 

is mixed. Thirty percent or less of income going toward housing costs is considered the 

“affordable” threshold, and Figure 11 shows that some 55% of rural households are 

paying less than 30% of their income toward rent, including around 35% of households 

paying 20% or less of their income towards rent. However, given the increase in building 
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costs in general, the rule of thumb on affordability may not be enough anymore, 

indicated by how many households are paying more than 35%.  

 

 
Figure 11: The percentage of households in occupied rental units paying a small percentage of their incomes in non-

urban counties. About 20% of rural households are paying less than 15% of their income towards rent, but the high 

percentage of households paying 35% or more toward contract rent payments is concerning, leaving mixed results 

on whether rural areas can afford higher rents. (Data: ACS 5-year) 

 

The lack of concrete proof of the ability to pay higher rent leaves median contract rents 

as the only data point, making it a challenge to convince investors that rental projects 

are feasible. Lenders also don’t have the flexibility to provide resources when data 

indicate that these projects carry significant risk.  

 

Rising construction costs impact substandard housing 

investments 

On the other side of the coin from unaffordable housing (particularly in regions with 

lakes) is very inexpensive housing in various states of dilapidation.  

Communities trying to attract younger families look at dilapidation as a serious problem. 

Younger families often don’t have the means to make a large investment in fixing up a 

home. The smaller and more rural the community, the more limited the housing stock, 

and thus the bigger the problem dilapidation becomes. 

Rural leaders in regions with a demand for workforce often lament the condition of 

existing homes available in their communities. In urban areas with a growing workforce 

and where home values are higher, this type of older housing can make perfect starter 
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homes for families willing to invest in their rehab and can be great for folks who don’t 

have a lot of extra cash saved for a down payment. 

In rural areas, however, increases in construction costs, coupled with lower home values 

in general mean there is no guarantee that rehab work will increase a home’s value, a 

major barrier for banks offering mortgage products to families that don’t have the cash.  

As Nick Dalton from United MN Bank in New London explains, “if an applicant wants to 

purchase a property in need of repair they may incur rehab costs that aren’t supported 

with a market value appraisal.  Purchasing a home for $40,000, investing another 

$40,000 to rehab the home and have the appraisal support a $70,000 value makes the 

purchase nearly impossible to finance.”  

There is very little data that highlights how many substandard homes there are in rural 

Minnesota, but the stage is set for the amount of dilapidated housing to increase 

significantly over the next 10 to 20 years as the population continues to age. Results 

from a survey commissioned by the MN Department of Human Services | Aging 2030 

showed that baby boomers in rural areas and small towns were most likely to prefer to 

age in their current homes.3  

Not only is there a higher preference, but many baby boomers in rural areas may not 

have a choice. As highlighted in a 2015 report by the Center for Rural Policy and 

Development, assisted living facilities are being developed at a slower rate in rural areas 

than in metropolitan areas due to shortages in the healthcare workforce and financial 

feasibility challenges.   

Future Research  

Construction costs, low home values and the aging population all combine to create the 

environment that is fostering the housing shortage in Greater Minnesota today. There is 

little research on the current state and future impacts of these issues, however, making it 

difficult to develop long-lasting solutions to these two knotty issues.  

A closer look at the causes of the increases in construction costs will hopefully reveal 

areas where the market breakdown can be fixed, while a careful examination of how we 

can help our seniors keep their homes in good repair or move to quality assisted living 

nearby could help find ways to loosen the bottlenecks in the rural housing cycle. 

Understanding the overall picture better should help policy makers, community leaders 

and builders maintain a healthy supply of homes for workers in our growing rural 

businesses. 

                                           
3 Aging 2030: 2010 Minnesota Baby Boomer Survey: Findings for Urban, Suburban and Rural 

Boomers 
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Appendix: Definition of Four County Categories 

The Minnesota State Demographer’s four categories uses the U.S. Census rural-urban 
community area (RUCA) codes. You can find the definition in their report “Greater 
Minnesota: Refined & Revisited.” The State Demographer’s Office analyzes the census 

tracts in each county to determine the type of “mix.” Each county is then categorized. 

Urban Definition 

1 Census tract is situated at the metropolitan area’s core and the primary commuting 

flow is within an urbanized area of 50,000 residents or more. 

2 Census tract is within a metropolitan area and has higher primary commuting (30% 

or more) to an urbanized area of 50,000 residents or more. 

3 Census tract is within a metropolitan area and has lower primary commuting (10-

30%) to an urbanized area of 50,000 residents or more. 

 

Large Town Definition 

4 Census tract is situated at a micropolitan area’s core and the primary commuting flow 

is within a larger urban cluster of 10,000 to 49,999 residents. 

5 Census tract is within a micropolitan area and has higher primary commuting (30% or 

more) to a larger urban cluster of 10,000 to 49,999 residents. 

6 Census tract is within a micropolitan area and has lower primary commuting (10-30%) 

to a larger urban cluster of 10,000 to 49,999 residents. 

 

Small Town Definition 

7 Census tract has a primary commuting flow within a small urban cluster of 2,500 to 

9,999 residents. 

8 Census tract has higher primary commuting (30% or more) to a small urban cluster 

of 2,500 to 9,999 residents. 

9 Census tract has lower primary commuting (10-30%) to a small urban cluster of 

2,500 to 9,999 residents. 

 

Rural Definition 

10 Census tract has a primary commuting flow outside of urban areas and urban 

clusters. 

The number of counties within each category are; i) entirely rural: 14; ii) town/rural mix: 

35; iii) urban/town/rural mix: 25; and iv) entirely urban: 13. 
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Appendix: Increasing Costs to Build New 

Many developers and housing officials claim that the number of home construction 

businesses has not recovered since the Great Recession. Figure 12 shows that there are 

fewer businesses per 100 housing units compared to 2000. It also appears that these 

businesses are frequently taking projects in larger regional centers where the work is 

more lucrative. 

 

 

Figure 12: The number of businesses associated with home construction has not increased at the same rate as the 

number of housing units with the exception of SW Minnesota. (Data: MN DEED) 

 

Developers say that costs of materials have increased, but more importantly, the 

labor shortage has increased the cost to attract and retain laborers. Quite a few 

contractors disappeared during the Great Recession, and the number of 

contractors and employees hasn’t recovered as fast as the market is demanding 

(Figure 13). 
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Figure 13: Every region except SW Minnesota has fewer employees working for residential contractors as a 

percentage of total households. This includes businesses such as plumbers, roofers, framers, and other contractors 

involved with the building or maintenance of residential homes. (Data: MN DEED) 

 

Wages are increasing in response to this lack of growth in employment (Figure 14). Since 

2000, average weekly wages for employees in businesses related to home construction 

and maintenance has increased 130% to 155%. Although wages in the seven-county 

metropolitan region are the highest, wages in every other region have grown faster (Table 

3). 
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Figure 14: The average weekly wage for employees in businesses associated with residential construction is 

increasing across the state. This includes businesses such as plumbers, roofers, framers, and other contractors 

involved with the building or maintenance of residential homes. (Data: MN DEED) 

 

REGION 

AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE INCREASE SINCE 

2000 

CENTRAL MINNESOTA 140% 

NORTHEAST MINNESOTA 145% 

NORTHWEST MINNESOTA 155% 

SEVEN COUNTY MPLS-ST.PAUL, MN 132% 

SOUTHEAST MINNESOTA 138% 

SOUTHWEST MINNESOTA 148% 

Table 3: Employees in the residential construction trades have experienced the largest wage increases in areas 

outside of the seven-county Twin Cities region. This includes employees for businesses such as plumbers, roofers, 

framers, and other contractors involved with the building or maintenance of residential homes. (Data: MN DEED) 

Data is limited when analyzing reasons for construction cost increases, but there has 

been an attempt to get a better understanding. Calculations by the Builders Association 

of Minnesota estimate that the 2015 changes to the energy codes for single-family 

homes increased costs to build by $7,000 to $18,000 depending on size. The National 

Association of Home Builders conducts a national survey every few years to estimate 

construction costs. A 2015 report showed that the average construction cost per square 

foot has increased by 29% since 2011.  The reasons for this increase provided by 

construction companies include excavation prices, trusses and framing increases, 

increasing wages, and subcontractor prices. 
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From: Neeraj Agarwal
To: Sara Tichota; Pamela Otto
Subject: NIFA: comments to proposed 4% QAP
Date: Friday, October 8, 2021 9:01:42 AM
Attachments: Outlook-1503000813.png

Hi Sara/Pam, 

The only comments/recommended change to the proposed 4% LIHTC QAP for 2022-2023 are
below: 

 

1. Priority for AHTC + LIHTC combination projects:  Priority should be given based
on whether the project would move forward, but for, the award of AHTCs. Specifically,
priority should be given to projects that are not in a QCT, that are not able to secure gap
financing measures such as Tax Increment Financing, etc.  This is to ensure that AHTCs
go to the projects that truly need this resource. 

2. Maximum volume cap allocations/allocation cycles/ AHTC + LIHTC: either (a)
change the 20MM of private activity volume cap per round to 80MM and maintain only
one round in January 2022 and January 2023 as proposed to facilitate more 4% projects
or (b) hold four rounds with 20MM each. This is key to help maximize the amount of
affordable housing we develop in Nebraska. 

3. Maximum volume cap allocations/allocation cycles/ LIHTC only: change to holding
four rounds with 20MM each.This is key to help maximize the amount of affordable
housing we develop in Nebraska.  
 

Respectfully,

Neeraj

Neeraj Agarwal 
Principal
C: 402.981.3735
nagarwal@claritydevco.com
3814 Farnam Street 
Omaha, NE 68131

Click here to report this email as spam.
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From: William H. Lukash (Plng)
To: Sara Tichota
Subject: Omaha Comments
Date: Thursday, October 7, 2021 10:27:18 AM
Attachments: Omaha Comments - 9% LIHTC.pdf

Hi,

First, thanks for taking the time to return my call earlier this week.  The information you
provided during the call did help me better understand the concerns of NIFA's board of
directors.

Over the past few days I have spoken to a number of developers, co-workers, and the Mayor's
Office about the 2022/2023 9% LIHTC Application.  Attached to this email is our comment.

A hard copy will be placed in the mail today.

Thank you,
Bill

William H Lukash, P.G.
Assistant Director
Omaha Planning Department
1819 Farnam Street, Suite 1111
Omaha, NE  68183
Office 402-444-5150 x 2026
Cell 402-679-3949
william.lukash@cityofomaha.org

Click here to report this email as spam.
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From: Ryan Durant
To: Sara Tichota; Pamela Otto
Subject: 2022/2023 NIFA QAP COMMENTS
Date: Friday, October 8, 2021 1:48:55 PM

Good Afternoon,

I appreciate NIFA taking the time to discuss the QAP this morning. The QAP is a very
important policy document that will ultimately drive future affordable housing development
across the state. 

My comments to the proposed 2022/2023 QAP/LIHTC Application:

-Family Development points could incentivize development of unnecessary units and that
would cause over housing. If people are building 4 or 5 bedroom units then they score well in
the efficient points making these points a unfair competitive advantage. 

-It would seem to me that taking away small community points removal will deter
development in small communities. 

-It would make more sense to shift CDBG-DR monies to 4% LIHTC deals that actually need
gap financing. I think there will be limited participation with 9% rounds because of the
onerous requirements of the program. If we don't get the funds allocated then we will have to
return them to HUD.

Please don't hesitate to contact me if you have any questions.

Thanks,
Ryan

-- 
Ryan M. Durant
President

Office: 402-799-1820
Mobile: 402-981-5822
ryan@rmdgroupllc.com

  WWW.RMDGROUPLLC.COM

Click here to report this email as spam.
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From: Ryan Harris
To: Sara Tichota
Subject: Draft QAP Comments
Date: Thursday, October 7, 2021 3:03:57 PM

Hi Sara,
 
Please find our comments to the draft QAP attached. I know some look long, but felt additional
context was useful. Please let me know if you have any questions about them or additional follow
up. Again, appreciate the opportunity to provide comments and thank you for all the work you and
your team put into the QAP!
 

1. It was mentioned on the open call on October 5th that the Private Activity Bond Cap with 4%
LIHTCs would have a $40M cap but the draft QAP indicates only $20M.

2. The 4% bond application deadline with state LIHTCs is due approximately 5 weeks after the
QAP would go final. This is a very short amount of time to respond to the needs and goals of
the QAP.

3. It appears CROWN deals are no longer able to compete with other projects electing to extend
their compliance period.

4. Services are still either low impact to score or they are high cost burden to the projects, which
forces projects to raise rents on the residents to pay for the services. Tenants cannot be
forced to use the services, however projects must budget assuming all tenants will use them. 
To cover the service costs projects must either raise rents or lower permanent financing. 
Raising rents is burdensome for tenants and lowering permanent debt is typically
accomplished by requesting more LIHTC.  Neither of these accomplishes the goal of providing
the maximum amount of affordable housing possible.  We would suggest a reduction in the
maximum points available for supportive services.

5. Does the rule about no resyndication of projects before year 20 of their existing LURA include
older projects or just projects going forward?

6. If there aren’t at least 4 rehab applications, prior years will be used to come up with efficiency
metrics. Will these metrics affect the maximum eligible credit requests on these projects? We
would suggest an inflation factor be included based on CPI or other inflation index to account
for increasing costs, or decreasing costs, over the prior years.

7. In the past, deals in Small Communities were eligible to receive up to 3 points which helped
make those deals competitive.  Deals in small communities typically have few units than deals
in urban locations and therefore small community deals generally score lower in the efficiency
categories compared to the competition.  In addition, the new Application proposes points for
Areas of High Opportunity in Metro Only locations.  These are significant changes that will
impact the scoring of rural deals and we would request restoring the Small Community points.
(See the 2020 Round 1 breakdown of LIHTC awards for an indication of how hard it is for non-
metro deals to compete.)

8. The proposed QAP changes from 2 reservation rounds to 1.  MHEG viewed 2 rounds as
beneficial because it gave projects that were not funded in round 1 the opportunity to make
improvements to their applications for round 2.  This results in better deals.  There is a
concern that with only 1 round NIFA will be forced to award deals that either shouldn’t be
awarded or could be improved before applying a second time.
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9. There is a proposed change to score efficiency points based on total development costs per
unit rather than eligible basis per unit. The goal should be to efficiently allocate the State’s
allocation of LIHTC’s to projects, which is best measured by the eligible basis per unit not total
development costs per unit.  Some deals need to be structured with extra reserves, require
additional legal fees to complete, or other costs that raise total development costs.  These
deals can find other funding sources to cover these costs but will be penalized under the new
efficiency scoring category.  Another example is legal fees to review perm loan docs on small
deals (ineligible item).  An attorney will charge the same fee for a 10 unit project or a 50 unit
project, however using total development cost per unit basis rewards the larger project. 
There is an unintentional consequence of incentivizing larger deals by looking at total
development cost per unit compared to eligible basis per unit.

 
Thank you,
 
Ryan Harris

Acquisitions Manager | MHEG | www.mheginc.com
P 402.334.8899 | D 402.715.5353 | F 402.334.5599 | rharris@mheginc.com

515 N. 162nd Avenue, Suite 202, Omaha, NE 68118

 
"This email is intended solely for the person or entity to which it is addressed and may contain
confidential and/or privileged information. Any review, dissemination, copying, printing or
other use of this email by persons or entities other than the addressee is prohibited. If you have
received this email in error, please contact the sender immediately, and delete the material
from your computer." 

Click here to report this email as spam.
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From: Todd Lieberman
To: Sara Tichota
Cc: Joanie Poore; William H. Lukash (Plng); Kathleen Bole
Subject: comments/questions on QAP
Date: Thursday, October 7, 2021 9:53:27 PM

Sara
 
I have reviewed the QAP and I have a few questions/comments:
 

1.      Efficient housing production analysis should take into account the increased costs of Davis
Bacon requirements.

2.      Adding a category for concerted revitalization effort would help to incentivize projects in
cities that are meeting clear public policy objectives.

3.      Adding an explicit preference for public housing transformation in 4%/AHTC would be very
helpful for large scale Choice Neighborhoods work.

4.      Can you apply for both 4%/AHTC and 4%/NDED in the same round?
 
Thanks for your consideration.
Todd
 
 
Todd Lieberman | Executive Vice President
 
Brinshore Development, LLC | www.brinshore.com
222 W. Gregory Blvd, Suite 323  Kansas City, MO  64114
 
Direct: (224) 927-5061 | Mobile: (224) 532-8911
Email: ToddL@brinshore.com | Fax: (847) 562-9401
 

 

Click here to report this email as spam.
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From: Todd Lieberman
To: Sara Tichota
Cc: Kathleen Bole; William Lukash; Joanie Poore
Subject: QAP comments
Date: Thursday, October 7, 2021 2:43:29 PM

Sara

I would like to make the following comments to the QAP scoring across the various QAPs.

1) include a point category for concerted urban revitalization effort as a point for point compendium to opportunity areas.

2) include a way to address the significant difference in davis bacon costs in cost efficiency categories.

3) add a way that public housing redevelopment to be prioritized in 4%/AHTC developments. It is a great tool to for larger projects.

4) add mixed income public housing redevelopment as an eligible CRANE project.

Thanks
Todd

Sent from my mobile phone

Click
https://www.mailcontrol.com/sr/bQNmOrhhLlbGX2PQPOmvUihCLhWP7Wj9i7x5S46t1DEdYcTxbwJMaijqGZ5NjHxAfKMMrErP4MWYO_6K2KUB-
Q==  to report this email as spam.
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*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Policy Objectives and QAP Changes 
The 2022/2023 QAP is structured with a goal of addressing the policy objectives of the board.  Highlighted in this document are only the changes to the QAP.  
The QAP already contains countless mechanisms to achieve the board policy objectives.  This document illustrates the QAP changes and the corresponding 
policy objective(s). 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 

CRANE 

Choice Neighborhood program has been added as an 
eligible development in the CRANE process.* 

X  X X  

CRANE projects must commit to a minimum affordability 
period of 45 years (15-year compliance period + 30-year 
extended use period). 

X X  X  

CRANE developments are required to have at least four (4) 
points supportive services and will need to provide a 
supportive services plan focused on services for the 
population being served. 

X  X X  

Why:  The changes above directly support the CRANE program’s focus of housing underserved populations through collaboration of resource providers working with 
communities and neighborhoods, who have joined with for profit and non-profit entities, as well as other public and private resource providers.   The Choice 
Neighborhoods program, by design, leverages significant public and private dollars to address struggling neighborhoods through a comprehensive approach to 
neighborhood transformation.  Supportive services provide opportunities and support to tenants. Affordability period requirements ensure the development will 
continue to house underserved population for a longer period.  



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 

Tenant and Family Opportunities 

Added Areas of High Opportunity for Metro only 
developments.  Indexes for the following three categories 
will be eligible for 1 point per category: Education, Health 
and Environment, and Social and Economic.*   

X  X X X 

Added Family Development section for one point for 
developments with 10% of the units being 4-bedroom or 
larger, and they cannot receive points for senior 
development.* 

X X X X  

The maximum number of points for amenities is now eight 
(8) points. 

 X X   

Added built in designated work or school space provided in 
each unit to amenities.   X   

Several new supportive services have been added with the 
focus of family. 

X X X X  

Why:  The above changes directly support the Board’s desire to provide adequately sized housing for families but also provide ongoing support and opportunities for 
growth.  Areas of High Opportunity incentivize affordable housing development in areas that offer improved access to jobs, schools, health care, etc. Changes and 
additions to amenities and supportive service categories will provide opportunities and support for families through services such as tutoring services, parenting classes, 
built in work/school space and internet service that will be provided at no cost to the tenants. 



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 

Coordination with Local Efforts 

Increased point value of Qualified Census Tract to two 
points and added one point for those developments in a 
QCT that are also part of a neighborhood redevelopment 
plan or that leverage significant public and private dollars 
to support locally driven strategies that address struggling 
neighborhoods with distressed public or HUD-assisted 
housing, i.e. Choice Neighborhood program.* 

X  X X  

Added Rental Assistance Demonstration (RAD) 
developments to Project-based rental assistance section for 
points.* 

X X X X  

Supportive Services maximum points has been changed to 
four (4) points with at least one (1) service being provided 
in partnership with a community cased or regional service 
provider. In addition, at least one of the selected services 
must have a point value of at least two (2) points.* 

X  X X  

Why:  These changes ensure that NIFA is supporting and working in coordination with locally developed strategies. Working in tandem with the local planning 
department, housing authority, and other community-based organizations will result in positive outcomes for communities and residents. 



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 

Opportunities for Eventual Homeownership 

CROWN developments must elect the 30-year (15-year 
compliance + 15-year extended use period) affordability 
period. 

X X X X  

CROWN developments are eligible for Right of First Refusal 
points. 

X     

CROWN developments must waive any right to a Qualified 
Contract. 

  X   

Why:  The CROWN program provides homeownership opportunities for underserved populations.  The changes are programmatic in nature or will encourage program 
participation.  

Equitable Distribution and Preservation of Housing 

Reduced the point value from 4 to 3 points for 
developments involving preservation of existing affordable 
housing with an existing project-based rental assistance 
agreement (i.e. USDA or HUD). 

X X X X  

Small Community points will be for Non-Metro only.  X  X  
Removed points for Density*  X X   
Resyndication developments must wait until 20 years after 
the date of the last building was placed in service before 
applying for LIHTC again. 

 X    

Metro and Non-Metro developments will be scored 
separately.  X   X 



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 
Efficient Housing Production: Applications will be separated 
by development type (new construction, rehabilitation) 
within each set-aside.  

 X   X 

Why: Changes to Preservation points and re-syndication requirements will assist in providing an improved balance between the preservation of existing units and 
construction of new units.  An equitable distribution of developments throughout Nebraska will be the goal through new scoring processes and a focus on community 
needs. 

Green Standards/Sustainable Development 

Developments will have to submit specifications of their 
development to the Nebraska Department of Environment 
and Energy for 10% test.* 

 X   X 

CDBG -DR requirements for Green Standards are higher, so 
for developments seeking funding for CDBG-DR, they will 
receive 6 points in Green Standards. 

X X X   

Increased point values of Green Standards and Amenities 
to reflect the cost of each item. 

 X X   

Why: Green building and sustainable design increases efficiency, impacts long-term durability, and can improve health outcomes and reduce energy costs for tenants. 

Long-Term Viability and Quality Operation of Developments 

Added two points for management companies that attend 
the NIFA LIHTC Compliance Training. 

X    X 



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 
Added one point for management companies that can 
provide documentation of a Housing Credit Certified 
Professional designation. 

X    X 

Why:  Incentivizing the HCCP certification and NIFA training ensures knowledge of LIHTC requirements and Nebraska specific policies and procedures.  Knowledgeable 
and well-trained Property Management staff is key to the long-term viability of a development. 

Stewardship of the Resource & Integrity of the Program 

Maximum allocation will be reduce based on efficiency 
measures. 

 X   X 

Restructure of 4% LIHTC\AHTC\Bond application rounds 
and processes, i.e. optional Threshold review & separate 
application.* 

X    X 

One application round, with alternates selected.  X   X 

Zoning will be considered the number two tiebreaker, after 
consideration given to meeting the established set-asides, 
as zoning shows readiness to proceed.* 

 X   X 

Added points for developments that waive the right to 
request Qualified Contract. 

 X X  X 

Right of First Refusal: Non-profit entity may not be affiliated 
with or controlled by a for-profit organization and will need 
to be acceptable to NIFA. 

X    X 

Changes to Threshold review and structure. No points will 
be awarded for turning in threshold for review.     X 



*Changes made after the Public Hearing 
 

Summary of Change Policy Objective Supported 

     

Collaborative 
Partnerships for 

Strong 
Neighborhoods & 

Communities 

Balanced 
Approach 

Between Quality 
and Creation of 

Units 

Access to 
Opportunity for 

Tenants, 
Supporting Quality 

of Life & Dignity 

Targeting Special 
or Underserved 

Populations 

Transparent & 
Streamlined 

Processes and 
Procedures using 
Best Practices and 

Current Data 
Added NIFA’s Mission, Visions, Values and a chart of 
strategic objectives*     X 

All funding sources need to be solidified by conditional 
reservation deadline.     X 

Applications that fail to meet threshold will not be fully 
scored and will not be included in the efficiency 
calculations. 

    X 

Any development that has a financing gap, due to the non-
award of another source of funding that is greater than 
$500,000 will not be eligible for a Conditional Reservation.    

    X 

Implementing maximum number of days allowed for 
extensions for the following: Conditional Reservation; 
Carryover Agreement; 10% Test; and Cost Certification. 

    X 

Formatting changes in QAP, Applications, and forms.     X 

Subsequent owners of development will not be allowed to 
enter the Qualified Contract Process. 

    X 

Why: Restructuring the QAP and application to highlight NIFA’s Mission, Vision, Values, and policies is achieved through these changes. NIFA staff is committed to 
improving processes, increasing transparency and continued stewardship through solidifying NIFA policies in the QAP and application.  Many of the changes above 
incentivize developments that are ready to proceed.  
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 AGENDA ITEM #7 
 
Review and Consideration of Adoption of Bond Resolution No. MF-198 Authorizing the Issuance of 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Highlander Phase IV 
Project), Series 2021 in an Aggregate Principal Amount not to exceed $13,000,000 for the Benefit of HPIV, 
LLC in connection with the Construction of an Approximate 70-unit Multifamily Housing Development to 
be Located in Omaha, Nebraska. 
 
Background Information: 
 
This bond resolution authorizes the issuance and sale by the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (“NIFA”) of 
up to $13,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Highlander Phase IV 
Project) Series 2021 (the “Bonds”), in one or more series of Bonds, to provide funds for the construction of an 
approximately 70-unit (20 residential buildings) multifamily housing development (the “Project”) for persons with 
low and moderate incomes to be located within or proximate to the city blocks bordered on the north by Burdette 
Street, on the east by North 28th Street, on the west by North 30th Street and on the south by Parker Street, in 
Omaha, Nebraska.  See the attached map and Project renderings.  The owner of the proposed Project is HPIV, LLC, 
a Nebraska limited liability company (the “Owner”).   
 
The Bonds will be issued as “draw-down” bonds and will be privately placed, initially with Horizon Bank, a 
Nebraska state banking corporation, which expects to sell participation interests in the Bonds to several other 
banks.  Upon completion of construction of the Project and the satisfaction of various conditions in the underlying 
transaction documents, the Bonds will be purchased by Cedar Rapids Bank and Trust Company, an Iowa state-
chartered banking corporation. 
 
The Bonds will be limited obligations of NIFA, payable solely from the revenues and collateral pledged thereto.  
No moneys of NIFA will be pledged to the payment or security of the Bonds or to the Project.  The Bonds are 
expected to initially bear interest (during construction) at the rate of 3.33% per annum and commencing on the “rate 
adjustment date” (upon completion of construction) at a floating interest rate in an amount equal to 79% of LIBOR 
(the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate for United States Dollars as further described in the Bond Indenture) plus 
2.00% per annum (adjusted monthly).   
 
Other participants:  
 

Owner:   HPIV, LLC 
Managing Member: HPIV Manager, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company, Richard J. 
Sciortino, Manager 
Members: Brinshore TL, LLC (60%) and 75NHP4, LLC (40%) 

Developer:  Brinshore Development, L.L.C., Northbrook, IL and Seventy-Five North Revitalization 
Corporation entity, Omaha, NE 

Owner’s Counsel: Applegate & Thorne-Thomsen P.C. Chicago, IL 
Bond Counsel:  Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Kansas City, MO 
Bond Trustee:  Union Bank and Trust Company, Lincoln, NE 
Investor Member/    

 Federal LIHTC: Midwest Housing Equity Group, Inc. (MHEG), Omaha, NE 
Counsel to MHEG: Kutak Rock LLP, Omaha, NE 
Investor Member/ 

 State AHTC:  Sugar Creek Capital, St. Louis, MO 
Counsel to Sugar Creek: Miles & Stockbridge, Washington, DC 
 

Board Action Requested: 
 
Approval of the attached Bond Resolution No. MF-198. 
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 BOND RESOLUTION NO. MF-198  

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF MULTIFAMILY HOUSING 
REVENUE BONDS OF THE NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY IN ONE 
OR MORE SERIES (THE “BONDS”) IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $13,000,000 FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING THE MULTIFAMILY 
HOUSING DEVELOPMENT DESCRIBED ON THE ATTACHED SCHEDULE I (THE 
“PROJECT”) WHICH WILL PROVIDE RENTAL DWELLING ACCOMMODATIONS TO 
BE OCCUPIED BY LOW- AND MODERATE-INCOME PERSONS, WHICH BONDS AND 
THE INTEREST THEREON SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE REVENUES AND 
ASSETS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE BONDS; APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A TRUST INDENTURE, A LOAN 
AGREEMENT, A REGULATORY AGREEMENT, A TAX AGREEMENT, A BOND 
PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND RELATED AGREEMENTS FOR THE BONDS AND THE 
PROJECT, APPROVING THE SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT OF A TRUSTEE; 
MAKING FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS WITH REFERENCE TO THE BONDS; 
AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF THE BONDS; PROVIDING THAT THE INVALIDITY OF 
ANY PART OF THIS BOND RESOLUTION SHALL NOT AFFECT THE REMAINDER; 
INCORPORATING WITHIN THIS BOND RESOLUTION THE PROVISIONS OF 
SECTIONS 58-201 ET SEQ. (REISSUE 2010) OF THE NEBRASKA STATUTES, AS 
AMENDED; REPEALING ALL RESOLUTIONS OR PORTIONS THEREOF IN CONFLICT 
HEREWITH AND PROVIDING FOR THE DATE OF EFFECT OF THIS BOND 
RESOLUTION. 

WHEREAS, the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (the “Authority”) is a duly 
organized and existing body politic and corporate, not a state agency, but an independent 
instrumentality exercising essential public functions under the constitution and laws of the State 
of Nebraska (the “State”); and 

WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized by Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 58-201 et seq. (Reissue 
2010), as amended (the “Act”), to issue and sell its revenue bonds and to use the proceeds 
thereof for the purpose of financing the acquisition, construction and equipping of multifamily 
rental housing facilities which will provide rental dwelling accommodations to be occupied by 
low- and moderate-income persons in the State and to secure payment of such revenue bonds as 
therein provided, all in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, for the purpose of facilitating an increase in the supply of sanitary, safe and 
uncrowded housing in urban and rural areas of the State at rent levels at which low-income and 
moderate-income persons can afford to rent, encouraging the improvement of substandard 
housing and the construction of sanitary, safe and uncrowded housing for such persons through 
the use of public financing and loans at reasonable interest rates, and by coordinating and 
cooperating with private industry and local communities, all of which are essential to alleviating 
the creation of slums and blighted areas, preventing deterioration of the quality of living 
conditions within this State, alleviating excessive and disproportionate expenditures of public 
funds for crime prevention and punishment, public health and safety, fire and accident 
prevention, and other public services and facilities, and increasing employment in the 



2 
4822-5538-3293.2  

construction industry, the Authority desires to cause to be provided sanitary, safe and uncrowded 
housing for persons in the State; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to cause to be provided decent, safe and sanitary 
housing for low and moderate income persons in the City of Omaha, Nebraska (the “City”); and 

WHEREAS, the Authority is authorized and empowered by law, including the Act, to 
issue obligations and to provide funds to enable persons of low and moderate income to rent 
sanitary, safe and uncrowded multifamily housing facilities; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority has deemed it necessary and advisable for the promotion of 
the public health, welfare, safety, convenience and prosperity of the citizens of the State and in 
order to alleviate a shortage of affordable rental dwelling accommodations, particularly in the 
City, to issue bonds for such purposes pursuant to the hereafter-described Indenture; and 

WHEREAS, HPIV, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company (the “Borrower”) has 
requested the Authority (i) to issue revenue bonds in one or more series in an original aggregate 
principal amount of not to exceed $13,000,000, to be designated as “Multifamily Housing 
Revenue Bonds (Highlander Phase IV Project) Series 2021” (the “Bonds”) (or using such series 
designations as directed by the Executive Director), and (ii) to loan the proceeds from the sale of 
the Bonds in one or more loans  (collectively, the “Loan”) to the Borrower pursuant to a Loan 
Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) between the Authority and the Borrower, and evidenced by 
one or more Promissory Notes (collectively, the “Promissory Notes”) from the Borrower to the 
Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the Bonds shall be used for the purpose of effecting the 
financing of the Project and the payment of issuance expenses incurred in connection with the 
issuance of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower intends to have the Bonds purchased from the Authority by 
Horizon Bank, as the initial Bondowner (the “Initial Bondowner”) pursuant to the Bond Purchase 
Agreement (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), and the Authority deems it necessary and 
advisable to proceed with the issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower intends that upon the satisfaction of certain terms and 
conditions set forth in the Indenture (described below), all or a portion of the Bonds will be 
purchased from the Initial Bondowner by Cedar Rapids Bank and Trust Company (the “Forward 
Bond Purchaser”); and  

WHEREAS, the Bonds shall be issued pursuant to and shall be secured by a Trust 
Indenture (the “Indenture”), between the Authority and the trustee designated below (the 
“Trustee”); and 

WHEREAS, the Bonds shall contain a recital that they are issued pursuant to the Act and 
such recital shall be conclusive evidence of the validity of the Bonds and the regularity of their 
issuance; and 
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WHEREAS, there have been presented to the Authority for consideration and approval of 
the following: 

1. The form of the Indenture setting forth the terms of the Bonds and the 
conditions and security for the Bonds; 

2. The form of the Bond Purchase Agreement; 

3. The forms of Bonds as set forth in the Indenture; 

4. The form of the Loan Agreement; 

5. The forms of Promissory Notes to be delivered to the Authority by the 
Borrower and endorsed by the Authority to the Trustee without recourse;  

6. The form of the Regulatory Agreement and Declaration of Restrictive 
Covenants (the “Regulatory Agreement”) among the Borrower, the Authority and the 
Trustee; and 

7. The form of the Tax Compliance Agreement (the “Tax Agreement”) 
among the Borrower, the Authority and the Trustee. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE NEBRASKA 
INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

ARTICLE I 
 

LEGAL AUTHORIZATION; FINDINGS 

Section 1.01.  Legal Authorization.  The Authority is a body politic and corporate, not a 
state agency, but an independent instrumentality exercising essential public functions, existing 
under the Constitution and laws of the State and is authorized under the Act to issue and sell its 
revenue bonds in the form of one or more debt instruments such as the Bonds for the purpose, in 
the manner and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Act, in this Bond Resolution and in 
the Indenture. 

Section 1.02.  Findings.  The Authority hereby determines, based, in part, upon the 
statements, representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the materials and 
documents submitted to the Authority, as follows: 

(a) The issuance of the Bonds will effectuate the public purposes of the 
Authority and carry out the purposes of the Act by, among other things, preserving 
decent, safe and sanitary housing for persons of low and moderate income in the State, 
particularly in the City. 

(b) The Bonds shall be limited obligations of the Authority and payable solely 
out of the income, revenues, assets and receipts pledged pursuant to the Indenture 
(including the income, revenues, assets and receipts pledged pursuant to the Indenture 
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corresponding to the Project) and shall not be a general liability of the Authority or a 
charge against its general credit.  The Authority has no taxing power. 

(c) The Bonds shall be payable solely and only out of the property and 
revenues pledged, assigned, mortgaged or in which a security interest is granted for such 
payment and will be further secured by amounts, if any, deposited in or credited to the 
corresponding Funds and Accounts under the Indenture, all in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the Indenture. 

(d) The Bonds will not and shall never constitute a debt, liability or general 
obligation of the State, or any political subdivision, agency or instrumentality thereof 
(other than limited obligations of the Authority), nor will the faith and credit or the taxing 
power of the State or any political subdivision be pledged to the payment of the principal 
of or interest on the Bonds. 

(e) The Project is an eligible “project,” as defined in the Act. 

(f) Each of the instruments referred to in the recitals to this Bond Resolution, 
which are before each of the members of the Authority, is in appropriate form and is an 
appropriate instrument for the purposes intended and said instruments are in substantially 
the same form on the date hereof. 

Section 1.03.  Public Hearing Requirement.  A public hearing has been held by the 
Authority in accordance with Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 
and the approval by the Secretary of State of Nebraska, the designated and elected official as 
described in said Section 147(f). 

ARTICLE II 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE DOCUMENTS 
AND ISSUE BONDS 

Section 2.01.  Approval and Authorization of Documents.  The Indenture, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Promissory Notes, the Regulatory Agreement and 
the Tax Agreement (in substantially the forms presented to the Authority) be and the same are in 
all respects hereby approved, authorized, ratified and confirmed, and the Chairperson, Vice 
Chairperson and Executive Director be and they are each separately and individually hereby 
authorized and directed to execute or acknowledge, as the case may be, seal and deliver, for and 
on behalf of the Authority, the Indenture, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Loan Agreement, 
the Promissory Notes, the Regulatory Agreement and the Tax Agreement in substantially the 
forms and content as presented to the Authority at this meeting (subject to the approval of 
counsel to the Authority), but with such changes, modifications, additions and deletions therein 
as shall to her or him seem necessary, desirable or appropriate, her or his execution thereof to 
constitute conclusive evidence of her or his approval of any and all changes, modifications, 
additions and deletions from the forms thereof as presented to this meeting. 

Section 2.02.  Authorization To Issue and Sell the Bonds.  The issuance of the Bonds 
in an aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $13,000,000 is hereby approved.  The Bonds 
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shall be issued in one or more series (using such series designations as determined by the 
Executive Director) with the principal amount of each series as designated by the Executive 
Director, provided the aggregate principal amount of all series shall not exceed $13,000,000.  
The Bonds (and the series thereof) may be issued as bonds which bear interest at fixed interest 
rates (the “Fixed Rate Bonds”) and bonds which bear interest at variable rates (the “Floating 
Rate Bonds”) and in such amounts as shall be determined by the Executive Director and as set 
forth in the Indenture.  The Floating Rate Bonds shall bear such date and shall have an interest 
rate not to exceed, at any time, 15.00% per annum and shall mature not later than December 1, 
2042 and be payable at such place and in such form, carry such registration privileges, be subject 
to redemption, be executed, be in such form and contain such terms, covenants and conditions, 
all as set forth in the Indenture, such final terms to be determined by the Executive Director 
within the parameters of this Bond Resolution.  The Fixed Rate Bonds shall bear such date and 
shall have an interest rate not to exceed 6.00% per annum and shall mature not later than 
December 1, 2042 and be payable at such place and in such form, carry such registration 
privileges, be subject to redemption, be executed, be in such form and contain such terms, 
covenants and conditions, all as set forth in the Indenture, such final terms to be determined by 
the Executive Director within the parameters of this Bond Resolution.  The sale of the Bonds 
pursuant to the terms of the Bond Purchase Agreement be and the same are in all respects hereby 
approved, authorized and confirmed, and the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Executive 
Director are each hereby severally authorized and directed to execute, seal and deliver, whether 
by manual or facsimile signature, the Bonds for and on behalf of the Authority to the Trustee for 
authentication pursuant to the Indenture.  The Bonds shall be sold for the purchase price as set 
forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, which shall not be less than the principal amount thereof, 
such final terms to be determined by the Executive Director within the parameters of this Bond 
Resolution.   

Section 2.03.  Authority To Execute and Deliver Additional Documents and General 
Authorization.  The Chairperson, Vice Chairperson and Executive Director are hereby 
authorized to negotiate, execute and deliver for and on behalf of the Authority any and all 
additional certificates and documents, including, but not limited to, other credit enhancement 
agreements or agreements determined to be necessary to further secure the payment of the 
Bonds, any mortgage, note and assignment documents evidencing and securing the obligations of 
the Borrower, an investment agreement regarding the funds and accounts with respect to the 
Bonds as may be necessary, such terms to be as negotiated and approved by the Chairperson, 
Vice Chairperson or Executive Director and representation letters required by the securities 
depository, and other papers and to perform all other acts as they may deem necessary or 
appropriate to implement and carry out the purposes and intent of this Bond Resolution, 
including the preamble hereto. 

Without in any way limiting the power, authority or discretion elsewhere herein granted 
or delegated, the Authority hereby authorizes and directs all of the officers and the Executive 
Director of the Authority to perform or cause to be performed such obligations of the Authority 
and such other actions as they, in consultation with bond counsel, shall consider necessary or 
desirable in connection with or in furtherance of this Bond Resolution and the transactions 
contemplated by the documents and agreements identified or contemplated in this Bond 
Resolution.  The execution and delivery by any such officer or the Executive Director of the 
Authority of any of such documents, instruments or certifications, or the performance of any act 
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in connection with any of the matters which are the subject of this Bond Resolution, shall 
constitute conclusive evidence of the approval thereof of such officer or the Executive Director 
and the Authority and shall conclusively establish such officer’s or the Executive Director’s 
absolute, unconditional and irrevocable authority with respect thereto from the Authority and the 
approval and ratification by the Authority of the documents, instruments and certifications so 
executed and the action so taken. 

Section 2.04.  Terms of the Indenture.  As provided in Section 58-257 of the Act, any 
resolution authorizing the issuance of bonds may contain provisions as described in such section 
which shall be a part of the contract with the holders of the bonds.  Such provisions, to the extent 
included in the Indenture as executed by the Authority, are hereby incorporated into this Bond 
Resolution as if set forth herein.  The revenue, money and properties pledged pursuant to this 
Bond Resolution and the Indenture shall immediately be subject to the lien and pledge of the 
Indenture and this Bond Resolution in accordance with and as provided in Section 58-258 of the 
Act. 

Section 2.05.  Designation of Trustee.  The Executive Director is hereby directed to 
appoint Union Bank and Trust Company as Trustee for the Bonds.   

Section 2.06.  Ratification of Prior Actions.  Any and all other actions heretofore taken 
with respect to the Bonds and matters incident thereto by the officers of the Authority be and the 
same are hereby in all respects adopted, ratified, approved and confirmed. 

Section 2.07.  State Bond Allocation.  The Authority hereby approves an allocation of 
private activity bond volume cap in the amount not to exceed $13,000,000 for purposes of the 
Bonds, to be identified as follows: “Classification: Multifamily Housing 21-30-004.” 

ARTICLE III 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESOLUTIONS 

The Authority may, subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture, pass and execute 
resolutions supplemental to this Bond Resolution which shall not be inconsistent with the terms 
and provisions hereof. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.01.  Limitation of Rights.  With the exception of any rights herein expressly 
conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Bond Resolution or the 
Bonds is intended or shall be construed to give to any person, other than the Authority and the 
Trustee, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Bond 
Resolution or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained, this Bond Resolution 
and all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the 
sole and exclusive benefit of the Authority and the Trustee as herein provided. 
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Section 4.02.  Severability.  If any provision of this Bond Resolution shall be held or 
deemed to be or shall, in fact, be illegal, inoperative or unenforceable, the same shall not affect 
any other provision or provisions herein contained or render the same invalid, inoperative or 
unenforceable to any extent whatever. 

Section 4.03.  Immunity of Officers.  No recourse for the payment of any part of the 
principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds for the satisfaction of any liability arising 
from, founded upon or existing by reason of the issue, purchase or ownership of the Bonds shall 
be had against any official, officer, member or agent of the Authority or the State, all such 
liability to be expressly released and waived as a condition of and as a part of the consideration 
for the issue, sale and purchase of the Bonds. 

Section 4.04.  Book-entry Bonds.  [Not applicable.]   

Section 4.05.  Prior Resolutions.  To the extent any portion of any and all prior 
resolutions of the Authority with respect to the Bonds is in conflict with the provisions of this 
Bond Resolution, to the extent of such conflicts, the same are hereby repealed. 

Section 4.06.  Effective Date.  This Bond Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its passage and approval. 

Section 4.07.  Captions.  The captions or headings in this Bond Resolution are for 
convenience only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or 
sections of this Bond Resolution. 

Section 4.08.  Validity of Bonds.  Each Bond shall contain a recital that such Bond is 
issued pursuant to the Act, and such recital shall be conclusive evidence of its validity and of the 
regularity of its issuance. 

Passed and approved this 29th day of October, 2021. 

[SEAL] NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

By   
     Shannon R. Harner 
     Executive Director 
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SCHEDULE I 
 
 

Project:  Highlander Phase IV will consist of approximately 70-units of multifamily residential 
housing (approximately 20 buildings) to be constructed within or proximate to the city blocks 
bordered on the north by Burdette Street, on the east by North 28th Street, on the west by North 30th 
Street and on the south by Parker Street, in the City of Omaha, Nebraska.   

Borrower: HPIV, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company.   

Tenant Income Restrictions:  To the extent not income restricted in accordance with Section 42 
or Section 142 of the Code, units in the Project shall be rented to persons and families whose 
family income does not exceed 150% of the state median income as specified by the Authority 
from time to time.  



Highlander Phase IV Site Location Map 
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MATERIALS

?

FACE BRICK 1
BLONDE BRICK WITH RUSTICATED TEXTURE; 
LOCATED AT SOUTHWEST CORNER FACADES 
AND NORTH ELEVATION

WOOD DECKING
AT BALCONY FLOORS AND 
DIVIDERS

FACE BRICK 2
DARK IRONSPOT SECONDARY BRICK WITH 
SMOOTH TEXTURE

PAINTED METAL
CHARCOAL; AT PREFABRICATED BALCONIES 
AND MISCELLAENOUS METAL DETAILS

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT
ANODIZED DARK BRONZE FINISH W/ 
CAPTURED MULLIONS

VINYL WINDOWS
CASEMENT AND AWNING WINDOWS  
WITH DARK FRAMES

CORTEN STEEL
AT SOME EXTERIOR PLANTERS

METAL PANEL
VERTICAL WHITE CONCEALED FASTENER PANELS 
WITH VARIED WIDTHS/PATTERN; LOCATED AT 
NORTHWEST CORNER FACADES

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 1
DARK BROWN 4” LAP SIDING; LOCATED AT 
BALCONY INSETS

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 2
WARM WHITE 8” LAP SIDING; LOCATED ON 
ELEVATIONS INTERIOR TO THE SITE
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Agenda Item #8. Presentation of Draft Audited Financial Statements and 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal 
Year Ending June 30, 2021 

 

To be added 10/26/2021 
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This section of the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority’s (the Authority) annual financial report presents 
management’s discussion and analysis of the financial position and results of operations at and for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. This information is being presented to provide additional information 
regarding the activities of the Authority and to meet the disclosure requirements of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 

The Authority is a self-supporting entity and follows enterprise fund accounting. Accordingly, the financial 
statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. The Authority’s financial report consists of two parts – management’s discussion and analysis and 
the basic financial statements. Management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the 
basic financial statements. The basic financial statements consist of statements of net position; statements of 
revenue, expenses, and changes in net position; statements of cash flows; and the notes thereto. 

The statements of net position include all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, presented in order of liquidity, 
along with the deferred outflows and deferred inflows, which represent deferrals of resources related to future 
periods. The resulting net position presented in these statements is displayed as restricted by bond resolution 
and unrestricted. Net position is restricted when its use is subject to external limits such as bond indentures, 
legal agreements, or statutes. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator 
of whether the financial assets of the Authority are improving or deteriorating. 

All of the Authority’s current year revenue and expenses are recorded in the statements of revenue, expenses, 
and changes in net position. These statements measure the activities of the Authority’s operations over the 
past year and present the resulting change in net position, calculated as revenue less expenses. 

The final required financial statements are the statements of cash flows. The primary purpose of these 
statements is to provide information about the Authority’s cash receipts and cash payments during the reporting 
period. These statements report cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from 
operating, noncapital financing, and investing activities. The statements provide information regarding the 
sources and uses of cash and the change in the cash balance during the reporting period. 

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a full understanding of 
the information provided in the financial statements. The notes follow the statements of cash flows. 

Authority Credit and General Obligation Rating 
The unsecured general obligation of the Authority is rated AA by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services as of 
June 30, 2021. This rating takes into account the amount of unrestricted net position maintained by the 
Authority, as well as certain contingent obligations to which the general obligation of the Authority is pledged. 
While there is no guarantee that this rating will remain in effect for any period of time, management is 
committed to maintaining the level of unrestricted net position necessary to maintain an investment grade rating 
of its general obligation. 
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On August 5, 2011, Standard & Poor’s lowered its long-term sovereign credit rating on the United States of 
America from “AAA” to “AA+” with negative implications. Due to this downgrade and the effect on many of the 
credit support instruments pledged to the Authority’s bond issues, such as Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae, and 
Freddie Mac mortgage-backed securities, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac credit enhancements, government 
mortgage insurance, and those bonds that have funds invested in short-term instruments guaranteed by the 
United States of America, on August 8, 2011, Standard & Poor’s lowered the long-term credit rating on a large 
number of the Authority’s bonds (substantially all of its single family mortgage revenue bonds) from “AAA” to 
“AA+” and placed the issues on negative outlook. On June 10, 2013, Standard & Poor’s affirmed its long-term 
sovereign credit rating on the United States of America at “AA+” and revised the outlook from negative to stable 
and on February 11, 2021 affirmed the rating on the Authority’s bonds described above to “AA+” with a stable 
outlook. 
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Financial Analysis 
The Authority’s overall financial position and results of operations for the current and prior two years are 
summarized below. This information is derived from the basic financial statements (dollars in thousands): 

2021 2020 2019

Assets

Investments $ 189,150  214,946  243,982  
Loans receivable 1,272,134  1,523,173  1,424,266  
Other assets 4,904  5,621  5,965  

Total assets 1,466,188  1,743,740  1,674,213  

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Accumulated decrease in fair value of
hedging derivatives 7,867  13,050  5,425  

Loss on refunding 12,969  15,823  19,033  

Total deferred outflows of resources 20,836  28,873  24,458  

Liabilities

Bonds payable 1,017,034  1,300,976  1,239,770  
Interest payable 9,428  12,363  12,123  
Other liabilities 52,713  51,567  47,225  

Total liabilities 1,079,175  1,364,906  1,299,118  

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Accumulated increase in fair value of
hedging derivatives 249  —  —  

Swap up-front payment 13,320  16,447  20,021  

Total deferred inflows of resources 13,569  16,447  20,021  

Net Position

Restricted by bond resolution 311,306  298,757  285,610  
Unrestricted 82,974  92,503  93,922  

Total net position $ 394,280  391,260  379,532  

Total revenue, primarily interest income $ 47,729  56,445  50,649  
Total expenses 44,709  44,717  43,379  

 Change in net position $ 3,020  11,728  7,270  

Change in Net Position
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2021 Analysis – Statements of Net Position 
From June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021, total assets decreased $277.6 million. 

Investments – Decrease of $25.8 million 

• A decrease of $9.6 million in restricted investments was related to having no bond proceeds on hand at 
June 30, 2021, as compared to bond proceeds on hand at June 30, 2020, from the issuance of Single 
Family Housing Revenue Bonds. The bond proceeds were available for the purchase of pools of single 
family mortgage loans that were in the pipeline. 

• Operating funds warehousing single family mortgage loan pools (pending the issuance of bonds) increased 
by $14.3 million, resulting in a corresponding decrease in operating investments. 

Loans Receivable – Decrease of $251.0 million 

• The availability of very low mortgage interest rates in the market and the economic disruption caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic impacted demand for the Authority’s single family program. New loan purchases 
were $180.3 million in fiscal year 2021, compared to $315.5 million in fiscal year 2020. 

• The low rate environment also impacted prepayment levels on the existing mortgage loan portfolio. Loan 
repayments, which include regularly scheduled principal and interest payments, as well as prepayments, 
were $431.1 million and $216.5 million in fiscal year 2021 and 2020, respectively. Additionally, in fiscal year 
2021, 2% of mortgage loan repayments were recycled into new mortgage loans and 98% were used to 
redeem bonds, compared to 29% recycled into new mortgages and 71% used to redeem bonds in fiscal 
year 2020. 

From June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021, total deferred outflows of resources decreased $8.0 million. 

Accumulated Decrease in Fair Value of Hedging Derivatives – Decrease of $5.2 million 

• The fair value changes associated with the Authority’s derivatives that are determined to be effective 
hedges are deferred in the statements of net position. All but one of the Authority’s hedging derivatives 
were in liability positions as of June 30, 2021. See Other Liabilities – Fair Value of Derivatives below for a 
discussion of the decrease. 

Loss on Refunding – Decrease of $2.8 million 

• The Authority’s debt refundings during fiscal year 2021 did not result in any additional deferred losses. 
Amortization of deferred loss on refunding was $2.8 million during fiscal year 2021. 

From June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021, total liabilities decreased $285.7 million. 

Bonds Payable – Decrease of $283.9 million 

• The Authority issued $182.5 million in single family program revenue bonds in fiscal year 2021 and 
recognized bond premium amortization of $(4.2 million). 

• Total bond maturities and mandatory bond redemptions in fiscal year 2021 were $462.3 million. Higher 
than average prepayment levels caused a significant increase in mandatory bond redemptions, coupled 
with a decrease in recycling mortgage repayments into new mortgages in fiscal year 2021. 
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Interest Payable – Decrease of $2.9 million 

• Interest payable decreased $2.9 million due not only to the overall decrease in bonds payable, but also 
because recent bond issuances have been at historically low rates while higher rate bonds have been 
redeemed. 

Other Liabilities – Accrued Liabilities – Increase of $7.5 million 

• Prior to June 30, 2021, the Authority awarded $6.9 million in match funds in connection with the state’s 

workforce housing programs, resulting in a corresponding increase in accrued liabilities. 

• Deferred fee income increased $0.6 million with the addition of nine new low income housing tax credit 
projects paying 15-year compliance fees upfront. 

Other Liabilities – Mortgage Subsidy Reserve – Decrease of $1.2 million 

• The Authority utilizes costs savings achieved from the use of various financing techniques that lower bond 
costs to subsidize mortgage loans with interest rates below market. Savings realized in fiscal year 2021 of 
$2.9 million was offset by savings used of $4.1 million. 

Other Liabilities – Fair Value of Derivatives – Decrease of $5.2 million 

• All but one of the Authority’s derivatives were in liability positions as of June 30, 2021, reflecting the 
Authority’s future obligations with respect to the derivative contracts. The fair value of derivatives, which is 

dependent on the current interest rate environment, is provided by an independent source. 

From June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021, total deferred inflows of resources decreased $2.9 million. 

Swap Upfront Payment – Decrease of $3.1 million 

• Amortization of swap up-front payment was $3.1 million during fiscal year 2021. 

From June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021, total net position increased $3.0 million. 

• The Authority’s revenue less expenses for fiscal year 2021 resulted in an increase in total net position of 
$3.0 million. 

2021 Analysis – Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
The Authority’s change in net position for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $3.0 million, a decrease of 
$8.7 million from the year ended June 30, 2020. 

Operating Revenue – Decrease of $8.7 million 

• Mortgage loan interest decreased a total of $6.2 million as the result of: 

– $5.3 million decrease related to a decrease in size of the Authority’s single family loan portfolio, 

– $1.9 million decrease resulting from a smaller adjustment to the mortgage subsidy reserve during the 
year, and 

– $1.2 million increase due to fewer premiums paid on loans purchases for the year. 
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• Revenue related to the Authority’s investments decreased $2.8 million due to a decrease in yields on funds 
invested in short term discount notes. 

Operating Expenses – Decrease of $8,000 

• Interest expense decreased $6.3 million due to: 

– $7.2 million decrease in bond interest because of a large decrease in bonds payable due to increased 
cross calling instead of recycling mortgage prepayments into new loans, as well as a lower weighted 
average bond interest rate, reflecting the redemption of higher rate bonds, 

– $1.1 million decrease in bond issuance costs paid during the year related to issuing a smaller amount 
of bonds in fiscal year 2021 as compared to fiscal year 2020, 

– $1.3 million increase in net payments made by the Authority in connection with interest rate swap 
agreements, as the result of a decreasing trend in the index rate used to calculate the variable payment 
received from the counterparties, 

– a net increase of $0.8 million related to amortization of bond premium, deferred loss on refunding, and 
swap upfront payments, all of which are amortized to interest expense. 

• General and administrative expenses decreased slightly, by $0.2 million.  

• Nebraska Opportunity Fund expenses increased by $6.5 million due to match funds awarded in connection 
with the state’s new workforce housing programs. 

2020 Analysis – Statements of Net Position 
From June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020, total assets increased $69.5 million. 

Investments – Decrease of $29.0 million 

• Restricted investments decreased $30.9 million due to the balance of bond proceeds on hand at June 30, 
2020, as compared to bond proceeds on hand at June 30, 2019, from the issuance of Single Family 
Housing Revenue Bonds. The bond proceeds were available for the purchase of pools of single family 
mortgage loans that were in the pipeline as of June 30 of each year. 

• Restricted investments increased by $2.6 million related to an increase in the balance of mortgage loan 
prepayments held for recycling. 

Loans Receivable – Increase of $98.9 million 

• New loan purchases were $315.5 million and $287.7 million in fiscal year 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

• Loan repayments, which include regularly scheduled principal and interest payments, as well as 
prepayments, were $216.5 million and $158.8 million in fiscal year 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

From June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020, total deferred outflows of resources increased $3.3 million. 

Accumulated Decrease in Fair Value of Hedging Derivatives – Increase of $7.6 million 

• The fair value changes associated with the Authority’s derivatives that are determined to be effective 

hedges are deferred in the statements of net position. All of the Authority’s hedging derivatives were in 
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liability positions as of June 30, 2020. See Other Liabilities – Fair Value of Derivatives below for a 
discussion of the increase. 

Loss on Refunding – Decrease of $3.2 million 

• The Authority’s debt refundings during fiscal year 2020 did not result in any additional deferred losses. 

Amortization of deferred loss on refunding was $3.2 million during fiscal year 2020. 

From June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020, total liabilities increased $64.7 million. 

Bonds Payable – Increase of $61.2 million 

• The Authority issued $303.3 million in single family program revenue bonds in fiscal year 2020 and 
recognized bond premium amortization of $4.8 million. 

• Total bond maturities and mandatory redemptions in fiscal year 2020 were $237.3 million. 

Other Liabilities – Mortgage Subsidy Reserve – Decrease of $3.1 million 

• The Authority utilizes costs savings achieved from the use of various financing techniques that lower bond 
costs to subsidize mortgage loans with interest rates below market. Savings realized in fiscal year 2020 of 
$2.4 million was offset by savings used of $5.5 million. 

Other Liabilities – Fair Value of Derivatives – Increase of $7.0 million 

• All of the Authority’s derivatives were in liability positions as of June 30, 2020, reflecting the Authority’s 

future obligations with respect to the derivative contracts. The fair value of derivatives, which is dependent 
on the current interest rate environment, is provided by an independent source. 

From June 30, 2019 to June 30, 2020, total deferred inflows of resources decreased $3.6 million. 

Swap Upfront Payment – Decrease of $3.6 million 

• Amortization of swap up-front payment was $3.6 million during fiscal year 2020From June 30, 2019 to 
June 30, 2020, total net position increased $11.7 million. 

• The Authority’s revenue less expenses for fiscal year 2020 resulted in an increase in total net position of 
$11.7 million. 

2020 Analysis – Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
The Authority’s change in net position for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $11.7 million, an increase of 
$4.5 million from the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Operating Revenue – Increase of $5.8 million 

• Mortgage loan interest increased a total of $5.9 million as the result of: 

– $5.0 million increase related to growth in the Authority's single family mortgage loan portfolio, and 

– $0.9 million increase related to the mortgage subsidy reserve adjustment. 
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Operating Expenses – Increase of $1.3 million 

• Interest expense increased $1.9 million primarily related to growth in the Authority’s single family bond 

portfolio. 

• General and administrative expenses decreased $0.6 million primarily as the result of the end of litigation 
and the termination of a credit default swap: 

– Legal fees related to litigation were $0 in fiscal year 2020, compared to $0.2 million in fiscal year 2019. 

– Fees related to the Authority’s credit default swap were $50,000 in fiscal year 2020, compared to 

$0.5 million in fiscal year 2019.  

Long-Term Debt Activity 
During fiscal years 2021 and 2020, the Authority issued Single Family program revenue bonds totaling 
$182.5 million and $303.3 million, respectively. Principal payments on bonds totaled $462.3 million and 
$237.3 million in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization of bond premium was $(4.2 million) and 
$(4.8 million) in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively. Detailed information about the Authority’s bonds 
payable is presented in note 6 to the financial statements. 

Contact Information 
This financial report is intended to provide users with a general overview of the Authority’s financial 
performance for fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. If you have questions about this report or need 
additional financial information, please contact the Authority’s Treasurer at Nebraska Investment Finance 
Authority, 1230 O Street, Suite 200, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508, or visit the Authority’s website at www.nifa.org 
and navigate to the Bonds/Finance section. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority: 

Report on Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
(the Authority), which comprise the statements of net position as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related 
statements of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we 

express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
qualified audit opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

As more fully described in note 2(e) to the financial statements, the Authority has reported investments in 
securitized mortgage loans at amortized cost. In addition, as more fully described in note 2(i) to the financial 
statements, the Authority does not report commitments to purchase securitized mortgage loans at fair value.  
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that securitized mortgage loans and loan commitments 
be reported at fair value. 
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Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the 
financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis on 

pages 1 through 8 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 

financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 
supplemental schedules 1 through 4 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. 

The supplemental schedules 1 through 4 are the responsibility of management and were derived from and 
relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the additional information in supplemental 
schedules 1 through 4 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated ________ __, 2021 
on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 

with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
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The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and 

compliance. 

 

Lincoln, Nebraska 
_________ __, 2021 
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NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets 2021 2020

Current assets:
Cash $ 656  559  
Investments 78,323  93,686  
Interest receivable 31  2  
Loans receivable 404  —  
Other current assets 172  387  
Restricted assets:

Cash —  21  
Investments 44,112  42,244  
Interest receivable 16  26  

Total current assets 123,714  136,925  

Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable 14,357  444  
Restricted assets:

Investments 66,715  79,016  
Interest receivable 3,435  4,294  
Loans receivable 1,257,373  1,522,729  

Fair value of derivatives 249  —  
Other assets 345  332  

Total noncurrent assets 1,342,474  1,606,815  

Total assets 1,466,188  1,743,740  

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives 7,867  13,050  
Loss on refunding 12,969  15,823  

Total deferred outflows of resources 20,836  28,873  

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 11,331  3,825  
Interest payable 9,428  12,363  
Current portion of bonds payable 34,625  29,050  

Total current liabilities 55,384  45,238  

Noncurrent liabilities:
Fair value of derivatives 7,867  13,050  
Bonds payable, net of current portion 982,409  1,271,926  
Mortgage subsidy reserve 33,515  34,692  

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,023,791  1,319,668  

Total liabilities 1,079,175  1,364,906  

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Accumulated increase in fair value of hedging derivatives 249  —  
Swap up-front payment 13,320  16,447  

Total deferred inflows of resources 13,569  16,447  

Net Position

Restricted by bond resolution 311,306  298,757  
Unrestricted 82,974  92,503  

Total net position $ 394,280  391,260  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Dollars in thousands)

2021 2020

Operating revenue:
Interest income:

Loans $ 45,470  51,655  
Investments 3  155  

Net increase in fair value of investments 90  2,733  
Fees and other income 2,166  1,902  

Total operating revenue 47,729  56,445  

Operating expenses:
Interest 30,313  36,587  
General and administrative 6,920  7,195  
Nebraska Opportunity Fund 7,476  935  

Total operating expenses 44,709  44,717  

Change in net position 3,020  11,728  

Net position, beginning of year 391,260  379,532  

Net position, end of year $ 394,280  391,260  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

(Dollars in thousands)

2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Purchase of loans $ (180,328) (315,536) 
Principal repayments received on loans 431,084  216,495  
Interest received on loans 45,401  48,509  
Fees and program income received 2,799  2,631  
General and administrative costs paid (6,906) (7,525) 
Payments from Nebraska Opportunity Fund (612) (935) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 291,438  (56,361) 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of bonds 182,498  303,346  
Repayment of bonds (462,262) (237,283) 
Debt issuance costs paid (1,587) (2,676) 
Interest paid (36,112) (38,892) 

Net cash (used in) provided by noncapital financing activities (317,463) 24,495  

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received on investments 3  233  
Proceeds from sales, maturities, and calls of investments 1,034,073  1,233,791  
Purchase of investments (1,007,975) (1,202,117) 
Payment to settle credit default swap —  (636) 

Net cash provided by investing activities 26,101  31,271  

Net increase (decrease) in cash 76  (595) 

Cash, beginning of year 580  1,175  

Cash, end of year $ 656  580  

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:

Operating income $ 3,020  11,728  
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided

by (used in) operating activities:
Purchase of loans (180,328) (315,536) 
Principal repayments received on loans 431,084  216,495  
Interest received on investments (3) (233) 
Interest expense 30,313  36,587  
Increase in fair value of investments (90) (2,733) 
Amortization and other income, net 268  137  
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable 840  (120) 
Decrease in prepaid expenses 5  25  
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 6,329  (2,711) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 291,438  (56,361) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(1) Authorizing Legislation and Organizational Structure 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (the Authority) was created as a quasi-governmental entity on 
August 26, 1983 by an Act (the Act) of the Nebraska Legislature. The Authority was established to provide 
sources of mortgage financing at reduced interest rates to Nebraska residents of low- and 
moderate-income levels, agricultural financing at reduced interest rates to Nebraska farmers and other 
agricultural enterprises, other financing at reduced interest rates to Nebraska business enterprises, and to 
provide technical assistance to businesses and communities. The Authority is authorized to invest in loans 
made for the construction, rehabilitation, or purchase of residential housing and certain enterprises. The 
Authority has been designated as the allocating agency for the Federal Low Income Housing Tax Credit 
Program (the LIHTC Program) and the Nebraska Affordable Housing Tax Credit Program (the AHTC 
Program). The LIHTC and AHTC Programs were established to encourage investment in the construction 
and rehabilitation of rental housing units for low- and moderate-income individuals and families. The 
Authority has no taxing power and is exempt from federal and state income taxes. The Authority is 
authorized to issue tax-exempt revenue bonds and other obligations, the proceeds of which are to be 
utilized to fulfill the aforementioned purposes. Amounts so issued will not be deemed to constitute a debt of 
the State of Nebraska or any political subdivision thereof. Any assets remaining upon dissolution of the 
Authority, after all indebtedness and other obligations are satisfied, will be transferred to the State of 
Nebraska. 

(2) Significant Accounting Policies 
The following is a summary of the significant accounting and financial reporting policies followed in the 
preparation of these financial statements: 

(a) Basis of Presentation and Accounting 

The financial activities of the Authority are recorded in accounts established under various bond 
indentures (program accounts) and in an operating account established for the administration of the 
Authority’s programs. The Authority’s program and operating accounts have been presented on a 
combined basis, as the Authority is considered a single-enterprise fund for financial reporting purposes. 
All revenue and expenses are considered operating, as they relate directly to the purpose of the 
Authority. 

The Authority’s financial statements have been prepared using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles, except for investment in securitized mortgage loans and commitments to buy securitized 
mortgage loans, as discussed below. The Authority applies all Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) pronouncements. 

(b) Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates include the rebate 
liability, mortgage subsidy reserve, derivatives, and the loans receivable allowance. 
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(c) Investments 

Investments are carried at fair value based upon established quoted market prices. Changes in the fair 
value of investments are reported as increases (decreases) in operating revenue in the statements of 
revenue, expenses, and changes in net position. 

(d) Loans Receivable 

Loans receivable consist of single family mortgages as well as single family Ginnie Mae I, Fannie Mae, 
and Freddie Mac mortgage-backed pass-through certificates, and Uniform Mortgage-Backed Securities 
(collectively, “securitized mortgage loans”) backed by pools of single family mortgage loans originated 
pursuant to the Authority’s Single Family Program. The Authority has a 100% beneficial interest in the 
loans underlying the securitized mortgage loans. Loans receivable are carried at the unpaid principal 
balance. 

(e) Securitized Mortgage Loans 

The Authority reports securitized mortgage loans at amortized cost. GASB Statement No. 31, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, 
requires that investments in debt securities, including securitized loans, be reported at fair value. Based 
on values obtained from an independent pricing source, the estimated fair value of the Authority’s 
securitized mortgage loans is $1,320.6 million and $1,599.7 million, respectively, compared to 
amortized cost of $1,246.6 million and $1,498.3 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. GASB 
Statement No. 31 also requires that the change in fair value be reported in operating revenue and 
change in net position. Accordingly, the Authority should have reported in its statements of revenue, 
expenses, and changes in net position the (decrease) increase in unrealized gains of $(27.3 million) 
and $60.6 million for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, (decreasing) increasing 
operating revenue and change in net position by those amounts. Net position should have been 
increased by the cumulative unrealized gains on the securitized mortgage loans of $74.0 million and 
$101.4 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Additionally, interest earned on securitized mortgage loans totaling $45.5 million and $51.7 million at 
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, has been classified as interest income from loans rather than 
investments in the statements of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position. Principal and interest 
payments received on securitized loans of approximately $431.1 million and $45.4 million, respectively, 
in 2021 and $216.5 million and $48.5 million, respectively, in 2020 have been included in cash flows 
provided by operating activities rather than cash flows used in investing activities in the statements of 
cash flows. 

(f) Debt Financing Costs and Fee Income 

Debt financing costs and fees collected from financial institutions in exchange for mortgage loan 
servicing rights are expensed as incurred or recognized as income when received, in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. 

(g) Provision for Loan Losses 

A provision for loan losses is recorded in expenses when, in management’s opinion, the realization of 
all or a portion of the loans is not probable and the Authority does not have insurance or guarantees on 
its loans. As described in note 5, the Authority’s single family mortgage loans are primarily in the form 
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of mortgage-backed pass-through certificates. While management uses available information to 
recognize losses, future additions to the allowance may be necessary based on changes in economic 
conditions. 

(h) Debt Refunding 

Gains or losses from debt refundings are deferred and amortized over the shorter of the remaining life 
of the prior bonds or the estimated life of the refunding bonds, using the effective-interest method. 

(i) Derivative Instruments 

Derivative instruments, as defined in GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Derivative Instruments (GASB 53), are measured on the statements of net position at fair value, except 
as noted below. Changes in fair value for those derivative instruments that meet the criteria for hedging 
instruments under GASB 53 are reported as deferred inflows and outflows of resources. The Authority 
uses derivative financial instruments, in the form of interest rate swap agreements, to manage and 
reduce exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates and to lower the overall cost of financing. 
These derivatives may involve elements of credit and market risk in excess of amounts recognized in 
the financial statements in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to the interest rate 
derivative transactions. The Authority monitors the credit quality of the counterparties. 

Additionally, the Authority commits to purchase mortgage-backed pass-through certificates (securitized 
mortgage loans) backed by pools of single family mortgage loans originated pursuant to the Authority’s 
Single Family Program. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Authority had committed to purchase 
additional single family securitized mortgage loans totaling $92.5 million and $56.0 million, respectively. 
The commitments represent amounts reserved with the Authority by participating lenders for loans that 
have not been delivered to the trustee for purchase by the Authority. Under GASB 53, a commitment to 
purchase mortgage-backed securities is a derivative instrument and should be reported at fair value. 
The Authority does not record commitments to purchase mortgage-backed securities in its financial 
statements. The Authority should have reported the fair value of its commitments as assets of 
$2.1 million and $3.0 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, in its statements of net position. 
As the commitments are considered investment derivative instruments, the fair value and changes in 
fair value should be reported as other income as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 in its statements of 
revenue, expenses, and changes in net position. 

(j) Arbitrage 

Earnings on certain loans and investments are subject to the arbitrage requirements of the Internal 
Revenue Code (IRC). Estimated excess earnings on investments that may be rebated to the 
U.S. Treasury Department are recorded in accrued liabilities. Estimated excess earnings on loans that 
must be used through other qualified Authority loan programs or paid to the U.S. Treasury Department 
are recorded in the Mortgage Subsidy Reserve. 

Arbitrage rebate amounts that are the result of investment yields are recorded as a reduction of interest 
income. Arbitrage rebate amounts that result from gains on sales of investment securities are recorded 
as a reduction to the net increase (decrease) in the fair value of investments. Changes in Mortgage 
Subsidy Reserve resulting from changes to loan interest spreads are recorded as increase (decrease) 
in interest income on loans. 



NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 18 (Continued) 

DRAFT   10/23/2021 10:33 AM   232260D-1A_RESTRICTED_NebraskaInvestmentFinanceAuthority_FS 

(k) Income Taxes 

Income of the Authority, which was formed under Nebraska Revised Statute Section 58-226 as a body 
politic and independent instrumentality, is excludable from gross income under Section 115(1) of the 
IRC because such income is generated by the performance of essential governmental functions. 
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the accompanying financial 
statements.  

(l) Upcoming GASB Pronouncements 

Effective for the year ending June 30, 2022, the Authority will adopt GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. 
This statement requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were 
classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based 
on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on 
the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this 
statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, 
and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby 
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. The 
Authority is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of GASB Statement No. 87 will have on its 
financial statements and related disclosures. 

As a result of global reference rate reform, the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) is expected to 
cease to exist in its current form at the end of 2021, prompting governments to amend or replace 
financial instruments for the purpose of replacing LIBOR with other reference rates, by either changing 
the reference rate or adding or changing fallback provisions related to the reference rate. Effective for 
the year ending June 30, 2022, the Authority will adopt GASB Statement, No. 93, Replacement of 
Interbank Offered Rates. This statement removes LIBOR as an appropriate benchmark interest rate. In 
anticipation of this Statement, the Authority identified its existing financial instruments that use LIBOR 
as a reference rate. The Authority’s Standby Bond Purchase Agreements were amended to replace 
LIBOR with Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR), and the Authority’s interest rate swap 

agreement with a floating rate option that converts to LIBOR in the future includes fallback provisions 
for the reference rate. 

(3) Asset Restrictions 
All assets within program accounts are restricted to the payment of principal, interest, sinking fund 
installments, and other purposes in accordance with the terms of each respective bond and note resolution. 
The financial statements contain the total of all program and operating accounts. However, since the assets 
of each program account are restricted by the related resolutions, the totaling of the accounts, including 
assets therein, is for convenience only and does not indicate that the total assets are available in any 
manner other than that provided for in the resolutions of the separate accounts. 

(4) Cash and Investments 
(a) Cash 

The Authority had cash deposits with a carrying value of $0.7 million and $0.6 million as of June 30, 
2021 and 2020, respectively, and a bank balance of $0.8 million and $0.9 million as of June 30, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. None of the deposits were uninsured and uncollateralized. 
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(b) Investments 

Investments are reported in the statements of net position as follows (dollars in thousands): 

2021 2020

Investments $ 78,323  93,686  
Restricted investments (current) 44,112  42,244  
Restricted investments (noncurrent) 66,715  79,016  

$ 189,150  214,946  
 

The net change in fair value of investments was an increase of $90,000 and $2.7 million for the years 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. This amount takes into account all changes in fair value 
(including purchases and sales) that occurred during the year. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the 
Authority had net unrealized (losses) gains of approximately $(6,000) and $14,000, respectively, in its 
investment portfolio. 

The investment of funds is restricted by the Act and the various bond indentures of the Authority. Funds 
not needed for immediate disbursement (other than funds invested pursuant to the terms of specific 
bond indentures) are required by the Act to be invested in direct and general obligations of, or 
obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America, obligations issued by certain agencies of the 
federal government, obligations issued by the State of Nebraska, or certain obligations or securities 
that may from time to time be legally purchased by governmental subdivisions of Nebraska. 

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. The Authority does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest 
rates. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Authority had the following investments and maturities (dollars in 
thousands): 

2021
Investment maturities (in years)

Carrying More
Investment type value Less than 1 1–5 6–10 than 10

U.S. Treasury securities $ 106,606  106,606  —  —  —  
U.S. government agency

securities 52,994  52,994  —  —  —  
Collateralized repurchase

agreements 610  610  —  —  —  
Money market mutual funds 28,940  28,940  —  —  —  

$ 189,150  189,150  —  —  —  
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2020
Investment maturities (in years)

Carrying More
Investment type value Less than 1 1–5 6–10 than 10

U.S. Treasury securities $ 85,423  85,423  —  —  —  
U.S. government agency

securities 50,245  50,245  —  —  —  
Collateralized repurchase

agreements 660  660  —  —  —  
Money market mutual funds 78,618  78,618  —  —  —  

$ 214,946  214,946  —  —  —  
 

Credit Risk: Investment of funds within each bond issue is limited to investments specified in the 
applicable indentures to meet the requirements of the rating agency providing the rating on the issue. 
The Authority’s investments in short-term U.S. government agencies and money market mutual funds 
are rated in the highest short-term rating category by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Moody’s Investors 
Service (Moody’s) as of June 30, 2021. Repurchase agreements are with counterparties whose credit 
ratings or structures do not adversely affect the rating, if any, on the corresponding bonds. 

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the Authority would not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. The Authority is exposed to custodial credit risk on its repurchase 
agreements of $0.6 million and $0.7 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, as the collateral is 
held by the counterparties, but not in the Authority’s name. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Authority places no limit on the amount it may invest in any one 
issuer. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Authority had greater than 5% of its investment balance with 
the following issuers: 

Percentage
Issuer 2021 2020

Federal Home Loan Bank 28.0 % 9.3 %
Freddie Mac — 14.1
Wells Fargo 15.6 36.9

 

Investments Valued at Fair Value: Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 72 provides a framework for fair value that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to 
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under 
GASB Statement No. 72 are described as follows: 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the 
Authority can access at the measurement date. 
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Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly. These might include quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that 
are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as 
interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.); or inputs that are derived 
principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means. 

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities that reflect the Authority’s own assumptions 
about the assumptions that market participants would use. 

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the 
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used 
need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

June 30, 2021
Fair value measurement using

Quoted Significant
prices other Significant

in active observable unobservable
Total markets inputs inputs

Investments by fair value level fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt securities:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 106,606  106,606  —  —  
U.S. government agency securities 52,994  —  52,994  —  

Collateralized repurchase agreements 610  610  —  —  
Money market mutual funds 28,940  28,940  —  —  

Total investments by fair
value level $ 189,150  136,156  52,994  —  

 



NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 22 (Continued) 

DRAFT   10/23/2021 10:33 AM   232260D-1A_RESTRICTED_NebraskaInvestmentFinanceAuthority_FS 

June 30, 2020
Fair value measurement using

Quoted Significant
prices other Significant

in active observable unobservable
Total markets inputs inputs

Investments by fair value level fair value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Debt securities:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 85,423  85,423  —  —  
U.S. government agency securities 50,245  —  50,245  —  

Collateralized repurchase agreements 660  660  —  —  
Money market mutual funds 78,618  78,618  —  —  

Total investments by fair
value level $ 214,946  164,701  50,245  —  

 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value: 

• Debt securities (Level 1) are valued using prices quoted in active markets. 

• Debt securities (Level 2) are valued using matrix pricing. 

• Collateralized repurchase agreements are valued at the daily closing price. 

• Money market mutual funds are valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. 

Securitized mortgage loans are reported at amortized cost in the statement of net position; however, 
the fair value of the Authority’s securitized mortgage loans is disclosed in note 2(e). Fair value is 
determined by using quoted prices for similar assets in active markets. In the fair value hierarchy, 
securitized mortgage loans are valued using Level 2 inputs. 

(5) Loans Receivable 
Single Family 

Single family Ginnie Mae I, Fannie Mae, and Freddie Mac mortgage-backed pass-through certificates and 
Uniform Mortgage-Backed Securities (collectively, “securitized mortgage loans”), which comprise 98% of 
the total single family loan portfolio, are backed by the guarantee of Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae, or Freddie 
Mac, respectively, of monthly payments on the underlying pool of single family mortgage loans, which were 
originated pursuant to the Authority’s Single Family Program. Since Ginnie Mae is a wholly owned 
corporate instrumentality of the United States, the full faith and credit of the United States is pledged to the 
payment of all amounts due under such guarantee. The obligations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are 
obligations solely of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, respectively, and are not backed by, nor entitled to, the 
faith and credit of the United States. If Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac were unable to satisfy such obligations, 
distributions to the Authority would consist solely of payments and other recoveries on the underlying 
mortgage loans, and accordingly, monthly distributions to the Authority from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac 
would be affected by delinquent payments and defaults on such mortgage loans. In accordance with the 
Federal Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency was named 
as conservator of both Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. 
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In connection with its Single Family Mortgage Program, the Authority offers the Homebuyer Assistance 
(HBA) Program whereby a qualified borrower can receive down payment and closing cost assistance from 
the Authority in the form of a second lien mortgage loan. The second mortgages bear interest and are 
repayable in equal monthly installments over a term ranging from 7 to 10 years. These loans are secured 
solely by a second lien on the respective properties. Included in loans receivable at June 30, 2021 and 
2020 are HBA Program second mortgage balances totaling $17.8 million. 

In connection with its Single Family Mortgage Program, the Authority purchases loans from Habitat for 
Humanity of Omaha (Habitat) with full recourse. These loans are both first mortgages, the proceeds of 
which were used to purchase homes, and second mortgages, the proceeds of which funded certain repairs 
and improvements to homes. Certain of these loans do not charge interest. Habitat agrees to repurchase 
defaulted loans. Included in loans receivable at June 30, 2021 and 2020 are Habitat loan balances totaling 
$7.2 million and $6.1 million, respectively. 

The Authority uses various financing techniques to lower bond costs and utilizes these cost savings to 
subsidize mortgage loans with interest rates below market. The Mortgage Subsidy Reserve of $33.5 million 
and $34.7 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, is net of the amount passed through to 
borrowers in the form of lower mortgage interest rates. 

The following table reconciles the mortgage subsidy reserve for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
(dollars in thousands): 

2021 2020

Balance, beginning of year $ 34,692  37,777  
Savings realized 2,941  2,454  
Savings used (4,118) (5,539) 

Balance, end of year $ 33,515  34,692  
 

The savings used, as presented in the above table, represents the amount of interest subsidy consumed by 
subsidized mortgage loans during each year. Based upon the current mix of mortgage interest rates and 
the current makeup of the related debt structure, it is estimated that approximately 47%, on a present value 
basis, of the subsidy reserve balance will be used in future years without the purchase of any additional 
subsidized mortgage loans. 

(6) Bonds Payable 
All general obligations of the Authority are payable from the revenue and assets of the Authority, subject to 
the provisions of individual resolutions adopted pledging particular revenue or assets to specific notes or 
bonds. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Authority had no general obligation bonds outstanding. 

All special or limited obligations of the Authority are payable solely from the revenue and assets of the 
related accounts pledged therefore. Bond series marked with an asterisk (*) have been issued pursuant to 
the Authority’s 1994 Single Family Housing Revenue Bond Indenture and are equally and ratably secured 
by all assets which are pledged under such indenture. Provisions of the IRC limit, on an aggregate basis, 
the amount of tax-exempt bonds the Authority and political subdivisions of the State of Nebraska may 
issue. 
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At June 30, 2021 and 2020, bonds outstanding (net of unamortized discount or premium where applicable) 
are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Principal outstanding
Description and maturity 2021 2020 Interest terms

* 2013 Series AB, due 2021–2043 33,190  41,405  2.30%–3.60%, payable semiannually

* 2013 Series CD, due 2021–2028 12,500  25,090  3.65%–4.40%, payable semiannually

* 2013 Series EF:
E (fixed rate), due 2021–2043 5,580  8,805  3.00%–3.65%, payable semiannually

F (variable rate), due 2021–2038 20,765  21,505  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2014 Series AB:

A (fixed rate), due 2021–2044 9,555  15,145  2.45%–4.00%, payable semiannually

B (variable rate), due 2021–2038 21,965  22,735  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2015 Series AB:

A (fixed rate), due 2021–2045 20,510  40,180  2.10%–3.85%, payable semiannually

B (variable rate), due 2021–2038 17,040  17,645  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2015 Series CD:

C (fixed rate), due 2021–2045 12,510  52,600  2.20%–3.50%, payable semiannually

D (variable rate), due 2021–2032 14,705  15,635  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2016 Series AB:

A (fixed rate), due 2021–2046 34,246  63,113  1.60%–3.50%, payable semiannually

B (variable rate), due 2021–2032 14,970  15,915  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2016 Series CD:

C (fixed rate), due 2021–2046 36,234  78,802  1.55%–3.50%, payable semiannually

D (variable rate), due 2021–2032 23,010  24,460  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2017 Series ABC:

AB (fixed rate), due 2021–2040 27,105  57,950  1.40%–3.50%, payable semiannually

C (variable rate), due 2040–2047 15,820  15,820  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2018 Series AB:

A (fixed rate), due 2021–2048 25,793  52,396  1.95%–4.00%, payable semiannually

B (variable rate), due 2037–2048 12,000  32,000  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2018 Series CD:

C (fixed rate), due 2021–2048 59,580  136,177  1.95%–4.00%, payable semiannually

D (variable rate), due 2037–2048 34,115  46,615  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2019 Series ABC:

AB (fixed rate), due 2021–2049 48,557  141,579  1.75%–4.00%, payable semiannually

C (variable rate), due 2035–2049 41,045  41,045  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
* 2019 Series DE, due 2021–2049 150,727  169,022  1.45%–3.75%, payable semiannually

* 2020 Series A, due 2021–2050 121,543  128,265  0.55%–3.50%, payable semiannually

* 2020 Series BC, due 2021–2050 83,906  —  0.45%–3.00%, payable semiannually

* 2021 Series AB:
A (fixed rate), due 2021–2045 74,768  —  0.10%–3.00%, payable semiannually

B (variable rate), due 2045–2050 20,000  —  Var. rate demand, payable semiannually
2011 Series 1, due 2040–2041 5,975  9,127  2.975%–3.975%, payable monthly

2011 Series A and 2009 Series A,
Subseries A-1, due 2021–2041 19,320  27,945  2.32%–4.20%, payable semiannually

Total bonds payable $ 1,017,034  1,300,976  
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Redemption Provisions: The Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds are subject to certain early 
redemption provisions, both mandatory and at the option of the Authority. The Authority redeems debt 
pursuant to the provisions of the related agreements that permit excess revenue and mortgage loan 
payments and prepayments to be used to retire the obligations at par. With the exception of the 2011 
Series 1 bonds, optional redemptions of fixed rate bonds are allowed at various dates approximately 9 
years after issuance at prices ranging from 102.3% to par, all of which reduce within 2 years to par. The 
2011 Series 1 bonds are subject to redemption at par once the outstanding principal balance is less than 
ten percent of the original principal amount issued. Optional redemptions of variable rate bonds are allowed 
at any time at par. 

Variable Rate Interest Terms (Single Family Mortgage Revenue): The variable rate demand bonds pay 
interest using a variable rate determined weekly by the remarketing agent for such bonds. 

Debt Activity: The following table summarizes the Authority’s debt activity for the years ended June 30, 
2021 and 2020 and amounts due within one year (dollars in thousands): 

2021 2020

Beginning of year $ 1,300,976  1,239,770  
Issuance 182,498  303,346  
Retirement (462,262) (237,283) 
Premium amortization (4,178) (4,857) 

End of year 1,017,034  1,300,976  

Due within one year $ 34,625  29,050  

 

Debt Service Requirements: Debt service requirements annually through 2026, and in five-year increments 
thereafter to maturity, are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Total debt
Principal Interest service

Fiscal year(s):
2022 $ 34,625  22,202  56,827  
2023 40,630  21,555  62,185  
2024 34,595  20,902  55,497  
2025 24,340  20,427  44,767  
2026 23,065  20,143  43,208  
2027–2031 143,060  93,809  236,869  
2032–2036 159,970  80,883  240,853  
2037–2041 187,825  60,496  248,321  
2042–2046 219,198  33,727  252,925  
2047–2051 149,726  7,151  156,877  

$ 1,017,034  381,295  1,398,329  
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Variable Rate Demand Bonds: Included in bonds payable are $235.4 million and $253.4 million at June 30, 
2021 and 2020, respectively, of single family mortgage revenue bonds (the demand bonds) that are subject 
to purchase on the demand of the bondholder, with seven days’ notice, at a price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount plus accrued interest. In connection with the demand bonds, the Authority has entered 
into Remarketing Agreements that authorize the remarketing agent to use its best efforts to sell 
repurchased bonds at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount by adjusting the interest rate. The 
Authority also has entered into Standby Bond Purchase Agreements (the SBPAs) with Federal Home Loan 
Bank of Topeka (FHLBank) whereby the FHLBank agrees to purchase demand bonds that the remarketing 
agent has been unable to remarket. The obligation of FHLBank is subject to the demand bonds maintaining 
a long-term rating by S&P of not lower than BBB-. Bonds purchased by the FHLBank bear interest at 
SOFR plus 1.65%, not to exceed 25%, and interest is payable monthly. The SBPAs have a term of 
two years, which may be extended at the request of the Authority for such period as may be mutually 
agreed to between the Authority and FHLBank. The termination dates on the SBPAs range from March 1, 
2023 to September 1, 2023. No amounts have been drawn on these agreements to date. 

Any demand bonds that cannot be remarketed within 91 days of being purchased by FHLBank are subject 
to mandatory payment by the Authority in 10 equal semiannual principal installments plus interest payable 
monthly. If this provision was exercised on June 30, 2021 due to a failed remarketing on the entire amount 
of outstanding demand bonds of $235.4 million, the Authority would be required to make semiannual 
principal payments of $23.5 million for the next five years, and interest payments, assuming an interest rate 
of 1.7% (SOFR as of June 30, 2021 plus 1.65%), totaling $11.9 million over the next five years. 

Under the Standby Bond Purchase Agreements, the Authority is required to pay to FHLBank a semiannual 
commitment fee ranging from 0.27% to 0.30% per annum of the sum of (a) the outstanding principal 
amount of demand bonds subject to the agreement and (b) an amount equal to 205 days of interest on the 
outstanding principal amount of such bonds at a rate of 15.00% per annum. In addition, the Authority pays 
the remarketing agent a semiannual fee of 0.07% per annum of the outstanding principal amount of the 
demand bonds. 

(7) Conduit Debt Obligations 
The Authority has issued conduit bonds, the proceeds of which were made available to eligible developers 
for the construction or rehabilitation of multifamily housing; to eligible first-time farmers and ranchers for the 
purchase of agricultural land, depreciable assets or breeding livestock; to eligible healthcare institutions for 
the financing of depreciable assets; and to other eligible borrowers for the financing of industrial 
development projects. The bonds and interest thereon are a limited obligation of the Authority, payable 
solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage or promissory notes, or, in some cases, from 
payments received pursuant to agreements with third-party credit enhancement providers. The faith and 
credit of the Authority is not pledged for the payment of principal and interest on the bonds, and no 
additional or voluntary commitments of its own resources have been extended by the Authority. 
Accordingly, these obligations are excluded from the Authority’s financial statements. 
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As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the principal amount of conduit debt outstanding, by type, was: 

2021 2020

Agricultural $ 19,426  18,546  
Multifamily 44,816  45,573  
Development —  3,860  
Health Care 3,750  7,413  

Total $ 67,992  75,392  
 

(8) Debt Refundings 
On September 16, 2020, the Authority issued $84.8 million original principal amount of its Single Family 
Housing Revenue Bonds 2020 Series B and C. Proceeds of the 2020 Series B Bonds totaling $12.5 million, 
were used to refund a portion of the 2018 Series D Bonds. 

On February 23, 2021, the Authority issued $91.6 million original principal amount of its Single Family 
Housing Revenue Bonds 2021 Series A and B. Proceeds of the 2021 Series B Bonds totaling $20 million 
were used to refund a portion of the 2018 Series B Bonds. 

The refundings did not result in a deferred loss, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 23, Accounting 

and Financial Reporting for Refundings of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities (GASB 23). The 
Authority completed the refundings primarily to provide more flexibility to manage the Single Family 
Program and related yield requirements under the IRC. The change in debt service payments and 
economic impact cannot be determined with certainty, as the results will be impacted by (a) the 
prepayment speed of the underlying mortgages that serve as collateral for the refunded and refunding 
bonds and (b) the difference between the fixed interest rates on the refunding bonds and the variable 
interest rate on the refunded bonds, which would have reset weekly. There are sufficient assets in the 1994 
Single Family Indenture that are not pledged to the payment of specific bonds to absorb any increases in 
debt service resulting from the refundings. Alternatively, any savings achieved as a result of the refundings 
cannot be retained by the Authority but must be returned to borrowers under the Single Family Program or 
to the U.S. Treasury. 

(9) Derivative Instruments 
The Authority uses derivative financial instruments to manage and reduce exposure to adverse fluctuations 
in interest rates and to lower the overall cost of financing. The Authority’s derivatives consist of swap 
agreements entered into in connection with its issuance of variable rate mortgage revenue bonds. 

Swap agreements allow the Authority to raise funds at variable rates and effectively swap them into fixed 
rates that are lower than those available to the Authority if fixed rate borrowings were made directly. These 
contracts involve the exchange of variable rate for fixed rate payments between two parties (without the 
exchange of the underlying principal amount) based on a common notional amount and maturity date. The 
variable rate payment in all of the Authority’s swap agreements is currently based on the SIFMA index. At 
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June 30, 2021, the Authority has pay-fixed, receive-variable swap agreements outstanding with the 
following terms (dollars in thousands): 

Up-front
Effective Termination Fixed rate Variable rate Counterparty payment

Bond series date date paid received credit rating* received

2017 C / 2018 B /
2018 D / 2019 C 12/29/2010 9/1/2031 4.013 % SIFMA + 0.12% AA-/Aa2/AA $ 20,962  

2013 F 12/29/2010 3/1/2038 3.945 SIFMA + 0.12% AA-/Aa2/AA 6,551  
2014 B / 2015 B 12/22/2010 9/1/2038 3.942 SIFMA + 0.12% A/A1/A+ 10,359  
2015 D / 2016 B / 2016 D 12/29/2010 9/1/2032 3.889 SIFMA + 0.22% AA-/Aa2/AA 14,269  
2019 C 4/30/2019 9/1/2049** 2.342 SIFMA** AA-/Aa2/AA —  
2021 B 2/23/2021 9/1/2041*** 1.631 SIFMA AA-/Aa2/AA —  

$ 52,141  

* Standard & Poor’s/Moody’s/Fitch ratings as of June 30, 2021

** Swap variable rate changes to 70% of LIBOR on 3/1/28 and is cancelable on or after that date
*** Cancelable on or after 3/1/2030  

At June 30, 2020, the Authority has pay-fixed, receive-variable swap agreements outstanding with the 
following terms (dollars in thousands): 

Up-front
Effective Termination Fixed rate Variable rate Counterparty payment

Bond series date date paid received credit rating* received

2017 C / 2018 B /
2018 D / 2019 C 12/29/2010 9/1/2031 4.013 % SIFMA + 0.12% AA-/Aa2/AA $ 20,962  

2013 F 12/29/2010 3/1/2038 3.945 SIFMA + 0.12% AA-/A1/AA 6,551  
2014 B / 2015 B 12/22/2010 9/1/2038 3.942 SIFMA + 0.12% A/A1/A+ 10,359  
2015 D / 2016 B / 2016 D 12/29/2010 9/1/2032 3.889 SIFMA + 0.22% AA-/Aa2/AA 14,269  
2019 C 4/30/2019 9/1/2049** 2.342 SIFMA** AA-/Aa2/AA —  

$ 52,141  

* Standard & Poor’s/Moody’s/Fitch ratings as of June 30, 2020

** Sw ap variable rate changes to 70% of LIBOR on 3/1/28 and is cancelable on or after that date
 

In connection with several debt issuances beginning in 2010, all of the Authority’s swapped variable rate 
demand bonds have been refunded with new variable rate demand bonds. In accordance with GASB 53, 
the related swap agreements were deemed terminated and reassociated with the refunding bonds with no 
changes in contract terms, resulting in recognition of deemed swap up-front payments totaling 
$52.1 million, which are being amortized to interest expense over the life of the swap agreements. 

The Authority reports the fair value of its swap agreements on the statements of net position. The fair 
values, obtained from an independent source, represent, in accordance with market convention, the 
valuation of the financial elements of each swap agreement. The valuation is determined by the 
zero-coupon method using Level 2 inputs, as defined in GASB Statement No. 72, and takes into account 
nonperformance risk. To the extent that a particular transaction contains restrictive transfer, 
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collateralization, or termination event language, it could be expected that such provisions would impact the 
ability to terminate a swap agreement at these estimated market values. 

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Authority’s swap agreements have been determined to be hedging 
derivatives, as defined by GASB 53. Accordingly, the change in fair value has been deferred in the 
statements of net position as accumulated increase or decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives. 

Fair values, excluding accrued interest, as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 and change in fair value for the 
years then ended are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

2021
Financial statement

Current Contract Fair Change in
notional fair value value fair value

Bond series:
2017 C / 2018 B /

2018 D / 2019 C $ 52,915  (6,414) (2,336) 1,481  
2013 F 18,450  (2,870) (1,386) 774  
2014 B / 2015 B 34,470  (5,264) (1,791) 1,241  
2015 D / 2016 B / 2016 D 36,980  (3,846) (814) 790  
2019 C 19,350  (1,540) (1,540) 897  
2021 B 15,000  249  249  249  

Total $ 177,165  (19,685) (7,618) 5,432  
 

2020
Financial statement

Current Contract Fair Change in
notional fair value value fair value

Bond series:
2017 C / 2018 B /

2018 D / 2019 C $ 63,410  (9,108) (3,817) (1,994) 
2013 F 20,700  (3,957) (2,160) (931) 
2014 B / 2015 B 38,785  (7,269) (3,032) (1,787) 
2015 D / 2016 B / 2016 D 44,670  (5,601) (1,604) (1,528) 
2019 C 19,350  (2,437) (2,437) (1,385) 

Total $ 186,915  (28,372) (13,050) (7,625) 
 

In accordance with GASB 53, the fair value of the Authority’s swap agreements in the statements of net 
position is determined using the on-market swap rates as of the date of inception of the swap agreements, 
and in the case of reassociation of swap agreements with refunding bonds, on the refunding date. In the 
case of refundings, the contractual fixed rates, which the Authority pays to the counterparties, are higher 
than these rates. If the Authority opted to terminate the swap agreements, the termination payments to the 
counterparties would be based on the contractual rates. The tables above disclose both the financial 
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statement fair value and the contractual fair value to give financial statement users a clear picture of the 
Authority’s actual liability related to the swap agreements. 

(a) Interest Rate Swap Payments and Associated Debt 

The following table (dollars in thousands) summarizes debt service requirements of the Authority’s 
outstanding variable rate bonds and net swap payments, using variable interest rates in effect as of 
June 30, 2021 for the life of the bonds and swaps. As interest rates vary, variable rate bond interest, 
and net swap payments will also vary, inversely. 

Variable rate bond payments Swap net Total
Principal Interest payment payments

Fiscal years:
2022 $ 5,670  142  5,877  11,689  
2023 5,930  129  5,074  11,133  
2024 6,225  126  4,373  10,724  
2025 6,590  122  3,743  10,455  
2026 6,965  118  3,170  10,253  
2027–2031 40,880  521  9,284  50,685  
2032–2036 34,705  402  4,206  39,313  
2037–2041 35,705  302  3,018  39,025  
2042–2046 48,155  194  1,232  49,581  
2047–2051 44,610  46  273  44,929  

$ 235,435  2,102  40,250  277,787  
 

(b) Credit Risk 

The Authority’s swap agreements are with three separate counterparties. The Authority is exposed to 
credit risk on its outstanding swap agreements to the extent they have positive contract fair values (fair 
value based on the contractual terms of the swap agreements, as opposed to fair value accounting for 
hybrid instruments under GASB 53). The Authority had one contract with a positive fair value of $249,000 
at June 30, 2021, and no contracts with a positive fair value at June 30, 2020. If changes in interest rates 
(specifically, if interest rates were to rise) result in material positive fair values on the swap agreements, 
the Authority would be exposed to credit risk in the amount of the swaps’ fair value, up to contractually 
specified threshold levels at which point the counterparties would be required to post collateral, as 
applicable. 

(c) Basis Risk 

The variable rate debt hedged by the Authority’s swap agreements are variable rate demand obligation 
bonds that are remarketed weekly. Because the variable rate received under the swap agreements is 
the SIFMA index plus a specified spread, the Authority is exposed to basis risk. As of June 30, 2021 
and 2020, the interest rate on the variable rate bonds was 0.05% and 0.12%, respectively, for bonds 
not subject to AMT, 0.06% and 0.17%, respectively, for bonds subject to AMT, and the SIFMA index 
was 0.03% and 0.13%, respectively. 
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(d) Termination Risk 

The swap agreements may be terminated by either the Authority or the counterparty if the other party 
fails to perform under the terms of the agreement or upon certain termination events. The potential 
termination risks to the Authority are the liability for a termination payment to the counterparty if the 
swap agreements have negative fair values, and the inability to replace the swap agreement on 
favorable terms. 

(e) Amortization Risk 

The Authority is exposed to amortization risk because prepayments from the mortgage loan portfolio 
may cause the outstanding amount of variable rate bonds to decline faster or slower than the 
amortization of the swap notional amounts. The Authority manages this risk in various ways, including 
leaving the balance of variable rate debt in excess of the swap notional amounts, which exposes the 
Authority to the risk of incurring higher interest costs on the unhedged variable rate debt. The Authority 
may terminate the swaps at market value at any time. 

(f) Rollover Risk 

The Authority is exposed to rollover risk on its swap agreements that mature prior to the maturity date 
of the associated variable rate bonds they are hedging. In the case of one swap agreement, the 
variable rate bond maturities extend beyond the swap agreement maturity by up to seventeen years. In 
another case, the variable rate bond maturity extends beyond the swap agreement maturity by nine 
years. The Authority believes that prepayments from mortgage loans used to redeem bonds prior to 
their maturity will be sufficient to minimize this risk. 

(g) Commitments 

All of the Authority’s swap agreements include provisions that may require the Authority to post 
collateral in the event its general obligation rating falls below A – as issued by Standard & Poor’s 
Ratings Services or A3 as issued by Moody’s Investors Service and the aggregate fair value of the 
swap contracts entered into with each swap counterparty is in a liability position. The collateral posted 
is to be in the form of cash, U.S. Treasury securities, or certain agency securities, in the amount of the 
aggregate fair value of the swap contracts with each counterparty (if in a liability position) less 
contractually specified threshold levels. The Authority’s general obligation rating exceeds the rating 
requirement as of June 30, 2021 and 2020; therefore, there is no collateral posting requirement. 

(10) Subsequent Events 
On July 29, 2021, the Authority issued $129.27 million of 2021 Series C Single Family Housing Revenue 
Bonds. The proceeds were used to make funds available to acquire, purchase, or finance mortgage loans, 
mortgage-backed securities, or second mortgage loans expected to be made to finance down payment and 
closing costs of qualified homebuyers. Additionally, proceeds in the amount of $18.6 million were deposited 
with the bond trustee for the Single Family Homeownership Revenue Bonds 2009 Series A, Subseries A-1 
and 2011 Series A. These proceeds were used to redeem the 2009 Series A, Subseries A-1 bonds on 
August 2, 2021, and the 2011 Series A bonds on September 1, 2021. 
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Schedule 1
NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

ALL DIVISIONS

Supplemental Asset and Liability Information

June 30, 2021

(Dollars in thousands)

Division
Single Family

Assets Finance Operating 2021 Total 2020 Total

Current assets:
Cash $ —  656  656  559  
Investments —  78,323  78,323  93,686  
Interest receivable —  31  31  2  
Loans receivable —  404  404  —  
Other current assets 20  152  172  387  
Restricted assets:

Cash —  —  —  21  
Investments 44,112  —  44,112  42,244  
Interest receivable 16  —  16  26  

Total current assets 44,148  79,566  123,714  136,925  

Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable —  14,357  14,357  444  
Restricted assets:

Investments 66,715  —  66,715  79,016  
Interest receivable 3,435  —  3,435  4,294  
Loans receivable 1,257,373  —  1,257,373  1,522,729  

Fair value of derivatives 249  —  249  
Other assets 38  307  345  332  

Total noncurrent assets 1,327,810  14,664  1,342,474  1,606,815  

Total assets 1,371,958  94,230  1,466,188  1,743,740  

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives 7,867  —  7,867  13,050  
Loss on refunding 12,969  —  12,969  15,823  

Total deferred outflows of resources 20,836  —  20,836  28,873  

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 75  11,256  11,331  3,825  
Interest payable 9,428  —  9,428  12,363  
Current portion of bonds payable 34,625  —  34,625  29,050  

Total current liabilities 44,128  11,256  55,384  45,238  

Noncurrent liabilities:
Fair value of derivatives 7,867  —  7,867  13,050  
Bonds payable, net of current portion 982,409  —  982,409  1,271,926  
Mortgage subsidy reserve 33,515  —  33,515  34,692  

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,023,791  —  1,023,791  1,319,668  

Total liabilities 1,067,919  11,256  1,079,175  1,364,906  

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Accumulated increase in fair value of hedging derivatives 249  —  249  —  
Swap up-front payment 13,320  —  13,320  16,447  

Total deferred inflows of resources 13,569  —  13,569  16,447  

Net Position

Restricted by bond resolution 311,306  —  311,306  298,757  
Unrestricted —  82,974  82,974  92,503  

Total net position $ 311,306  82,974  394,280  391,260  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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Schedule 2
NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

SINGLE FAMILY FINANCE DIVISION

Supplemental Asset and Liability Information

June 30, 2021

(Dollars in thousands)

Single Family
1994 2009 Private Single Family Finance

Assets Indenture Indenture Placements 2021 Total 2020 Total

Current assets:
Other current assets $ 20  20  (63) 
Restricted assets:

Cash —  —  —  —  21  
Investments 43,387  724  1  44,112  42,244  
Interest receivable —  —  16  16  26  

Total current assets 43,407  724  17  44,148  42,228  

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:

Investments 65,391  1,324  —  66,715  79,016  
Interest receivable 3,372  59  4  3,435  4,294  
Loans receivable 1,229,841  21,557  5,975  1,257,373  1,522,729  

Fair value of derivatives 249  —  —  249  —  
Other assets 38  —  —  38  23  

Total noncurrent assets 1,298,891  22,940  5,979  1,327,810  1,606,062  

Total assets 1,342,298  23,664  5,996  1,371,958  1,648,290  

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives 7,867  —  —  7,867  13,050  
Loss on refunding 12,969  —  —  12,969  15,823  

Total deferred outflows of resources 20,836  —  —  20,836  28,873  

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Accrued liabilities 74  1  —  75  878  
Interest payable 9,243  168  17  9,428  12,363  
Current portion of bonds payable 34,070  555  —  34,625  29,050  

Total current liabilities 43,387  724  17  44,128  42,291  

Noncurrent liabilities:
Fair value of derivatives 7,867  —  —  7,867  13,050  
Bonds payable, net of current portion 957,669  18,765  5,975  982,409  1,271,926  
Mortgage subsidy reserve 33,515  —  —  33,515  34,692  

Total noncurrent liabilities 999,051  18,765  5,975  1,023,791  1,319,668  

Total liabilities 1,042,438  19,489  5,992  1,067,919  1,361,959  

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Accumulated increase in fair value of hedging derivatives 249  —  —  249  —  
Swap up-front payment 13,320  —  —  13,320  16,447  

Total deferred inflows of resources 13,569  —  —  13,569  16,447  

Net Position

Restricted by bond resolution 307,127  4,175  4  311,306  298,757  

Total net position $ 307,127  4,175  4  311,306  298,757  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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Schedule 3
NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

ALL DIVISIONS

Supplemental Revenue and Expense Information

Year ended June 30, 2021

(Dollars in thousands)

Division
Single Family

Finance Operating 2021 Total 2020 Total

Operating revenue:
Interest income:

Loans $ 45,459  11  45,470  51,655  
Investments 2  1  3  155  

Net increase in fair value of investments 34  56  90  2,733  
Fees and other income —  2,166  2,166  1,902  

Total operating revenue 45,495  2,234  47,729  56,445  

Operating expenses:
Interest 30,313  —  30,313  36,587  
General and administrative 1,150  5,770  6,920  7,195  
Nebraska Opportunity Fund —  7,476  7,476  935  

Total operating expenses 31,463  13,246  44,709  44,717  

Change in net position 14,032  (11,012) 3,020  11,728  

Internal transfers (1,483) 1,483  —  —  
Net position, beginning of year 298,757  92,503  391,260  379,532  

Net position, end of year $ 311,306  82,974  394,280  391,260  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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Schedule 4
NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY

SINGLE FAMILY FINANCE DIVISION

Supplemental Revenue and Expense Information

Year ended June 30, 2021

(Dollars in thousands)

Single Family
1994 2009 Private Single Family Finance

Indenture Indenture Placements 2021 Total 2020 Total

Operating revenue:
Interest income:

Loans $ 44,315  851  293  45,459  51,144  
Investments 2  —  —  2  121  

Net increase in fair value of investments 34  —  —  34  1,493  

Total operating revenue 44,351  851  293  45,495  52,758  

Operating expenses:
Interest 29,440  618  255  30,313  36,587  
General and administrative expenses 1,139  11  —  1,150  1,416  

Total operating 30,579  629  255  31,463  38,003  

Change in net position 13,772  222  38  14,032  14,755  

Internal transfers (1,417) (27) (39) (1,483) (1,608) 
Net position, beginning of year 294,772  3,980  5  298,757  285,610  

Net position, end of year $ 307,127  4,175  4  311,306  298,757  

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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AGENDA ITEM #9 
 
 
Review and Consideration of Approval of a Notice Pursuant to Section 58-270 and the 
Filing Thereof with the Governor and the Clerk of the Nebraska Legislature of NIFA’s 
Intent to Issue Single Family Housing Bonds in the Aggregate Principal Amount of up to 
$400,000,000. 
 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Pursuant to Section 58-270 of the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Act, NIFA is required 
to provide a notice to the Governor and the Clerk of the Legislature of NIFA’s intent to issue 
bonds to provide financing for projects, the beneficiaries or borrowers of which are not 
specifically identified at the time of the issuance of the bonds.  This notice must be given at least 
14 days prior to NIFA taking any final action (e.g., the bond resolution to be considered by the 
Board at its meeting in December) to authorize the issuance of bonds subject to the notice 
requirement, such as NIFA bonds issued to finance the single family housing bond program.   

 
Accordingly, attached is a copy of the Notice to be filed with the Governor and the Clerk of the 
Nebraska Legislature relating to NIFA’s intention to issue up to $400,000,000 in aggregate 
principal amount of single family housing revenue bonds, general obligation bonds, or some 
combination thereof during the 2022 calendar year.  Such bonds are expected to be issued in 
connection with the NIFA’s single family housing bond program.  
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Approval of the Notice Required Pursuant to the NIFA Act and the filing of the Notice with the 
Governor and the Clerk of the Legislature.   
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NOTICE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 58-270, REISSUE REVISED STATUTES OF NEBRASKA 

The Nebraska Investment Finance Authority (the “Authority”) hereby gives notice in 
accordance with the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Act, Sections 58-201 et seq., Reissue 
Revised Statutes of Nebraska, as amended (the “Act”), to the Honorable Pete Ricketts, Governor 
of the State of Nebraska (the “State”), and Patrick J. O’Donnell, Clerk of the Legislature of the 
State, of the proposed issuance by the Authority of the following bonds: 

$400,000,000 
Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
Single Family Housing Program Bonds 

(consisting of one or more Series of Bonds 
to be issued during the periods described herein) 

The Authority anticipates that it will authorize the issuance and sale of one or more separate 
issuances of single-family housing bonds (which may be revenue bonds, general obligation bonds, 
or some combination thereof) (collectively, the “Bonds”) from time to time as provided herein.  
Such Bonds may, at the election of the Authority, be issued on a tax-exempt or taxable basis.  The 
Authority plans from time to time issue an amount of Bonds in order to make funds continuously 
available for the public purposes of the Authority (described below).  Based upon the needs 
identified below, the Authority believes, depending upon capital market conditions, a beneficial 
method of carrying out its public purposes for the Authority’s Mortgage Loan Program (defined 
below) may be to issue its Bonds (in one or more issues and as one or more series in an amount 
not to exceed $400,000,000) over the period of time from the date hereof to December 31, 2022 or 
as otherwise provided herein.  The issuance of Bonds on this basis, together with implementing 
other financial strategies in connection with the Authority’s Mortgage Loan Program, will: 

(a) as the capital markets permit, allow the Authority to continue to timely and 
orderly provide for funds for the financing of (i) first mortgage loans (“First Mortgage 
Loans”) (as whole loans and/or as mortgage-backed securities) to be originated in 
connection with the Authority’s several single-family housing programs, (ii) down 
payment and closing cost assistance (“Home Buyer Assistance”) to be provided in 
connection with certain of the Authority’s First Mortgage Loans and (iii) mortgage loans 
which may or may not be FHA-insured, VA-guaranteed or USDA/RD-guaranteed or 
conventional mortgage loans and which may or may not be guaranteed or insured by 
private mortgage insurance or other insurance and which may include mortgage loans with 
varying terms to maturity of 30 years or less, mortgage loans that are below market rates 
or noninterest bearing and Mortgage Loans, such as rehabilitation or home improvement 
loans, that may or may not be secured by first lien mortgages and to acquire 
mortgage-backed securities that are not issued or guaranteed by GNMA, Fannie Mae or 
Freddie Mac (“NIFA Portfolio Loans,” and, collectively with the First Mortgage Loans 
and the Home Buyer Assistance described above, the “NIFA Program Mortgage Loans”); 
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(b) minimize the costs the Authority experiences during the period from Bond 
issuance to the time Bond proceeds would be used to finance NIFA Program Mortgage 
Loans; and 

(c) reduce the risk of nonorigination of NIFA Program Mortgage Loans should 
interest rates generally fall subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds. 

The Authority expects to use the proceeds of the Bonds, if issued, (a) to provide moneys 
for the Trustee, on behalf of the Authority, to purchase or finance or, in some cases, reimburse the 
Authority (through funds provided from Authority operating funds or Authority borrowings), the 
Master Servicer or other parties for NIFA Program Mortgage Loans acquired and held in 
anticipation of the availability of Bond proceeds (in each case, “to finance”) and NIFA Program 
Mortgage Loans made to qualified low- and moderate-income persons in the State under the 
Authority’s “First Mortgage Program” (with respect to First Mortgage Loans), the Authority’s 
“Home Buyer Assistance Program” (with respect to Home Buyer Assistance) and the Authority’s 
“Portfolio Mortgage Loan Program” (with respect to Portfolio Mortgage Loans) (such programs, 
including other related programs of the Authority that may be implemented with respect to 
providing mortgage loan financing (including for workforce housing for low and moderate income 
persons), are referred to herein as the “Mortgage Loan Program”); (b) to make certain deposits 
into the funds and accounts created under the indenture(s) of trust securing the Bonds; (c) in the 
case of the proceeds made available by the issuance of “refunding Bonds” (not required to obtain 
volume cap), to pay the principal of or the redemption price on certain of the Authority’s 
previously issued single-family mortgage revenue bonds and thereby make additional funds 
available to finance NIFA Program Mortgage Loans or to provide subsidy benefits applicable to 
certain NIFA Program Mortgage Loans; or (d) to pay or, in some cases, reimburse the Authority 
(through funds provided from Authority operating funds or Authority borrowings) for certain 
expenses relating to the Mortgage Loan Program. 

The Authority desires, through its Mortgage Loan Program, to cause to be provided, 
through the issuance of the Bonds and the implementation of various other financial strategies, 
sanitary, safe and uncrowded housing for low- and moderate-income persons and families, 
including workforce owner-occupied housing, in the State. 

Section 1.  The Public Purposes To Be Effectuated and the Needs To Be Addressed 
Through the Issuance of the Bonds.  The public purposes to be effectuated and the needs to be 
addressed by the Authority through the issuance of the Bonds are (i) to provide more adequate 
owner-occupied residential housing for low- and moderate-income persons and families (and those 
seeking workforce housing), particularly first-time homebuyers, within the State by providing 
financing of mortgage loans at interest rates lower than those otherwise available; (ii) to continue 
to provide an ongoing program of making such financing available within the marketplace in an 
orderly fashion at below-market interest rates; and (iii) to encourage homeownership by low- and 
moderate-income persons (including for workforce housing), including particularly first-time 
homebuyers, which results in an overall benefit to society. 
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The Legislature of the State has found and declared that: 

(a) from time to time the high rates of interest charged by mortgage lenders 
substantially restrict existing housing transfers and new housing starts, and the resultant 
reduction in residential construction starts causes a condition of substantial unemployment 
and underemployment in the construction industry; 

(b) such conditions generally result in and contribute to the creation of slums 
and blighted areas in the urban and rural areas of the State and a deterioration of the quality 
of living conditions within the State and necessitate excessive and disproportionate 
expenditures of public funds for crime prevention and punishment, public health and 
safety, fire and accident prevention and other public services and facilities; and 

(c) there exists in the urban and rural areas of the State an inadequate supply 
of, and a pressing need for, sanitary, safe and uncrowded housing at prices at which 
low- and moderate-income persons, particularly first-time homebuyers, can afford to 
purchase, construct or rent forcing such persons to occupy unsanitary, unsafe and 
overcrowded housing. 

The Legislature of the State has further indicated a need (as evidenced by Section 58-249 
of the Act) to provide financing of mortgages for low-income persons at an interest rate below the 
interest rate which otherwise applies to mortgages financed from Authority single-family Bond 
issues. 

Through Section 143 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), 
providing for the exclusion of interest on “qualified mortgage bonds,” the federal government of 
the United States of America has recognized a need for and benefit in providing financing for 
mortgage loans to persons, particularly first-time homebuyers, with qualifying incomes for the 
purchase of owner-occupied residences at purchase prices not exceeding certain limits imposed by 
the Code.  Additionally, to further provide financing for mortgage loans to persons and families of 
moderate income, including those seeking workforce housing, the Authority may elect to issue 
Bonds, the interest on which may not be exempt from federal income taxation.   

Section 2.  The Manner in Which Such Need Was Identified. 

(a) Summary of Existing Single Family Housing Programs.  The needs to be 
addressed as described in Section 1 above were identified by the Authority on the basis of 
demand for financing under the Authority’s existing single-family housing programs.  As 
of September 30, 2021, to provide funds for the Mortgage Loan Programs, the Authority 
has issued the following: 

(i) Single Family Housing Revenue Bonds (the “Single Family 
Bonds”) aggregating $5,791,425,000 (in 126 series) pursuant to the Authority’s 
General Indenture of Trust dated as of July 1, 1994, as amended (the “Housing 
Indenture”);  
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(ii) Housing Revenue Bonds 2011 Series 1 (the “GNMA MBS Bonds”) 
aggregating $43,353,567 pursuant to the Authority’s Trust Indenture dated as of 
June 1, 2011 (the “GNMA MBS Indenture”);  

(iii) Single Family Homeownership Revenue Bonds (the 
“Homeownership Bonds”) aggregating $178,000,000 pursuant to the Authority’s 
General Indenture of Trust (Homeownership Revenue Bonds) dated as of 
December 1, 2009 (the “Homeownership Indenture”); and  

(iv) General Obligation Bonds (the “G.O. Bonds”) aggregating 
$27,815,177 (in 22 series) pursuant to the Authority’s General Indenture of Trust 
(General Obligation Bonds), dated as of January 1, 1998 (the “General Obligation 
Indenture”).  

A description of the Bonds issued pursuant to the Housing Indenture, the GNMA MBS 
Indenture and the Homeownership Indenture and the use of the proceeds thereof for the 
financing of First Mortgage Loans as of June 30, 2021 is set forth in Appendix B to this 
Notice. 

In addition to the proceeds of such bond issues, certain principal payments on 
single-family mortgage loans previously financed with bonds issued pursuant to such 
indentures have been recycled, thereby creating additional financing to finance, through 
September 30, 2021, approximately $831,084,000 of NIFA Program Mortgage Loans.   

(b) Applications Received and Availability of Remaining Mortgage Loan 
Account Funds—Single Family Revenue Bonds Indenture of Trust.  As of September 30, 
2021, approximately $15,261,600 in proceeds of Bonds remain available to finance First 
Mortgage Loans. On September 30, 2021, applications from borrowers seeking financing 
pursuant to the Mortgage Loan Program totaled approximately $73,636,000, of which 
amount approximately $16,740,000 of Mortgage Loans have been financed on behalf of 
the Authority by the Master Servicer and $-0- have been financed from operating funds of 
the Authority, some of which, depending upon the capital markets, may be purchased from 
available proceeds upon the issuance of Bonds.  Applications are currently being received 
from borrowers at an average approximate rate of $1,519,000 a day. 

The experience of the Authority with respect to the origination of First Mortgage Loans 
(for each of the years ended) has been as follows: 

6-30-21 $173,464,651 
6-30-20 306,990,746    
6-30-19 282,823,715 
6-30-18 237,603,263 
6-30-17 203,022,315 
6-30-16 255,086,744 
6-30-15 226,114,873 
6-30-14           238,843,331 
6-30-13           126,839,557 
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6-30-12            136,942,529 
6-30-11          151,115,310    
6-30-10   85,837,387* 
6-30-09 124,199,992* 
6-30-08 466,291,134                 
6-30-07 404,844,643   
6-30-06 152,187,760   
6-30-05 107,307,288   
6-30-04 118,892,003   
6-30-03 161,773,866   
6-30-02 187,120,885   
6-30-01 194,863,773   
6-30-00 227,705,360   
6-30-99 170,456,154   
6-30-98 239,039,052   
6-30-97 197,690,532   
6-30-96 101,355,173   
6-30-95 171,983,230   
6-30-94 39,596,450   
6-30-93 108,991,111   
6-30-92 130,729,086   
6-30-91 171,090,731   
6-30-90 165,313,531   

 
(*Because of the disruption in the capital markets beginning in the fall of 2008, the issuance 
of bonds for single-family programs during the latter part of 2008 through most of 2010 
was severely impacted and very few bonds were issued.  This affected all issuers of 
single-family mortgage revenue bonds.)   

(c) Home Buyer Assistance—General Obligation Bonds and Other Sources.  
The Authority operates and funds programs offering Home Buyer Assistance to  borrowers 
who received First Mortgage Loans from the Authority’s First Mortgage Loan Program.  
This Home Buyer Assistance has been financed with general operating funds of the 
Authority, through the issuance of G.O. Bonds pursuant to the terms of the General 
Obligation Indenture, with recycled bond proceeds and with other resources pursuant to 
the Housing Indenture.  To date, G.O. Bonds aggregating $27,815,177 have been issued to 
finance Home Buyer Assistance.  To the extent possible, the Authority expects to continue 
to offer Home Buyer Assistance which, as in the past, may be financed using various 
resources of the Authority. 

(d) Historical and Expected Demand.  Based upon (i) the historical experience 
of the Authority over the prior 30 years with respect to the financing of mortgage loans 
through the issuance of single-family mortgage revenue bonds and certain general 
obligation bonds, (ii) its experience to date with its First Mortgage Loan Program and its 
Home Buyer Assistance Program and (iii) the continued requests for the reservation of 
First Mortgage Loan Program funds and continued requests for the reservation of Home 
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Buyer Assistance Program funds, the Authority anticipates the need for funds in order to 
finance NIFA Program Mortgage Loans on a regular and consistent basis during the 2022 
calendar year not to exceed approximately $400,000,000.  In order to maximize its 
resources for purposes of financing NIFA Program Mortgage Loans under existing, and 
any future, programs, and to take advantage of marketing opportunities, while at the same 
time preserving the bond ratings on, and the security pledged to the holders of, Bonds 
issued and outstanding pursuant to the terms of the various trust indentures securing the 
Bonds, the Authority intends, depending upon capital market conditions, to finance 
additional NIFA Program Mortgage Loans to meet that need through the issuance of Bonds 
(which may be revenue bonds, general obligation bonds or some combination thereof) 
pursuant to the terms of one or more indentures of trust (which may include, but shall not 
be limited to, the Housing Indenture, the GNMA MBS Indenture and/or the General 
Obligation Indenture). 

(e) Board Approval.  At its meeting held on October 29, 2021, the Board of the 
Authority approved, in substantially the form submitted, this Notice. 

Section 3.  The Anticipated Principal Amount of the Bond Issues and the Anticipated 
Dates of Issuance of the Bonds.  Subject to capital market conditions, the Authority anticipates 
issuing Bonds in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed up to $400,000,000 in one or more 
series of bonds and one or more separate issuances of the Bonds (which may be revenue bonds, 
general obligation bonds, or some combination thereof) the interest on which may or may not be, 
at the election of the Authority, exempt from income taxation, pursuant to the terms of one or more 
indentures of trust, which may include (but shall not be limited to) the Housing Indenture and/or 
the General Obligation Indenture.  The Authority expects that an amount approximately equal to 
the final principal amount of each series of the Bonds if issued (less any amount of Bond proceeds, 
if any, used to fund reserve funds as described in Section 4 below) will be made available to 
finance NIFA Program Mortgage Loans.  Issuance and delivery of the Bonds is expected to occur, 
on a regular basis, over approximately the next 12 months, in such amounts, and at such times, as 
determined by the Authority.  The issuance of Bonds in one or more issues and as one or more 
series over several months will better provide the Authority with lower interest rates as the result 
of more competitive borrowing, ultimately for the benefit of low- and moderate-income borrowers.  
Issuance and delivery of all of the Bonds referred to in this Notice is anticipated to occur on or 
before December 31, 2022, although Bonds may be issued after that date within the description 
provided in this Notice, at the discretion of the Executive Director of the Authority.  Issuance and 
delivery of the Bonds in the aggregate principal amount not expected to exceed $400,000,000 in 
one or more series of bonds and one or more separate issuances of the Bonds (which may be 
revenue bonds, general obligation bonds, or some combination thereof) pursuant to the terms of 
one or more indentures of trust, which may include (but shall not be limited to) the Housing 
Indenture, the GNMA MBS Indenture and/or the General Obligation Indenture, shall be in addition 
to any revenue bonds and general obligation bonds which may be issued by the Authority up to 
those amounts for which the Authority has previously delivered one or more notices required 
pursuant to Section 58-270 of the Act (but with respect to which bonds have not yet been issued 
by the Authority). 
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Section 4.  Anticipated Size of Reserve Funds.  It is anticipated that to the extent the 
Bonds will be secured by one or more reserve funds, such reserve funds will not exceed, in the 
aggregate, 15% of the principal amount of the Bonds.   

Section 5.  The Professionals Involved in Connection With the Issuance of the Bonds.  
The following professionals have been selected or approved by the Authority to participate in the 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds: 

Underwriters: JPMorgan Securities LLC 
Ameritas Investment Company, LLC 
D.A. Davidson & Co. 

 First National Capital Markets, Inc. 
  

Counsel to the Sherman and Howard LLC 
Underwriters: Denver, Colorado 

Bond Counsel and Kutak Rock LLP 
General Counsel Omaha, Nebraska 
to the Authority: 

First Mortgage Loan U.S. Bank National Association 
Master Servicer: Seven Hills, Ohio 

Trustee for Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 
the Bonds: Minneapolis, Minnesota (the corporate trust 

services unit of which is expected to be purchased 
by Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (“CTC”), 
and, subsequent to such purchase, CTC is expected 
to become the successor Trustee for the Bonds) 

Quantitative Analyst cfX Incorporated 
New York, New York 
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Guaranteed Investment It is anticipated that all funds and accounts will be 
Agreement Providers: invested until such time as needed to finance NIFA 
 Program Mortgage Loans and, in the case of the 
 reserve funds, until the maturity of the Bonds, in 
 Permitted Investments (as defined in the related 
 bond indenture).  Such Permitted Investments 
 include guaranteed investment agreements with 
 one or more entities which carry a rating by 
 Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group and/or Moody’s 
 Investors Service, Inc. which will not adversely 
 affect the rating assigned to the Bonds which is 
 anticipated to be not less than “A”.  Selection of the 
 provider or providers of any guaranteed 
 investment will be made by the Authority by 
 obtaining at least three bids, but will not occur until 
 the actual marketing and pricing of each series of 
 the Bonds. 

Funding Facilities: From time to time in connection with the issuance of 
Bonds, the Authority may consider, to the extent 
determined to be in the best interest of the Authority 
or as may be necessary or advisable in the interest of 
the Authority, entering into one or more Funding 
Facilities.  Such Funding Facilities may be entered 
into for the purpose of meeting certain cash flow 
management objectives of the Authority, including 
but not limited to (i) supporting floating rate 
payments on the Bonds with a fixed maximum 
interest rate source or fixed rate payment source or 
(ii) providing a source of funds for remarketing, rate 
setting, auction, market or related purposes.  
Selection of the providers of any Funding Facilities 
will be made in connection with marketing and 
pricing of the Bonds and any such Funding Facility 
will be provided by entities such that there is not an 
adverse impact on the rating of the Bonds. 

The Authority may, from time to time, select other professionals to participate in the 
issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds to the extent it deems such selection advisable and in the 
best interests of the Authority. 

The filing of the foregoing Notice with the Governor and the Clerk of the Legislature, in 
accordance with the Act, was approved by the Authority on October 29, 2021. 

A copy of this Notice has also been provided to those representatives of the news media 
requesting notification of the proposed issuance of bonds, which representatives are listed on 
Appendix A hereto. 



 9 
4826-3351-9615.2  

Date:  October 29, 2021 

NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

By   
Executive Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature page of the Authority to the Notice Required Pursuant to Section 58-270, Reissue 
Revised Statutes of Nebraska 
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APPENDIX A 
BOND ISSUE REQUEST LIST 

Matt Olberding 
The Lincoln Journal Star 
926 P Street 
Lincoln, NE  68508 

Tyler Harris 
Nebraska Farmer Magazine 
4131 Pioneer Woods Drive  
Suite 103 
Lincoln, NE  68506 

David Hahn 
New Digital Group 
P.O. Box 83672 
Lincoln, NE  68501 

Associated Press 
Broadcast Editor 
1700 Farnam Street 
Suite 1270 
Omaha, NE  68102 
 
Cindy Gonzalez 
Omaha World-Herald 
14th & Dodge Streets 
Omaha, NE  68102 
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APPENDIX B 
 

SUMMARY OF THE MORTGAGE LOAN PROGRAM 
 

The following sets forth certain particulars of the Mortgage Loan Program as of June 30, 
2021 (which includes Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities). 
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Mortgage Loan Program Summary 
 

(2) 

    
(4) 

Percentage 

  Acquisition of Mortgage Loans and Weighted   90 or More 
  Mortgage-Backed Securities From: Avg Pass Principal Outstanding Days 

      Through Whole Mortgage-Community Delinquent 
As of June 30, Original Bond Recycling and Interest Mortgage Backed Program (Including 
2021 Proceeds Other Funds Rate Loans Securities Loans (3) Foreclosure) 

    HOUSING INDENTURE     
Series 2021 AB          $94,999,637.60    $2,225,187.89 2.55% $93,789,424 0.28% 
Series 2020 BC 87,498,602.80 443,170.33 3.06% 78,616,874 0.17% 
Series 2020 A 122,905,334.01 2,847,934.26 3.07% 99,532,794 0.50% 
Series 2019 DE 175,047,107.60 6,089,807.61 3.27% 129,323,660 1.79% 
Series 2019 ABC 173,093,979.14 16,840.64 3.80% 108,736,464 1.82% 
Series 2018 CD 200,666,393.00 5,419,469.33 3.80% 98,767,402 3.20% 
Series 2018 AB 93,667,600.33 2,105,473.76 3.32% 37,639,629 1.33% 
Series 2017 ABC 103,382,133.00 5,479,519.67 3.38% 43,935,313 1.26% 
Series 2016 CD 127,001,054.00 11,459,919.91 2.98% 69,099,065 1.36% 
Series 2016 AB 116,091,640.42 12,323,215.02 3.36% 50,448,330 1.85% 
Series 2015 CD 121,012,756.70 12,320,131.94 3.12% 47,006,193 1.87% 
Series 2015 AB 95,461,246.78 22,232,724.34 3.42% 36,027,021 1.38% 
Series 2014 AB 97,831,258.47 24,722,895.36 3.52% 32,438,024 1.76% 
Series 2013 EF 88,778,896.60 24,082,815.88 3.19% 32,302,688 1.57% 
Series 2013 CD 102,004,098.00 19,378,175.63 2.69% 39,261,504 2.14% 
Series 2013 AB 102,465,844.00 20,619,591.10 2.99% 36,513,622 1.24% 
Retired Series (1) 3,626,949,068.55 656,797,432.13             3.82% 687,568        170,768,233 24,947,128 1.31% 

  
TOTAL HOUSING INDENTURE  $687,568   $1,204,206,240   $24,947,128 

  

    GNMA MBS INDENTURE     
Series 2011-1 $43,353,567                        0    3.96% $0         $5,975,000 -         0.00% 

    HOMEOWNERSHIP INDENTURE     
Series 2011 A, Series           
2009 A, Subseries A-1 $109,985,158.00 -          3.27%  -       $21,556,717 - 0.68% 

  

(1) Represents mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities financed with Bonds issued pursuant to the Housing Indenture 
and which Bonds are no longer outstanding. Such mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities remain pledged under the 
Housing Indenture. A portion of the principal payments and prepayments received on these mortgage loans and mortgage 
backed securities are dedicated to the payment of certain term bonds.  

(2) Amounts represent Original Bond Proceeds and Recycling and Other Funds which were used to acquire (i) newly originated Mortgage 
Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities and (ii) existing Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities which were initially 
funded with Original Bond Proceeds or Recycling and Other Funds and which, upon a refunding of the Bond Series which financed 
such Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities, have been reallocated to a subsequent Series of Bonds the proceeds of which 
were used to refund the Prior Series of Bonds. Amounts representing the original acquisition cost of Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-
Backed Securities (which includes the Mortgage Loans and Mortgage-Backed Securities reallocated to a subsequent Series of Bonds 
upon a refunding of Bonds outstanding under the General Indenture), remain reflected in the amounts in these two columns in the 
Original Bond Series, in the Retired Series (where bonds are no longer outstanding), plus in the refunding Bond Series and in the 
Recycling and Other Funds column at the new acquisition cost. 

(3) Community Program Loans represent a.) mortgage loans (both first and second mortgage loans) originated by certain 
nonprofit entities (such as Habitat for Humanity of Omaha), and b.) Second Mortgage Homebuyer Assistance Loans ("HBA 
Loans") the proceeds of which are loaned for down payment and closing cost assistance in connection with first mortgage 
loans financed under the Housing Indenture. Community Program Loans do not have mortgage insurance or guarantees and 
bear interest at rates ranging from 0.0% to 7.3% with maturities from 7 to 30 years. 

(4) Information does not include Community Program Loans
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Information on page B-2 consists of the following categories at June 30, 2021.  

 
                                                                            

Category 

 
Principal 

Outstanding 

 
% of Total  

% 90 or more 
days delinquent 

HOUSING INDENTURE:    
GNMA Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par               $613,326,435 50.90% 0.22% 
Fannie Mae Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par 588,820,684 48.87% 3.04% 
Freddie Mac Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par 2,059,121 .17% 0.00% 
Whole Mortgage Loans (1st mortgages), at par1,2 687,568 .06% 0.00% 

TOTAL,3  $ 1,204,893,808 100.00% 1.47% 
    

GNMA MBS INDENTURE    
GNMA Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par $5,975,000  0.00% 

    
HOMEOWNERSHIP INDENTURE:    
GNMA Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par $20,355,858 94.43% 0.00% 
Fannie Mae Mortgage-Backed Securities, at par 1,200,859 5.57% 10.53% 

TOTAL $21,556,717 100.00% .68% 
 

1All Whole Mortgage Loans (1st Mortgage Loans) are either (i) insured by the FHA, (ii) guaranteed by USDA/RD 
or (iii) guaranteed by VA.                                                                                                                                       
2Excludes Community Program Loans                                                                                                                         
3In addition to the categories of Whole Mortgage Loans and Mortgage Backed Securities listed above for the 
Housing Indenture,  NIFA also had outstanding, as of June 30, 2021, Community Program Loans in the aggregate 
principal amount of $24,947,128. Such Community Program Loans do not have mortgage insurance or guaranties 
and most are subordinate to preexisting first liens. For purposes of cash flow analysis, these loans are assumed to 
have no probability of  repayment and are not considered as assets of the Program. 
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Ongoing NIFA Single Family Program  

The following sets forth as of June 30, 2021, the principal amount of mortgage-backed securities 
held by NIFA in its general operating fund and/or credited thereto, the principal amount of originated 
whole  mortgage loans held by the master servicer, the principal amount of whole mortgage loans closed 
but not yet held by the master servicer, and the principal amount of mortgage loan reservations taken by 
NIFA.  (See Note 1.) 

 
Mortgage 
Interest  

Rate 

Mortgage 
Backed 

Securities Held 
by NIFA 

Whole 
Mortgage Loans 
Held by Master 

Servicer 

Whole Mortgage 
Loans Closed but 
Not Yet Held by 
Master Servicer  

Mortgage Loan 
Reservations 

Taken by NIFA 

 
Total 

2.250% $-0- $-0- $-0- $557,000 $557,000 
2.375% 1,065,000 217,000 157,000 230,000 1,669,000 
2.500% -0- 520,000 197,000 3,935,000 4,652,000 
2.625% 1,014,000 838,000 804,000 4,764,000 7,420,000 
2.750% 986,000 1,192,000 1,229,000 1,430,000 4,837,000 
2.875% 1,249,000 2,019,000 2,688,000 9,619,000 15,575,000 
3.000% 3,094,000 1,838,000 1,359,000 10,921,000 17,212,000 
3.125% 1,528,000 2,040,000 2,311,000 11,159,000 17,038,000 
3.250% 2,761,000 3,671,000 2,497,000 711,000 9,640,000 
3.375% -0- 3,032,000 4,369,000 12,732,000 20,133,000 
3.500% 2,770,000 2,476,000 1,495,000 1,471,000 8,212,000 

TOTAL $14,467,000 $17,843,000 $17,106,000 $57,529,000 $106,945,000 
      

Note 1. At the direction of NIFA, the master servicer will issue or cause to be issued mortgage-backed securities (“MBSs”), 
backed by the whole mortgage loans currently being held by the master servicer. Such MBSs will thereafter be available for delivery 
to one or more trustees for bonds issued by NIFA to fund its Program, to NIFA or to the provider of interim financing as described 
in this Note 1.  NIFA has purchased and may continue to purchase with its general operating funds MBSs backed by mortgage 
loans held by the master servicer. Additionally, NIFA has used and may continue to use advances provided by the Federal Home 
Loan Bank of Topeka (the “FHLB of Topeka”), for the purchase of MBSs backed by mortgage loans held by the master servicer 
as available from time to time. In addition to the Housing Bonds issued from time to time pursuant to the Housing Indenture, NIFA 
may elect to enter into one or more other indentures for the issuance of bonds to finance mortgage loans. Upon the issuance of 
Housing Bonds and/or other bonds, NIFA anticipates, directing the delivery of those whole mortgage loans currently held by the 
master servicer when backed by MBSs, together with the MBSs held by NIFA or pledged by NIFA to the FHLB of Topeka to 
either or both of the trustee for the Housing Bonds and/or the trustee for the other bonds, as applicable. However, rather than deliver 
the MBSs to either the trustee for the Housing Bonds or the trustee for the other bonds, NIFA may elect to continue to hold the 
MBSs as assets of NIFA or dispose of the MBSs in such manner as determined by NIFA. In the event mortgage loans held by the 
master servicer do not become backed by MBSs, such mortgage loans may be delivered to the trustee for the Housing Bonds for 
purchase as whole loans with proceeds available under the Housing Indenture.                                                                                                                                                                                                                             
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT 
OF 

NOTICE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO 
 

SECTION 58-270 
REISSUE REVISED STATUTES OF NEBRASKA, AS AMENDED 

 

The undersigned, Pete Ricketts, Governor of the State of Nebraska, hereby acknowledges 
receipt on the date set forth below of the attached Notice Required Pursuant to Section 58-270, 
Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, as amended, with respect to the following: 

Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
Single Family Housing Program Bonds 

(consisting of one or more Series of Bonds) 

Accepted this           day of                          , 2021. 

[SEAL] PETE RICKETTS, 
 GOVERNOR 

By   
Name   
Title   
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT 
OF 

NOTICE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO 
 

SECTION 58-270 
REISSUE REVISED STATUTES OF NEBRASKA, AS AMENDED 

The undersigned, Patrick J. O’Donnell, Clerk of the Legislature of the State of Nebraska, 
hereby acknowledges receipt on the date set forth below of the attached Notice Required Pursuant 
to Section 58-270, Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska, as amended, with respect to the 
following: 

Nebraska Investment Finance Authority 
Single Family Housing Program Bonds 

(consisting of one or more Series of Bonds) 

Accepted this           day of                          , 2021. 

  
Patrick J. O’Donnell 
Clerk of the Legislature 

[SEAL] 
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Agenda Item #10 

Review and Consideration for Adoption of Board Resolution No. 457 Amending and 
Restating the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan 

 
 
The Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan (the “Plan”) allows eligible 
NIFA employees to pay for certain benefits on a pre-tax basis.  The Plan is intended to be a 
cafeteria plan (as defined in Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”)).   
 
Under the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, (Dec. 27, 2020), cafeteria plans that include a 
dependent care assistance program (as defined in Code Section 129) may permit participants to 
carry over certain unused contributions from the 2020 plan year to the 2021 plan year and from 
the 2021 plan year to the 2022 plan year.  The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, also 
temporarily modifies certain age limits relating to reimbursing specified dependent care expenses 
for dependent children.  The amended and restated Plan incorporates those provisions and related 
conforming changes.  The amended and restated cafeteria plan also revises various provisions to 
reflect the procedures followed by NIFA in connection with the implementation of the plan.  
 
The attached Board Resolution authorizes the Executive Director to execute the amended and 
restated Plan.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ACTION NEEDED: Motion to adopt Board Resolution No. 457 to adopt the amended and 

restated Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan.  
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BOARD RESOLUTION #457 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT 
RESTATED FLEXIBLE BENEFIT PLAN 

 
Be it resolved by the Nebraska Investment Finance Authority as follows: 

1. The Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan (the “Plan”) is 
amended and restated in the form presented with this Resolution; and 

2. The Executive Director is hereby authorized to execute the amended and restated 
Plan and take such further action as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate it. 

Passed and approved this ___ day of ______________, 2021. 

NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

 

        
Executive Director 
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NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY  
FLEXIBLE BENEFIT PLAN 

 
ARTICLE I 

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PLAN 

1.1 The Plan.  The Employer previously established the Nebraska Investment Finance 
Authority Flexible Benefit Plan (the “Plan”).  The Employer hereby amends and restates 
the Plan for the benefit of its employees and the employees of any affiliate employer that 
adopts the Plan in writing.   

1.2 Purpose.  The purpose of this Plan is to provide Eligible Employees of the Employer 
with the ability to choose among several types of benefits and make available to 
Participants the tax savings permissible under Code Section 125. These choices shall 
include an option to receive certain tax-free benefits in lieu of taxable compensation.  

1.3 Legal Status.  Under the Plan, Participants will have a choice between cash 
compensation and certain nontaxable benefits.  Therefore, the Plan constitutes a 
“cafeteria plan” under Code Section 125, and has been reduced to writing in order to 
comply with Code Section 125 and its regulations.  The Dependent Care Flexible 
Spending Account Benefit is intended to qualify as a dependent care assistance program 
under Code Section 129 and the Qualified Dependent Care Expenses reimbursed 
thereunder are intended to be eligible for exclusion from Participants’ gross income under 
Code Section 129(a). 

ARTICLE II 
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 

2.1 Definitions.  Where the following words and phrases appear in the Plan they shall have 
the meaning set forth below, unless a different meaning is plainly required by the context. 

a. Account.  The notional records kept by the Plan Administrator for each 
Participant and to which Salary Reduction Contributions are credited, as required 
by the Plan, and from which benefit payments, as permitted by the Plan, shall be 
paid or debited. 

b. Benefit.  The benefit options available to a Participant as outlined in Section 5.1. 

c. Code.  The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.   

d. COBRA.  COBRA has the definition set forth in Section 3.8.   

e. Compensation.  All income derived from wages, salaries, tips, and other 
employee compensation from the Employer (such as disability or wage 
continuation benefits), excluding any amount received (a) pursuant to this Plan or 
any dependent care assistance program under Code Section 129, (b) as a pension 
or an annuity, or (c) as workers’ compensation. 
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f. Coverage Period.  The Plan Year, provided that with respect to any eligible 
Employee who becomes a Participant after the beginning of a Plan Year, the first 
Coverage Period with respect to such Participant shall mean the period 
commencing on the date coverage or participation begins hereunder and ending 
with the last day of the Plan Year in which such coverage or participation begins; 
and further provided that with respect to any Participant who terminates 
participation before the end of a Plan Year, the Coverage Period for such 
Participant shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the Plan Year and 
ending on the effective date of the Participant’s termination of participation, as 
defined in Section 3.5. 

g. DCAP.  The Dependent Care Assistance Program described in Article VIII. 

h. DCAP Account.  The notional Account established under the DCAP described in 
Article VIII. 

i. Dependent.  “Dependent” has the meaning set forth in Code Section 152, as 
modified by Code Section 105(b). Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Dependent” 
means: (a) for purposes of accident or health coverage (to the extent funded under 
the Pretax Premium Payment Benefit), (1) a dependent as defined in Code Section 
105(b), (2) any child (as defined in Code Section 152(f)(1)) of the Participant who 
as of the end of the taxable year has not attained age 27, and (3) any child of the 
Participant to whom IRS Revenue Procedure 2008-48 applies (regarding certain 
children of divorced or separated parents who receive more than half of their 
support for the calendar year from one or both parents and are in the custody of 
one or both parents for more than half of the calendar year); and (b) for purposes 
of the DCAP Benefit, a Qualifying Individual. 

j. Effective Date.  This restatement is effective November 1, 2021. 

k. Employee.  An individual who the Employer classifies and treats as an employee 
(not as an independent contractor or temporary employee) for payroll purposes, 
regardless of whether the individual is subsequently reclassified as an employee 
of the Employer in a court order, in a settlement of an administrative or judicial 
proceeding, or in a determination by the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Department of the Treasury, or the Department of Labor.   

l. ERISA.  The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. 

m. Employer.  The Nebraska Investment Finance Authority.   

n. Enrollment Periods.   

(1) Annual Enrollment Period.  The period that is selected by the Employer 
and that precedes the beginning of the Plan Year for which enrollment is 
made.   
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(2) Initial Enrollment Period.  For individuals who become Employees after 
the Effective Date, the period beginning on the first day of the month 
following the first 30 days of the individual’s employment with the 
Employer and ending on the last day of that calendar month.   

(3) Special Enrollment Period.  For individuals who experience a Qualified 
Change, the period of 30 days after the event which caused the Qualified 
Change. 

o. FMLA.  The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended.   

p. Grace Period.  The period that is two months and fifteen days immediately 
following a Plan Year. 

q. Health Care Plan.  Any plan that is sponsored and maintained by the Employer 
for the benefit of its Employees, and that provides health, dental, vision care, or 
similar coverage, to the extent such coverage is excludable from income under 
Code Section 106. 

r. Health Savings Account (“HSA”).  A health savings account as defined in Code 
Section 223(d).  Such arrangements are individual trusts or custodial accounts, 
each separately established and maintained by an Employee with a qualified 
trustee/custodian. 

s. High Deductible Health Plan.  A “High Deductible Health Plan” or “HDHP” 
has the meaning set forth in Code Section 223(c)(2).   

t. Highly Compensated Employee.  For purposes of the DCAP Benefit, “Highly 
Compensated Employee” has the meaning set forth in Code Section 129(d)(2). 

u. Incur.  “Incur,” “Incurred,” or “Incurring” means an expense is Incurred on the 
date service is provided.  The date of payment or billing is immaterial in 
determining when an expense is Incurred. 

v. Participant.  Any Employee who is eligible to participate, has elected to 
participate, and is participating in the Plan. 

w. Plan.  The Nebraska Investment Finance Authority Flexible Benefit Plan, as 
restated in this Plan document. 

x. Plan Administrator.  The person or persons appointed by the Employer pursuant 
to Section 10.1 to administer this Plan.  If no Plan Administrator is appointed, 
then the Employer shall be the Plan Administrator. 

y. Plan Year.  Each 12-month period ending December 31. 

z. Qualified Change.  Any of the changes specified in Sections 4.8 through 4.15. 
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aa. Qualified Dependent Care Expense.  Expenses Incurred by a Participant that are 
considered employment-related expenses under Code Sections 129(e)(1) and 
21(b)(2).  As such, “Qualified Dependent Care Expenses” are expenses that are 
considered to be Qualifying Employment-Related Expenses under Code Section 
21(b)(2) (relating to expenses for the care of a Qualifying Individual necessary for 
gainful employment of the Employee and Spouse, if any, and expenses for 
incidental household services), if paid for by the Eligible Employee to obtain 
Qualifying Services provided, however, that this term shall not include any 
expenses for which the Participant or other person incurring the expense is 
reimbursed for the expense through insurance or any other plan. If only a portion 
of a Qualified Dependent Care Expense has been reimbursed elsewhere (e.g., 
because the Spouse’s dependent care assistance program imposes maximum 
benefit limitations), the DCAP Account can reimburse the remaining portion of 
such Expense if it otherwise meets the requirements of Article VIII. Qualified 
Dependent Care Expenses shall be deemed to be Incurred at the time the services 
to which the expenses relate are rendered. 

bb. Qualifying Employment-Related Expenses.  Those expenses that, if paid for by 
the Participant, would be considered to be employment-related expenses under 
Code Section 21(b)(2) (relating to expenses for household and dependent care 
services necessary for gainful employment), other than amounts paid to: 

(1) an individual with respect to whom a deduction is allowable under Code 
Section 151(e) to the Participant or Spouse; 

(2) Spouse; or 

(3) a child of the Participant who is under 19 years of age. 

cc. Qualifying Individual.  “Qualifying Individual” means (a) a tax dependent of the 
Participant as defined in Code Section 152 who is under the age of 13 and who is 
the Participant’s qualifying child as defined in Code Section 152(a)(1); (b) a tax 
dependent of the Participant as defined in Code Section 152, but determined 
without regard to subsections (b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B) thereof, who is 
physically or mentally incapable of self-care and who has the same principal place 
of abode as the Participant for more than half of the year; or (c) a Participant’s 
Spouse who is physically or mentally incapable of self-care, and who has the 
same principal place of abode as the Participant for more than half of the year. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of divorced or separated parents, a 
Qualifying Individual who is a child shall, as provided in Code Section 21(e)(5), 
be treated as a Qualifying Individual of the custodial parent (within the meaning 
of Code Section 152(e)) and shall not be treated as a Qualifying Individual with 
respect to the noncustodial parent.   

dd. Qualifying Services.  “Qualifying Services” means services that: (1) relate to the 
care of a Qualifying Individual that enable the Participant and his or her Spouse to 
remain gainfully employed after the date of participation in the DCAP Benefit and 
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during the period of coverage; and (2) are performed: (i) in the Participant’s 
home, or (ii) outside the Participant’s home for (1) the care of a Participant’s 
qualifying child who is under age 13; or (2) the care of any other Qualifying 
Individual who regularly spends at least eight hours per day in the Participant’s 
household.  In addition, if the expenses are incurred for services provided by a 
dependent care center (i.e., a facility (including a day camp) that provides care for 
more than six individuals (other than individuals residing at the facility) on a 
regular basis and receives a fee, payment, or grant for such services), then the 
center must comply with all applicable state and local laws and regulations.  
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses do not include amounts paid to: (i) an 
individual whom a Participant or his or her Spouse can claim as a dependent for 
federal income tax purposes; (ii) a Participant’s Spouse; (iii) a Participant’s child 
(as defined in Code Section 152(f)(1)) who is under l9 years of age at the end of 
the year in which the expenses were incurred; or (iv) a parent of a Participant’s 
under age 13 qualifying child as defined in Code Section 152(a)(1) (e.g., a former 
spouse who is the child’s noncustodial parent). 

ee. Salary Redirection.  The amount by which a Participant authorizes the Employer 
to reduce his salary or Compensation in order to provide for Salary Redirection 
contributions to provide benefits under this Plan.  Compensation shall be 
redirected pursuant to an election made by such Participant during an Enrollment 
Period. 

ff. Spouse.  As defined by federal law, the spouse of a Participant or the surviving 
spouse of a deceased Participant.   

2.2 Construction.  As used in this Plan, the masculine gender includes the feminine, and the 
singular may include the plural, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary. 

ARTICLE III 
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION 

3.1 Eligibility for Participation.  An Employee is eligible to participate after 30 days of 
continuous employment with the Employer; provided that the following Employees are 
not eligible to participate: Employees who are regularly scheduled to work less than 30 
hours per week and are designated as “part-time” on the personnel records of the 
Employer; any individual who is not reported on the payroll records of the Employer as a 
common law employee.  If an eligible Employee does not elect to participate in the Plan 
within the Initial Enrollment Period, such Employee shall thereafter be eligible to begin 
participation only upon a Special Enrollment Period or Annual Enrollment Period.   

3.2 Election of Participation.  The Plan Administrator will provide election forms to 
eligible Employees during the Annual Enrollment Period, during the Initial Enrollment 
Period, and (if timely notified of a Qualified Change) during any Special Enrollment 
Period.  The election forms will provide the eligible Employee with the opportunity to 
elect either to participate in the Plan through Salary Redirection contributions on a pretax 
basis or to receive direct compensation on a taxable basis.  An eligible Employee who 
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fails to file an election form shall be deemed to have elected to receive his or her full 
salary or Compensation in cash. 

3.3 Commencement of Participation.  If the Employee submits appropriate election forms 
within the applicable Enrollment Period, then:  

a. an Employee who is eligible to participate on the first day of any Plan Year shall 
become a Participant beginning on the first day of such Plan Year; and  

b. an Employee who first becomes eligible to participate in the Plan after the 
beginning of a Plan Year shall be a Participant beginning on the first day of the 
first full calendar month coincident with or next following the first 30 days of the 
Employee’s employment with the Employer.  For purposes of illustration, if an 
Employee is hired on August 5, the Employee cannot become a Participant until 
October 1. 

3.4 Participation During Leaves of Absence.  As of the Effective Date, the Employer does 
not have a location where the Employer has at least 50 Employees within 75 miles.  As 
such, pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 825.108(d), Employees cannot meet the eligibility 
requirements for FMLA.  If, following the Effective Date, Employees are able to meet 
the eligibility requirements for FMLA (for example, if the Employer has 50 Employees 
within 75 miles), then the Sections 3.4(a) and (b) shall apply.  For purposes of 
clarification, this Section 3.4 applies only to the FMLA and not to the Employer’s 
internal Family Care Leave policy. 

a. FMLA Leaves of Absence – Health Benefits. 

(1) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Plan, if a Participant 
goes on a qualifying leave under the FMLA, then to the extent required by 
the FMLA, the Employer will continue to maintain the Participant’s 
Health Care Plan and HSA Benefits on the same terms and conditions as if 
the Participant were still an active Employee.  That is, if the Participant 
elects to continue his or her coverage while on leave, the Employer will 
continue to pay its share of the contributions (if any) for such Benefits.  
The Employer may require Participants to continue all Health Care Plan 
Benefits while they are on paid FMLA leave, provided that Participants on 
non-FMLA paid leave are required to continue such coverage. If so, the 
Participant’s share of the cost for such Benefits shall be paid by the 
method normally used during any paid leave (e.g., on a pre-tax basis). 

(2) In the event of unpaid FMLA leave (or paid FMLA leave where coverage 
is not required to be continued), a Participant may elect to continue his or 
her Health Care Plan Benefits during the leave. If the Participant elects to 
continue coverage while on FMLA leave, then the Participant may pay his 
or her share of the cost of coverage for such Benefits in one of the 
following ways: 
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i. with after-tax dollars, by sending monthly payments to the 
Employer by the due date established by the Employer; 

  
ii. with pre-tax dollars, by having such amounts withheld from 

the Participant’s ongoing Compensation (if any), including 
unused sick days and vacation days, or pre-paying all or a 
portion of the contributions for the expected duration of the 
leave on a pre-tax basis out of pre-leave Compensation. To 
pre-pay the contributions, the Participant must make a 
special election to that effect prior to the date that such 
Compensation would normally be made available (pre-tax 
dollars may not be used to fund coverage during the next 
Plan Year); or 

 
iii. under another arrangement agreed upon between the 

Participant and the Plan Administrator (e.g., the Plan 
Administrator may fund coverage during the leave and 
withhold “catch-up” amounts from the Participant’s 
Compensation on a pre-tax or after-tax basis) upon the 
Participant’s return. 

    
If the Employer requires all Participants to continue Health Care Plan 
Benefits during an unpaid FMLA leave, then the Participant may elect to 
discontinue payment of the Participant’s required contributions for such 
Benefits until the Participant returns from leave. Upon returning from 
leave, the Participant will be required to repay the contributions not paid 
by the Participant during the leave. Payment shall be withheld from the 
Participant’s Compensation either on a pre-tax or after-tax basis, as agreed 
to by the Plan Administrator and the Participant. 
 

(3) If a Participant’s Health Care Plan Benefits coverage ceases while on 
FMLA leave (e.g., for non-payment of required contributions), then the 
Participant is permitted to re-enter the Health Care Plan Benefits, as 
applicable, upon return from such leave on the same basis as when the 
Participant was participating in the Plan prior to the leave, or as otherwise 
required by the FMLA. In addition, the Plan may require Participants 
whose Health Care Plan Benefits coverage terminated during the leave to 
be reinstated in such coverage upon return from a period of unpaid leave, 
provided that Participants who return from a period of unpaid, non-FMLA 
leave are required to be reinstated in such coverage. 

(4) The same cost for Benefits that would apply if the Participant was not on 
leave applies while the Participant is on FMLA leave, provided that the 
Participant timely elected the Benefits. 

b. FMLA Leaves of Absence – Non-Health Benefits.  If a Participant goes on a 
qualifying leave under the FMLA, then entitlement to non-health benefits (such as 
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the DCAP Benefit) is to be determined by the Employer’s policy for providing 
such Benefits when Participants are on non-FMLA leave, as described in 
subsection 3.4(c). If such policy permits a Participant to discontinue contributions 
while on leave, then the Participant will, upon returning from leave, be required to 
repay the contributions not paid by the Participant during the leave. Payment shall 
be withheld from the Participant’s Compensation either on a pre-tax or after-tax 
basis, as may be agreed upon by the Plan Administrator and the Participant, or as 
the Plan Administrator otherwise deems appropriate. 

c. Non-FMLA Leaves of Absence. 

(1) If a Participant goes on an unpaid leave of absence that does not affect 
eligibility, then the Participant will continue to participate and the 
contributions due for the Participant will be paid by pre-payment before 
going on leave, by after-tax contributions while on leave, or with catch-up 
contributions after the leave ends, as may be determined by the Plan 
Administrator.  If a Participant goes on an unpaid leave that affects 
eligibility, then the election change rules in Article IV will apply. 

(2) If a Participant is absent from work due to an unpaid USERRA leave 
lasting less than 31 days:  The Participant may continue any and all 
Benefits under the Plan during the leave, at the same cost that would apply 
if the Participant was not on leave, provided that the Participant timely 
elected the Benefits.  The Employer may advance the Participant’s 
contributions while the Participant is on leave.  Upon return from leave, 
the Participant may reimburse the Employer either with after tax dollars or 
by increasing Salary Redirection Contributions by an appropriate amount 
for the remainder of the Plan Year. 

(3) If an Participant is absent from work due to an unpaid USERRA leave 
lasting more than 31 days, then the Employee may, at the Employee’s 
option, continue any and all benefits under the Plan during the leave of 
absence, provided that the Employee timely elected the benefits and 
further provided that the Employee continues to make any required 
contributions.  During the absence, the Employee may choose to make 
these contributions by: (i) remitting payment to the Employer on or before 
each pay period for which the contributions would have been deducted 
from the Employee’s paycheck if leave had not been taken, provided that 
any delinquent payments must be made within 30 days of their due date; 
or (ii) at the Employee’s request, prepaying the amounts that will become 
due during the leave out of one or more of the Employee’s paychecks 
preceding the leave. 
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(4) If a Participant is absent from work due to a paid leave: The Participant 
may continue any and all Benefits under the Plan during the leave, 
provided that the Participant timely elected the Benefits.  If the Participant 
elects to continue Benefits, the Participant must make his or her share of 
payments on the same schedule and in the same manner as payments 
would have been made had the Participant not taken leave.    

3.5 Termination of Participation.  A Participant shall continue to participate in this Plan 
until the earliest of the following events: 

a. the date the Participant effectively revokes his election to participate in this Plan, 
subject to the provisions of Article IV; 

b. the effective date on which the Participant’s employment with the Employer 
terminates; 

c. the effective date of Plan termination; 

d. the date of Participant’s death, subject to the provisions of Section 3.6;  

e. the first day of a Plan Year for which the Participant fails to submit timely 
election forms and has no deemed elections under Section 4.2; or 

f. the date on which the Participant ceases to be eligible for any Benefits. 

Termination of participation in this Plan will automatically revoke the Participant’s 
elections. The Health Care Plan benefits will terminate as of the date(s) specified in the 
applicable documents governing the Health Care Plan.  Reimbursements from the DCAP 
Account after termination of participation will be made pursuant to Articles VIII and IX. 
Distributions from a Participant’s HSA (whether before or after termination of 
employment) and all other matters relating to a Participant’s HSA are outside of this Plan 
and are to be handled by the Participant and the trustee/custodian of his or her HSA in 
accordance with the agreement between them.   

 
3.6 Death of Participant.  If a Participant dies, his participation in the Plan shall cease.  

However, such Participant’s beneficiaries, or the representatives of the Participant’s 
estate, may submit claims for expenses or benefits Incurred during the Plan Year before 
the Participant died until 90 days following the end of the Plan Year in which the death 
occurred or, if earlier, until the Salary Redirection contributions allocated to each specific 
benefit are exhausted.  The Plan Administrator may designate the Participant’s Spouse, 
one of the Participant’s Dependents, or a representative of the Participant’s estate for 
such purpose. 



 

 10 

3.7 Eligibility Upon Reinstatement of Former Participant.  If a Participant terminates 
employment for any reason and then is rehired within 30 days after the date of the 
termination, the Employee will be reinstated with the same elections that such individual 
had before termination.  If a former Participant is rehired more than 30 days following 
termination of employment and is otherwise eligible to participate in the Plan, the 
individual may make new elections as a new hire, as described in Article IV.  
Notwithstanding the above, an election to participate in the Pretax Premium Payment 
Benefit will be reinstated only to the extent that coverage under the applicable benefit 
described in Section 6.1 is reinstated.  Likewise, an HSA Benefit election will only be 
reinstated if an individual meets the requirements of Article VII. 

3.8 Benefits Provided Under Health Care Plan; COBRA.  Health Care Plan Benefits will 
be provided by the applicable medical, dental, and/or vision plan(s), not this Plan.  The 
types and amounts of medical, dental, and/or vision benefits, the requirements for 
participating in the medical, dental, and/or vision plan(s), and the other terms and 
conditions of coverage and benefits of the medical, dental, and/or vision plan(s) are set 
forth in the governing plan documents for such plans.  

The Employer is body politic and corporate, not an agency of the State of Nebraska, but 
an independent instrumentality exercising essential public functions.  As such, the 
Employer (and its group health plans) is not subject to the group health plan continuation 
requirements set forth in Code Section 4980B or ERISA Sections 601 et seq.  However, 
the Employer (and its group health plans) may be subject to the group health plan 
continuation of coverage provisions set forth in the Public Health Service Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§§ 300bb-1 et seq. (referred to herein as “COBRA”).  Notwithstanding any Plan 
provision to the contrary, if and to the extent required by COBRA, a Participant and his 
or her Spouse and Dependents, as applicable, whose coverage terminates under the 
medical, dental, and/or vision plan(s) because of a COBRA qualifying event (and who is 
a “qualified beneficiary” as defined under COBRA), shall be given the opportunity to 
continue on a self-pay basis the same coverage that he or she had under the medical, 
dental, and/or vision plan(s) the day before the qualifying event for the periods prescribed 
by COBRA.  Such continuation coverage shall be subject to all conditions and limitations 
under COBRA.  

Contributions for COBRA coverage for medical, dental, and/or vision benefits may be 
paid on a pretax basis for Employees receiving taxable Compensation either because (a) 
the Employee ceases to be eligible because of a reduction in hours; or (b) the Employee’s 
Dependent ceases to satisfy the eligibility requirements for coverage.  For all other 
individuals, contributions for COBRA coverage for medical, dental, and/or vision 
benefits shall be paid on an after-tax basis (unless may be otherwise permitted by the 
Administrator on a uniform and consistent basis). 
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ARTICLE IV 
ELECTIONS 

4.1 Enrollment.  An eligible Employee may elect to enroll in the Plan (or change an existing 
election), if so entitled, by submitting to the Plan Administrator the election forms 
described in Section 3.2.  The election forms must include the Participant’s Salary 
Redirection designation and the Participant’s election of benefits, and must meet such 
other standards for completeness and accuracy as the Plan Administrator may establish.  
No Employee may elect Salary Reduction Benefits the cost of which exceeds the 
Participant’s available Compensation.  A Participant’s election forms must be submitted 
to the Plan Administrator during the applicable Enrollment Period.  If an Employee fails 
to submit election forms during the first applicable Enrollment Period, he shall have the 
opportunity to enroll for any succeeding Coverage Period by submitting election forms 
during the Enrollment Period for that Coverage Period. 

4.2 Election Deadlines and Defaults. 

a. Newly hired Employees must complete the election forms required by Section 3.2 
and must submit the election forms to the Employer during the Initial Enrollment 
Period.  If the election forms are not submitted by the Employee during the Initial 
Enrollment Period, the Employee shall be deemed to have elected to receive all 
compensation in cash. 

b. Employees and Participants who wish to participate in an upcoming Plan Year 
must complete the election forms required by Section 3.2 and must submit the 
election forms to the Employer during the Annual Enrollment Period.   

c. If a Participant fails to submit election forms during the Annual Enrollment 
Period, then the Participant will be deemed to have made the following elections: 
(i) pretax premiums for benefits described in Article VI will continue on the same 
basis as designated on the Participant’s most recent election forms; (ii) Salary 
Redirection Contributions consistent with the premiums for such benefits; and 
(iii) all remaining compensation to be received in cash. 

4.3 Time Period Election Is Effective.  Subject to Section 4.2(c), a Participant’s election 
shall be effective until the earliest of the following events: the end of the Coverage Period 
to which the election applies; the effective date of a change of election made pursuant to 
Section 4.16; or termination of participation pursuant to Section 3.5.  Except as otherwise 
provided in this Plan document, Participants may not carry over any unused contributions 
or available Benefits from one Plan Year to a subsequent Plan Year; provided, however, 
Participants may make claims within the time period set forth in the Article 
corresponding to a selected Benefit for expenses Incurred during the respective Plan 
Year.  Further, Participants may not use contributions from one Plan Year to purchase 
any available Benefits provided in a subsequent Plan Year. 
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4.4 Election Upon Return From Leave of Absence.  If an Employee’s participation in the 
Plan is interrupted due to an unpaid leave of absence during which the Employee elects 
not to continue participation, and if the Employee subsequently returns to eligible 
employment status during the same Plan Year, then the Employee shall be reinstated as a 
Participant on the first day of the first full pay period following the Employee’s return to 
eligible employment status and will be reinstated to his former elections. 

4.5 Election Upon Reinstatement.  If a former Participant is reinstated pursuant to 
Section 3.7, and if the period between termination and re-employment is less than 
31 days, then the former Participant will not be permitted, upon reinstatement, to make 
new elections.  If a former Participant is reinstated pursuant to Section 3.7, and if the 
period between termination and re-employment is at least 31 days or more, then the 
former Participant will be reinstated and will be able to make new elections. 

4.6 Change or Revocation of Election.  Following commencement of any Plan Year with 
respect to which an Employee elects to participate in the Plan, the election for such Plan 
Year may neither be changed nor revoked, except pursuant to Sections 4.8 through 4.17 
or, with respect to the HSA Benefit, Section 7.2(a).   

4.7 Irrevocability of Benefit Selection and Salary Redirection Designation.  A 
Participant’s selection of benefits under this Plan and the applicable Salary Redirection 
for a Coverage Period shall be irrevocable with respect to such Coverage Period, except 
that a Participant shall be entitled to change the election and Salary Redirection 
designation during a Coverage Period if the Plan Administrator determines that the 
Participant has experienced a Qualified Change.  “Qualified Change” means any change 
specified in Sections 4.8 through 4.17. 

4.8 Changes Based on Special Enrollment Rights. If a Participant, a Participant’s Spouse, 
or a Participant’s Dependent exercises a special enrollment right under a group health 
plan pursuant to Code Section 9801(f), the Participant may revoke a prior election and 
make a new election (including, when required by HIPAA, an election to enroll in 
another benefit package under a group health plan) that corresponds with the special 
enrollment right. 

As required by HIPAA, a special enrollment right will arise in the following 
circumstances: 

a. a Participant or his or her Spouse or Dependent declined to enroll in group health 
plan coverage because he or she had coverage, and eligibility for such coverage is 
subsequently lost because: (1) the coverage was provided under COBRA, and the 
COBRA coverage was exhausted; or (2) the coverage was non-COBRA coverage, 
and the coverage terminated due to loss of eligibility for coverage or the employer 
contributions for the coverage were terminated; 

b. a new Dependent is acquired as a result of marriage, birth, adoption, or placement 
for adoption; 
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c. the Participant’s or Dependent’s coverage under a Medicaid plan or state 
children’s health insurance program is terminated as a result of loss of eligibility 
for such coverage; or 

d. the Participant or Dependent becomes eligible for a state premium assistance 
subsidy from a Medicaid plan or through a state children’s health insurance 
program with respect to coverage under the group health plan. 

4.9 Changes in Status.  A Participant may revoke a Benefit election during the Plan Year 
and make a new Benefit election as provided in this Section. 

a. “Change in Status” is any of the events described below, in accordance with Code 
Section 125 and the regulations issued thereunder that the Plan Administrator, in 
its sole discretion, decides to recognize on a uniform and consistent basis: 

(1) Legal Marital Status.  A change in a Participant’s legal marital status, 
including marriage, death of a Spouse, divorce, legal separation, or 
annulment; 

(2) Number of Dependents.  A change in the Participant’s number of tax  
Dependents, including the birth of a Dependent, the adoption or placement 
for adoption of a Dependent, or death of a Dependent; 

(3) Employment Status.  Any of the following events that change the 
employment status of the Participant, the Participant’s Spouse, or the 
Participant’s Dependent: a termination or commencement of employment; 
a strike or lockout; a commencement of or return from an unpaid leave of 
absence; and a change in worksite.  Additionally, if the eligibility 
conditions of the cafeteria plan or other employee benefit plan of the 
employer of the Participant, Spouse, or Dependent depend on the 
employment status of that individual and there is a change in that 
individual’s employment status with the consequence that the individual 
becomes (or ceases to be) eligible under the plan, then that change 
constitutes a change in employment under this paragraph; 

(4) Dependent Eligibility Requirements.  An event that causes a Participant’s 
Dependent to satisfy or cease to satisfy the Dependent eligibility 
requirements for a particular Benefit; and 

(5) Change in Residence.  A change in the place of residence of the 
Participant, the Participant’s Spouse, or the Participant’s Dependent where 
the change of residence affects the Participant’s, the Participant’s 
Spouse’s, or the Participant’s Dependent’s eligibility for coverage, such as 
moving to a location that is outside the service area of the group health 
plan in which such individual originally enrolled for the Plan Year. 

b. A Participant may change or terminate his or her election under the Plan upon the 
occurrence of a Change in Status, but only if such change or termination is made 
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on account of and corresponds with a Change in Status that affects eligibility for 
coverage under a plan of the Employer or a plan of the Spouse’s or Dependent’s 
employer (referred to as the consistency rule).  A Change in Status that affects 
eligibility for coverage under a plan of the Employer or a plan of the Spouse’s or 
Dependent’s employer includes a Change in Status that results in an increase or 
decrease in the number of an Employee’s family members (i.e., a Spouse and/or 
Dependents) who may benefit from the coverage. 

c. The Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall determine, based on prevailing 
IRS guidance, whether a requested change is on account of and corresponds with 
a Change in Status. 

d. Assuming that the general consistency requirement is satisfied, a requested 
election change must also satisfy the following specific consistency requirements 
in order for a Participant to be able to alter his or her election based on the 
specified Change in Status: 

(1) Loss of Spouse or Dependent Eligibility; Special COBRA Rules. For a 
Change in Status involving a Participant’s divorce, annulment, or legal 
separation from a Spouse, the death of a Spouse or a Dependent, or a 
Dependent’s ceasing to satisfy the eligibility requirements for coverage, a 
Participant may only elect to cancel accident or health insurance coverage 
for (1) the Spouse involved in the divorce, annulment, or legal separation; 
(2) the deceased Spouse or Dependent; or (3) the Dependent that ceased to 
satisfy the eligibility requirements. Canceling coverage for any other 
individual under these circumstances would fail to correspond with that 
Change in Status. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant or his 
or her Spouse or Dependent becomes eligible for COBRA (or similar 
health plan continuation coverage under state law) under the Employer’s 
plan because of a reduction of hours or because the Participant’s 
Dependent ceases to satisfy the eligibility requirements for coverage (and 
the Participant remains a Participant under this Plan in accordance with 
Article III), then the Participant may increase his or her election to pay for 
such coverage. 

(2) Gain of Coverage Eligibility Under Another Employer’s Plan. For a 
Change in Status in which a Participant or his or her Spouse or Dependent 
gains eligibility for coverage under a cafeteria plan or qualified benefit 
plan of the employer of the Participant’s Spouse or Dependent as a result 
of a change in marital status or a change in employment status, a 
Participant may elect to cease or decrease coverage for that individual 
only if coverage for that individual becomes effective or is increased 
under the Spouse’s or Dependent’s employer’s plan. The Plan 
Administrator may rely on a Participant’s certification that the Participant 
has obtained or will obtain coverage under the Spouse’s or Dependent’s 
employer’s plan, unless the Plan Administrator has reason to believe that 
the Participant’s certification is incorrect. 



 

 15 

(3) Special Consistency Rule for DCAP Benefits. With respect to the DCAP 
Benefits, a Participant may change or terminate his or her election upon a 
Change in Status if (1) such change or termination is made on account of 
and corresponds with a Change in Status that affects eligibility for 
coverage under an employer’s plan; or (2) the election change is on 
account of and corresponds with a Change in Status that affects eligibility 
of Dependent Care Expenses for the tax exclusion under Code Section 
129. 

4.10 Changes Based on Judgment, Decree, or Order.  This Section applies to a judgment, 
decree, or order (“order”) resulting from a divorce, legal separation, annulment, or 
change in legal custody (including a qualified medical child support order as defined in 
Section 609 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act) that requires accident or 
health coverage for a Participant’s Dependent.  Notwithstanding the remainder of this 
Article, the Plan may: 

a. change the Participant’s Benefit election to provide coverage for the Dependent if 
the order requires coverage under the Participant’s plan; or  

b. permit the Participant to make a Benefit election change to cancel coverage for 
the Dependent if the order requires another individual to provide coverage for the 
Dependent and the coverage is actually provided. 

This Section 4.10 does not apply to DCAP Benefits. 
 

4.11 Changes Based on Entitlement to Medicare or Medicaid.  If a Participant, a 
Participant’s Spouse, or a Participant’s Dependent who is enrolled in a health or accident 
benefit under the Plan becomes entitled to Medicare or Medicaid (other than coverage 
consisting solely of benefits under Section 1928 of the Social Security Act providing for 
pediatric vaccines), the Participant may prospectively reduce or cancel the health or 
accident coverage of the person becoming entitled to Medicare or Medicaid.  Further, if a 
Participant, a Participant’s Spouse or a Participant’s Dependent who has been entitled to 
Medicare or Medicaid loses eligibility for such coverage, then the Participant may 
prospectively elect to commence or increase the health or accident coverage of the 
individual who loses Medicare or Medicaid eligibility. 

This Section 4.11 does not apply to DCAP Benefits. 
 

4.12 Changes Based on FMLA Leave.  An Employee taking leave under the FMLA, if 
applicable, may revoke an existing Benefit election relating to group health plan 
coverage, and may make such other Benefit election for the remaining portion of the 
period of coverage as may be provided for under the FMLA. 
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4.13 Changes Based on Increase or Decrease in Cost.   

a. Automatic Adjustments for Insignificant Cost Changes.  Upon receiving 
written notice from a medical, dental, or vision plan of an insignificant increase or 
decrease in premium, the Plan Administrator may prospectively adjust the Salary 
Redirection designation of all affected Participants by an amount equal to the 
increase or decrease in premium allocable to the portion of the premium payable 
by the Participant.  The Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion and on a uniform 
and consistent basis, will determine whether an increase or decrease is 
insignificant based upon all the surrounding facts and circumstances, including 
but not limited to the dollar amount or percentage of the cost change.  The Plan 
Administrator, in its sole discretion and on a reasonable and consistent basis, will 
automatically effectuate this prospective increase or decrease. 

b. Significant Cost Increases.  If the Plan Administrator determines that the cost 
charged to an Employee of a Participant’s benefit package option(s) significantly 
increases during a Plan Year, then the Participant may (a) make a corresponding 
prospective increase in his or her elective contributions (by increasing Salary 
Redirections); (b) revoke his or her election for that coverage, and in lieu thereof, 
receive on a prospective basis coverage under another benefit package option that 
provides similar coverage; or (c) drop coverage prospectively if there is no other 
benefit package option available that provides similar coverage. The Plan 
Administrator, in its sole discretion and on a uniform and consistent basis, will 
decide whether a cost increase is significant in accordance with prevailing IRS 
guidance. 

c. Significant Cost Decreases. If the Plan Administrator determines that the cost of 
any benefit package option significantly decreases during Plan Year, then the Plan 
Administrator may permit the following election changes: (a) Participants 
enrolled in that benefit package option may make a corresponding prospective 
decrease in their elective contributions (by decreasing Salary Redirections); (b) 
Participants who are enrolled in another benefit package option may change their 
election on a prospective basis to elect the benefit package option that has 
decreased in cost; or (c) Employees who are otherwise eligible under Article III 
may elect the benefit package option that has decreased in cost on a prospective 
basis, subject to the terms and limitations of the benefit package option. The Plan 
Administrator, in its sole discretion and on a uniform and consistent basis, will 
decide whether a cost decrease is significant in accordance with prevailing IRS 
guidance. 

d. This Section applies to the DCAP Benefit only if the cost change is imposed by a 
dependent care provider who is not a “relative” of the Participant as that term is 
defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.125-4(f)(2)(iv) or other IRS guidance. 
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4.14 Changes Based on Increase, Decrease, or Changes in Coverage. 

a. Definition of “Loss of Coverage.”  For purposes of this Section 4.14, a “Loss of 
Coverage” means a complete loss of coverage (including the elimination of a 
benefit package option, an HMO ceasing to be available where the Participant or 
his or her Spouse or Dependent resides, or a Participant or his or her Spouse or 
Dependent losing all coverage under the benefit package option by reason of an 
overall lifetime or annual limitation).  In addition, the Plan Administrator, in its 
sole discretion, on a uniform and consistent basis, may treat the following as a 
Loss of Coverage: (a) a substantial decrease in the medical care providers 
available under the benefit package option (such as a major hospital ceasing to be 
a member of a preferred provider network or a substantial decrease in the number 
of physicians participating in the PPO for the medical plan or in an HMO), (b) a 
reduction in benefits for a specific type of medical condition or treatment with 
respect to which the Participant or his or her Spouse or Dependent is currently in 
a course of treatment, or (c) any other similar fundamental loss of coverage. 

b. Significant Curtailment Without Loss of Coverage.  If the Plan Administrator 
determines that a Participant’s coverage under a benefit package option under this 
Plan (or the Participant’s Spouse’s or Dependent’s coverage under his or her 
employer’s plan) is significantly curtailed without a Loss of Coverage during a 
Plan Year, the Participant may revoke his or her election for the affected 
coverage, and in lieu thereof, prospectively elect coverage under another benefit 
package option that provides similar coverage.  Coverage under a plan is deemed 
to be “significantly curtailed” only if there is an overall reduction in coverage 
provided under the plan so as to constitute reduced coverage generally. 

c. Significant Curtailment With Loss of Coverage.  If the Plan Administrator 
determines that a Participant’s benefit package option coverage under this Plan 
(or the Participant’s Spouse’s or Dependent’s coverage under his or her 
employer’s plan) is significantly curtailed, and if such curtailment results in a 
Loss of Coverage during a Plan Year, then the Participant may revoke his or her 
election for the affected coverage and may either prospectively elect coverage 
under another benefit package option that provides similar coverage (or drop 
coverage if no other benefit package option providing similar coverage is offered 
by the Employer. 

d. DCAP Changes.  A Participant may make a prospective election change that is on 
account of and corresponds with a change by the Participant in the dependent care 
service provider. For example: (a) if the Participant terminates one dependent care 
service provider and hires a new dependent care service provider, then the 
Participant may change coverage to reflect the cost of the new service provider; 
and (b) if the Participant terminates a dependent care service provider because a 
relative becomes available to take care of the child at no charge, then the 
Participant may cancel coverage. 
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e. Addition or Significant Improvement of Benefit Package Option.  If during a Plan 
Year the Plan adds a new benefit package option or significantly improves an 
existing benefit package option, the Plan Administrator may permit the following 
election changes: (a) Participants who are enrolled in a benefit package option 
other than the newly added or significantly improved benefit package option may 
change their elections on a prospective basis to elect the newly added or 
significantly improved benefit package option; and (b) Employees who are 
otherwise eligible under Article III may elect the newly added or significantly 
improved benefit package option on a prospective basis, subject to the terms and 
limitations of the benefit package option. The Plan Administrator, in its sole 
discretion and on a uniform and consistent basis, will decide whether there has 
been an addition of, or a significant improvement in, a benefit package option in 
accordance with prevailing IRS guidance. 

f. Change in Coverage of Spouse or Dependent Under His or Her Employer’s Plan.  
A Participant may make a prospective election change that is on account of and 
corresponds with a change made under an employer plan (including a plan of the 
Employer or a plan of the Spouse’s or Dependent’s employer), so long as (a) the 
other cafeteria plan or qualified benefits plan permits its participants to make an 
election change that would be permitted under applicable IRS regulations; or (b) 
the Plan permits Participants to make an election for a plan year that is different 
from the plan year under the other cafeteria plan or qualified benefits plan. The 
Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion and on a uniform and consistent basis, 
will decide whether a requested change is on account of and corresponds with a 
change made under the other employer plan, in accordance with prevailing IRS 
guidance. 

g. Loss of Coverage Under Other Group Health Coverage.  A Participant may 
prospectively change his or her election to add group health coverage for the 
Participant or his or her Spouse or Dependent, if such individual(s) loses coverage 
under any group health coverage sponsored by a governmental or educational 
institution, including (but not limited to) the following: a state children’s health 
insurance program under Title XXI of the Social Security Act; a medical care 
program of an Indian Tribal government (as defined in Code Section 
7701(a)(40)), the Indian Health Service, or a tribal organization; a state health 
benefits risk pool; or a foreign government group health plan, subject to the terms 
and limitations of the applicable benefit package option(s). 

4.15 Marketplace-Related Election Changes.  [Reserved] 

4.16 Procedure and Effective Date for Changing Benefit Elections.  To change Benefit 
elections based upon a Qualified Change, the Participant must notify the Plan 
Administrator of the Qualified Change in writing and must submit appropriate election 
forms within or prior to the Special Enrollment Period.  If the Participant timely submits 
new election forms, the Participant’s new Benefit election will be effective on the date 
required by applicable law or the later of the date the new election is received by the Plan 
Administrator or the date of the Qualified Change.  If made timely, an election change 
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based on a special enrollment right that is the birth, adoption, or placement for adoption 
of a child shall be effective as of the date of such birth, adoption, or placement for 
adoption.  If the Participant does not timely submit new election forms following a 
Qualified Change, the Participant will not be permitted to change Benefit elections based 
on the Qualified Change. 

ARTICLE V 
CONTRIBUTIONS AND BENEFITS IN GENERAL 

5.1 Benefits Available.  Subject to the maximums established in Section 5.3 and to the 
Participant’s Benefit elections, a Participant may make pretax premium payments for 
coverage under one or more Health Care Plans pursuant to Article VI, may make pretax 
contributions to an HSA and may have Employer Contributions (if any) made to an HSA 
pursuant to Article VII, or may be reimbursed for Qualified Dependent Care Expenses 
pursuant to Article VIII. 

5.2 Salary Redirection Contributions.  The source of funding under this Plan shall be 
Salary Redirection contributions, as designated by Participants in their election forms, 
submitted in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.2 and Article IV.  Salary 
Redirection contributions shall be made by approximately equal payroll reductions during 
a Plan Year and shall be credited to the designated Account accordingly. 

5.3 Maximum Salary Redirection Contributions.  The maximum Salary Redirection 
contribution that may be elected by a Participant for each benefit available under this 
Plan shall be as follows: 

a. for the Participant’s share of premiums for coverage under one or more Health 
Care Plans for the Participant, Spouse, and Dependents: the actual premium for 
such Coverage Period per Plan Year; 

b. for the Participant’s contribution to a Health Savings Account: the statutory 
amount for HSA contributions as set forth in Code Section 223, subject to Section 
7.2.   

c. for reimbursement of Qualified Dependent Care Expenses: $5,000 per Plan Year, 
subject to Section 8.4. 

A Salary Redirection contribution designated for one of the benefits listed above must be 
used for that benefit and cannot be used to pay for any other benefit. 

5.4 Benefit Accounting.  The Plan Administrator shall separately account for each Benefit 
elected by the Participant.  The Account balances shall be increased by the amount of 
Salary Redirection contributions that a Participant has elected to apply and does apply 
toward the Participant’s Accounts, and shall be reduced by the amount of any benefits 
paid to or on behalf of the Participant. 
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ARTICLE VI 
PRETAX PREMIUM PAYMENT 

6.1 General.  The benefit provided by this Article is the payment of Health Care Plan 
premiums on a pretax basis through Salary Redirection.     

6.2 Terms and Limitations.   

a. The Employer has identified the following premiums as being eligible for pretax 
payment under this Article: Health Care Plans offering medical insurance, vision 
insurance, and dental insurance.  The pretax payment of premiums shall include 
those premiums incurred with respect to a Participant, the Spouse of the 
Participant, and any Dependent of the Participant. 

b. A Participant shall not be permitted to elect pretax payment of premiums unless, 
during the applicable Coverage Period, the Participant is (or will be) eligible for 
and enrolled in the applicable Health Care Plan. 

6.3 Method of Payment by Employer.  On behalf of the Participant, the Employer will pay 
the premiums directly to the insurance company or other appropriate billing entity.  This 
payment administratively shall be construed as a reduction of the Employee’s 
Compensation and a payment made to an insurance company or other appropriate billing 
entity by the Employer. 

6.4 Forfeiture of Unused Amounts.  If, after the payment of all applicable premiums for the 
Plan Year pursuant to Section 6.3, some Salary Redirection amounts remain, such 
amounts shall be forfeited by the Employee. 

6.5 Claims.  Claims are addressed in Section 9.1. 

6.6 Provision of Benefits.  Benefits described in Section 6.2 shall be provided pursuant to 
the applicable plan and/or insurance policy.  The types and amounts of such Benefits, the 
requirements for participating in such Benefits, and the other terms and conditions of 
coverage and Benefits of are set forth in the applicable plans and/or insurance policies. 

ARTICLE VII 
HEALTH SAVINGS ACCOUNT BENEFIT 

7.1 General.  This Benefit provides for pretax contributions to the Participant’s HSA.  The 
Participant’s HSA is established and maintained outside of the Plan.  The Employer shall 
forward the contributions to the HSA trustee/custodian, as further described in Section 
7.6. 
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7.2 Terms and Limitations. 

a. Notwithstanding Article IV, the Participant’s election for the HSA Benefit can be 
increased, decreased, or revoked prospectively at least once per calendar month.  
A Participant may change his or her election with regard to HSA contributions by 
submitting new election forms.  The change will take effect on the first day of the 
first full month following the date on which the new election forms are submitted.  
In event that a Participant submits conflicting election forms in a single month, 
the election forms submitted latest shall govern.  No other Benefits may be 
changed as a result of a change in the HSA election; all other changes are 
governed by Article IV.  

b. The maximum annual amount that may be contributed to this Benefit is the 
statutory amount for HSA contributions as set forth in Code Section 223 
(including catch-up contributions, as permitted by Code Section 223, for 
Participants aged 55 or older), less the amount of any Employer contribution.   

c. In order to participate in the HSA Benefit under this Plan, a Participant must be 
enrolled in the HDHP sponsored by the Employer and must be eligible to make 
HSA contributions under applicable law. 

7.3 Employer Contributions.  The Employer may contribute to a Participant’s HSA 
independently of the pretax contributions elected by the Participant.  Such contributions 
(if any) shall be credited to the Participant’s HSA at such time as determined by the 
Employer in its sole discretion.  

7.4 Claims.  In accordance with Section 9.1, the procedure for filing HSA claims is 
determined by the HSA trustee/custodian, not by this Plan. 

7.5 Intent.  The HSA Benefit provided by this Article consists solely of the ability to make 
contributions to an HSA on a pretax basis through Salary Redirection.  The terms and 
conditions of coverage and benefits under the HSA itself (e.g., eligible medical expenses, 
claims procedures) are provided by the HSA and not by this Plan.  Neither the Employer 
nor the Plan Administrator has authority or control over the funds deposited in an HSA.    
The terms and conditions of each Participant’s HSA trust or custodial account are 
described in the HSA trust or custodial agreement provided by the applicable 
trustee/custodian to each electing Participant and are not a part of this Plan.  The HSA is 
not an Employer-sponsored employee benefits plan; it is a savings account that is 
established and maintained by an HSA trustee/custodian outside the Plan to be used 
primarily for reimbursement of “qualified eligible medical expenses” as set forth in Code 
Section 223(d). 
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7.6 Recordkeeping.   

a. As further described in Section 7.5, the HSA Benefit is not a benefit plan 
sponsored by the Employer.  Instead, each HSA is an individual trust or custodial 
account separately established and maintained by a trustee/custodian outside the 
Plan.  The Participant, not the Employer, is ultimately responsible for selecting 
the HSA trustee/custodian to which the Participant makes HSA contributions.   

b. The Employer may limit the number of HSA trustees/custodians, and which HSA 
trustees/custodians, to whom it will forward any Employer contributions and 
contributions that Participants make via pretax salary reductions, and such list is 
not and shall not be construed or interpreted as the endorsement of any particular 
trustee/custodian.  Although the Employer may only forward contributions to 
certain HSA trustees/custodians, a Participant is not required to use any particular 
HSA trustee/custodian.  A Participant may establish an HSA with any 
trustee/custodian of the Participant’s choosing and contribute to such HSA (such 
contributions being made outside of, and separate from, this Plan).  If an 
Employee is enrolled in a HDHP sponsored by the Employer (and eligible to 
make HSA contributions under applicable law), the Employer will only forward 
Employer HSA contributions (if any) and HSA contributions that Participants 
make via pretax salary reductions to the HSA trustee/custodian selected by the 
Employer.  The Plan does not limit the ability of eligible individuals to move their 
funds to another HSA (other than any restrictions imposed by the Code). 

c. The Plan Administrator shall maintain records regarding contributions to HSAs 
Participants make via pre-tax salary reductions, but it will not create a separate 
fund or otherwise segregate assets for this purpose.  The Employer has no 
authority or control over the funds deposited in an HSA. 

7.7 Tax Treatment of HSAs.  The federal income tax treatment of the HSA (including 
contributions and distributions) is governed by Code Section 223.  Participants are solely 
responsible for their compliance with Code Section 223, including, but not limited to, 
HSA contributions, withdrawals, correcting compliance errors, and determining the 
amount (if any) they are eligible to contribute to an HSA.     

ARTICLE VIII 
DEPENDENT CARE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM  

8.1 General.  The benefit provided by this Article is the reimbursement of Qualified 
Dependent Care Expenses.  This Article is intended to fulfill the separate written 
document requirement set forth in Code Section 129. 
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8.2 Reimbursements.  The Plan Administrator may reimburse Qualified Dependent Care 
Expenses directly to the provider or to the Participant, subject to the maximum benefit 
which the Participant may receive in any Plan Year.  The Plan Administrator shall not 
reimburse or pay Dependent Care Expenses that exceed the balance of the Participant’s 
DCAP Account at the time of reimbursement or payment.  All DCAP benefits shall be 
paid exclusively from the Participant’s DCAP Account.  In no event shall benefit 
payments exceed the balance of such Account.   

8.3 Nondiscrimination.  The DCAP Benefit shall not discriminate, as to eligibility, 
contributions, or benefits, in favor of Highly Compensated Employees or their 
Dependents.  In the event the DCAP Benefit is found to be discriminatory, the DCAP 
Benefit shall continue to constitute a dependent care assistance plan (within the meaning 
of Code Section 129) as to employees who are not Highly Compensated Employees. 

Solely with regard to the Benefits paid under this Article, the average Benefits provided 
to employees who are not Highly Compensated Employees shall be at least 55% of the 
average Benefits provided to employees who are Highly Compensated Employees.  If the 
Plan Administrator believes that this threshold may not be met, the Plan Administrator 
may, in its absolute discretion, limit the amount of DCAP Benefits payable to 
Participants who are Highly Compensated Employees, provided that any such limitation 
imposed by the Plan Administrator shall apply on a uniform basis.   

8.4 Maximum Benefit.  A Participant’s maximum DCAP benefit during any Plan Year and 
calendar year is the lesser of: 

a. the Participant’s Earned Income for the calendar year (after all reductions in 
Compensation, including the reduction related to the DCAP Benefit); 

b. the Earned Income of the Participant’s Spouse for the calendar year; 

c. the deemed Earned Income of the Participant’s Spouse, if the Spouse is a full time 
student at an educational institution or is physically or mentally incapable of 
caring for himself;  

d. the amount the Participant contributed to the DCAP Benefit; 

e. $5,000 for each Plan Year one of the following applies: (1) the Participant is 
married and files a joint federal income tax return; (2) the Participant is married, 
files a separate federal income tax return, and meets the following conditions: (a) 
the Participant maintains as his or her home a household that constitutes (for more 
than half of the taxable year) the principal abode of a Qualifying Individual (i.e., 
the Dependent for whom the Participant is eligible to receive reimbursements 
under the DCAP Benefit), (b) the Participant furnishes over half of the cost of 
maintaining such household during the taxable year, and (c) during the last six 
months of the taxable year, the Participant’s Spouse is not a member of such 
household; or (3) the Participant is single or is the head of the household for 
federal income tax purposes; or 
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f. $2,500 for each Plan Year if the Participant is married and files a separate federal 
income tax return under circumstances other than those described above in 
subsection (e). 

8.5 Forfeiture of Unused Amounts.  Qualified Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during a 
Plan Year will be reimbursed only to the extent that proper claims for reimbursement are 
submitted to the Plan Administrator within 90 days following the end of the Plan Year.  
Any amounts remaining in a Participant’s DCAP Account after the resolution of all 
timely submitted claims for reimbursement shall be forfeited by the Participant. 

8.6 Cessation of Employment.  If a Participant ceases to be an Employee, such Participant 
shall be entitled to continue receiving Benefits to the extent of the amount remaining in 
the Participant’s DCAP Account (i.e., year-to-date contributions less prior 
reimbursements) for the Plan Year during which his or her employment terminated. 

8.7 Debit Cards.  If the Employer or Plan Administrator permits Participants to access the 
DCAP Benefits using an electronic payment card (such as a debit card), Participants shall 
be required to comply with the substantiation procedures the Plan Administrator and/or 
any third-party administrator establishes, in accordance with applicable law (including, 
but not limited to, Proposed Treasury Regulation Section 1.125-6) and Internal Revenue 
Service guidance. 

8.8 Report to Participants.  The Plan Administrator shall submit to each Participant, on or 
before January 31 of each calendar year, a statement showing the amount paid or 
expenses incurred by the Employer in providing DCAP benefits on behalf of such 
Participant during the previous calendar year.  To satisfy such requirement, the Employer 
shall provide on each Employee’s Form W-2 the amount of Qualified Dependent Care 
Expenses incurred during the preceding calendar year. 

8.9 Carryovers for 2020-2021.  For claims submitted on or after January 1, 2021, effective 
January 1, 2021, this Section 8.9 applies.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
Plan to the contrary, any unused amounts remaining in a Participant’s DCAP Account at 
the end of the 2020 Plan Year can be carried over and used to reimburse the Participant 
for Dependent Care Expenses that are Incurred during the next Plan Year (the Plan Year 
ending in 2021), subject to the following conditions: 

a. A Participant’s unused DCAP Account amounts for the 2020 Plan Year may be 
carried over for use in the 2021 Plan Year.  For this purpose, the amount 
remaining unused as of the end of the 2020 Plan Year in a DCAP Account is the 
amount unused after Dependent Care Expenses have been reimbursed at the end 
of the Plan’s run-out period for the Plan Year.  Carryover amounts may not be 
cashed out or converted to any other taxable or nontaxable benefit and will not 
count toward the maximum dollar limit under Section 8.4. 
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b. A Participant who is otherwise eligible for the DCAP Benefit for the 2021 Plan 
Year but does not make a DCAP Benefit election for that Plan Year may use any 
carryovers from the 2020 Plan Year for Dependent Care Expenses Incurred in the 
2021 Plan Year (as further provided herein).  However, an Employee must be a 
participant in the DCAP Benefit as of the last day of the 2020 Plan Year in order 
to carry over unused amounts to the 2021 Plan Year.  Termination of employment 
and cessation of eligibility will result in a loss of carryover eligibility. 

c. A Participant may elect prior to the beginning of a Plan Year to waive the 
carryover from the preceding Plan Year in accordance with procedures 
established by the Plan Administrator. A Participant who waives the carryover 
may continue to submit claims for Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during the 
2020 Plan Year in accordance with Article IX, to be reimbursed from the 
Participant’s available DCAP Account amounts. 

d. Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during a Plan Year will be reimbursed first 
from a Participant’s unused amounts credited for that Plan Year and then from 
amounts carried over from the preceding Plan Year.  Any unused amounts from 
the prior Plan Year that are carried over and used to reimburse a current Plan Year 
expense (a) reduce the amounts available to pay prior Plan Year expenses during 
the run-out period, (b) must be counted against the permitted carryover amount, 
and (c) cannot exceed the permitted carryover. 

e. If unused DCAP Benefit amounts remain for a Plan Year after all reimbursements 
have been made for that Plan Year in excess of the amount that can be carried 
over, the Participant will forfeit all rights with respect to those amounts, which 
will be subject to the Plan’s provisions regarding forfeitures.   

8.10 Carryovers for 2021-2022.  For claims submitted on or after January 1, 2022, this 
Section 8.10 applies.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, 
any unused amounts remaining in a Participant’s DCAP Account at the end of the 2021 
Plan Year can be carried over and used to reimburse the Participant for Dependent Care 
Expenses that are Incurred during the next Plan Year (the Plan Year ending in 2022), 
subject to the following conditions: 

a. A Participant’s unused DCAP Account amounts for the 2021 Plan Year may be 
carried over for use in the 2022 Plan Year.  For this purpose, the amount 
remaining unused as of the end of the 2021 Plan Year in a DCAP Account is the 
amount unused after Dependent Care Expenses have been reimbursed at the end 
of the Plan’s run-out period for the Plan Year.  Carryover amounts may not be 
cashed out or converted to any other taxable or nontaxable benefit and will not 
count toward the maximum dollar limit under Section 8.4. 
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b. A Participant who is otherwise eligible for the DCAP Benefit for the 2022 Plan 
Year but does not make a DCAP Benefit election for that Plan Year may use any 
carryovers from the 2021 Plan Year for Dependent Care Expenses Incurred in the 
2022 Plan Year (as further provided herein).  However, an Employee must be a 
participant in the DCAP Benefit as of the last day of the 2021 Plan Year in order 
to carry over unused amounts to the 2022 Plan Year.  Termination of employment 
and cessation of eligibility will result in a loss of carryover eligibility. 

c. A Participant may elect prior to the beginning of a Plan Year to waive the 
carryover from the preceding Plan Year in accordance with procedures 
established by the Plan Administrator. A Participant who waives the carryover 
may continue to submit claims for Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during the 
2021 Plan Year in accordance with Article IX, to be reimbursed from the 
Participant’s available DCAP Account amounts. 

d. Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during a Plan Year will be reimbursed first 
from a Participant’s unused amounts credited for that Plan Year and then from 
amounts carried over from the preceding Plan Year.  Any unused amounts from 
the prior Plan Year that are carried over and used to reimburse a current Plan Year 
expense (a) reduce the amounts available to pay prior Plan Year expenses during 
the run-out period, (b) must be counted against the permitted carryover amount, 
and (c) cannot exceed the permitted carryover. 

e. If unused DCAP Benefit amounts remain for a Plan Year after all reimbursements 
have been made for that Plan Year in excess of the amount that can be carried 
over, the Participant will forfeit all rights with respect to those amounts, which 
will be subject to the Plan’s provisions regarding forfeitures. 

8.11 Special Carryforward and Reimbursement Rules for 2020 and 2021.   

a. Definitions.  For purposes of this Section 8.11, the following words and phrases 
shall have the meanings stated below: 

(1) “Special Eligible Employee” means any Employee who (1) enrolled in the 
DCAP Benefit for the 2020 Plan Year, and (2) had one or more 
dependents (as defined in Code Section 152(a)(1)) attain the age of 13 
during the 2020 Plan Year or attain the age of 13 during the 2021 Plan 
Year in the case of an Employee who (after the application of Sections 8.9 
and 8.11 and determined as of the close of the last day on which claims for 
reimbursement may be made for the 2020 Plan Year) has an unused 
balance in the Employee’s DCAP Account for the 2020 Plan Year. 

b. Carryover and Reimbursement Rules. 

(1) With respect to any Special Eligible Employee, Code Section 21(b)(1)(A) 
shall be applied by substituting “age 14” for “age 13” for purposes of 
determining the DCAP Benefits which may be paid or reimbursed with 
respect to such Employee during the 2020 Plan Year. 
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(2) In the case of a Special Eligible Employee who (after the application of 
Sections 8.9 and 8.11 and determined as of the close of the last day on 
which claims for reimbursement may be made for the 2020 Plan Year) has 
an unused balance in the Employee’s DCAP Account for the 2020 Plan 
Year, Code Section 21(b)(1)(A) shall be applied by substituting “age 14” 
for “age 13” for purposes of determining the DCAP Benefits which may 
be paid or reimbursed with respect to such Employee during the 2021 Plan 
Year. 

(3) Sections 8.9, 8.10, and 8.11 shall be applied and interpreted in accordance 
with Section 214 of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, and 
related guidance. 

8.12 Coordination of Grace Periods and Carryovers for 2020, 2021, and 2022.     

a. 2020 Plan Year.  With respect to the 2020 Plan Year, Participants must Incur 
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses during the 2020 calendar year.  There is no 
Grace Period with respect to the 2020 Plan Year. 

b. 2021 Plan Year.  With respect to the 2021 Plan Year, Participants must Incur 
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses during the 2021 calendar year.  There is no 
Grace Period with respect to the 2021 Plan Year. 

c. 2022 Plan Year.  With respect to the 2022 Plan Year, Participants must Incur 
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses during the 2022 calendar year or the Grace 
Period immediately following the end of the 2022 Plan Year.   

ARTICLE IX 
CLAIMS PROCEDURES 

9.1 Submission of Claims.   

a. Health Care Plan.  All claims for benefits under a Health Care Plan shall be 
subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of the specific Health Care 
Plan, not by this Plan.  Such claims should be submitted as described in the claims 
procedures for the applicable Health Care Plan. 

b. Pretax Premium Payment.  A Participant is not required to file claims for this 
Benefit.  If a Participant has properly enrolled for Pretax Premium Payment 
Benefits under this Plan, the Plan Administrator will automatically make the 
appropriate premium payments without any claim being filed by the Participant.  
In the event of a dispute, however, the Participant may submit a claim to the Plan 
Administrator.   
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c. Health Savings Account.  Withdrawals from and benefits under an HSA are 
governed by the terms and conditions of the applicable account and not by this 
Plan.  However, if the Participant believes that contributions were not made to the 
Participant’s HSA in a manner consistent with this Plan, the Participant may 
submit a claim to the Plan Administrator.   

d. DCAP. 

(1) A Participant who has elected to make Salary Redirection contributions to 
a DCAP Account may apply for reimbursement of Qualified Dependent 
Care Expenses by submitting a claim in writing to the Plan Administrator, 
in such form as the Plan Administrator may describe, stating that such 
expense has not been reimbursed and/or is not reimbursable from any 
other source.  The claim form shall be accompanied by a written statement 
from the service provider or an appropriate, independent third party stating 
that the expense has been Incurred and the amount of such expense, along 
with any additional documentation that the Plan Administrator may 
request.  Subject to Sections 8.9, 8.10, 8.11, and 8.12, the aggregate 
amount paid to a Participant for reimbursement of expenses incurred in a 
Coverage Period and the corresponding Grace Period shall not exceed the 
Participant’s Salary Redirection designation for that Coverage Period.  
Any claim for individual benefits under a Health Care Plan shall be 
administered in accordance with the provisions of the applicable plan.  
Claims must be submitted to the Plan Administrator within 90 days 
following the end of the Plan Year.   

(2) If a DCAP claim is approved, and if sufficient funds exist in the applicable 
Account, the Plan Administrator shall reimburse the Participant within 10 
business days following approval of the claim.  No reimbursement of 
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses shall be made to a Participant unless 
the amount of Salary Redirection contributions to the credit of the 
Participant is sufficient to pay the claim. 

(3) Grace Periods; Special Rules for Claims Incurred During a Grace Period. 
Notwithstanding any contrary provision in this Plan and subject to the 
conditions of Sections 8.4 and 8.12, a Participant may be reimbursed for 
Qualified Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during a Grace Period from 
amounts remaining in his DCAP Account at the end of the Plan Year to 
which that Grace Period relates (“Prior Plan Year DCAP Amounts”) if he 
is a Participant in the Plan with DCAP coverage that is in effect on the last 
day of that Plan Year. 

Prior Plan Year DCAP Amounts may not be cashed out or converted to 
any other taxable or nontaxable benefit. For example, Prior Plan Year 
DCAP Amounts may not be used to reimburse Medical Care Expenses. 
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Qualified Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during a Grace Period and 
approved for reimbursement in accordance with the Plan will be 
reimbursed first from any available Prior Plan Year DCAP Amounts and 
then from any amounts that are available to reimburse expenses that are 
Incurred during the current Plan Year. A Participant’s Prior Plan Year 
DCAP Amounts will be debited for any reimbursement of Qualified 
Dependent Care Expenses Incurred during the Grace Period that is made 
from such Prior Plan Year DCAP Amounts. 

Claims for reimbursement of Qualified Dependent Care Expenses Incurred 
during a Grace Period must be submitted no later than the March 31 
following the close of the Plan Year to which the Grace Period relates in 
order to be reimbursed from Prior Plan Year DCAP Amounts. Any Prior 
Plan Year DCAP Amounts that remain after all reimbursements have been 
made for the Plan Year and its related Grace Period shall not be carried 
over (except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Plan) to reimburse 
the Participant for expenses Incurred in any subsequent period. The 
Participant will forfeit all rights with respect to these amounts, which will 
be subject to the Plan’s provisions regarding forfeitures. 

9.2 Claim Denials.  If a claim for benefits is denied (in whole or in part) by the Plan 
Administrator, the Plan Administrator will provide the Claimant with written notice of 
the denial within a reasonable time after receipt of the claim.  The notice of denial shall 
include: the reason that the claim was denied; a reference to the specific provisions of the 
Plan on which the denial was based; whether additional material or information necessary 
to perfect the claim and an explanation of why this material or information is necessary; 
and a description of the applicable appeal procedures and the time limits.  The notice 
required by this Section will be provided within 30 days after receipt of the claim, unless 
special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim.  The 
Claimant may appeal the denial as set forth in Section 9.3.  If the Claimant fails to appeal 
such action to the Plan Administrator in writing within the prescribed period of time 
described in Section 9.3, the Plan Administrator's denial of a claim shall be final, binding, 
and conclusive.   

9.3 Appeals. 

a. Filing the Appeal.  In the event that a claim is denied (in whole or in part), the 
Claimant may appeal the denial by giving written notice of the appeal to the Plan 
Administrator within 60 days after the Claimant receives the notice of denial of 
the claim.  At the same time the Claimant submits a notice of appeal, the Claimant 
may also submit written comments, documents, records, and other information 
relating to the claim.  The Participant is entitled to review and receive, free of 
charge, copies of all documents, records, and other information relevant to the 
initial claim.  The Plan Administrator shall review and consider this information 
without regard to whether the information was submitted or considered in 
conjunction with the initial claim. 
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b. General Appeal Procedure.  The Plan Administrator may hold a hearing or 
otherwise ascertain such facts as it deems necessary and will render a decision 
which shall be binding upon both parties.  In deciding the appeal: no deference 
will be given to the decision denying the initial claim; the appeal will be decided 
by an individual who did not decide the initial claim and who is not a subordinate 
of anyone who decided the initial claim; and the individual deciding the appeal 
will review and consider all information submitted by the Participant, without 
regard to whether the information was submitted or considered in conjunction 
with the initial claim. 

c. Notice of Decision on Appeal.  The appeal decision will be provided in written 
or electronic form to the Participant.  If the appeal decision is adverse to the 
Participant, the written decision will include the following: the specific reason or 
reasons for the appeal decision; reference to the specific provisions of the Plan on 
which the appeal decision is based; a statement that the Participant is entitled to 
receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all 
documents, records, and other information relevant to the Claim; and a statement 
describing any voluntary appeal procedures and the Participant’s right to obtain 
the information about such procedures. 

d. Timing of Notice of Decision on Appeal.  The appeal decision of the Plan 
Administrator shall be provided to the Claimant in writing within 60 days 
following the filing of the appeal. 

9.4 Extensions of Time.  For either an initial claim or an appeal, the Plan Administrator may 
obtain one extension of 15 days.  If the Plan Administrator requires an extension of time 
to review a claim or an appeal, the Plan Administrator will provide the Participant with 
written or electronic notice of the extension before the first day of the extension.  The 
notice of the extension will include: an explanation of the circumstances requiring the 
extension, which circumstances must be matters beyond the control of the Plan 
Administrator; the date by which the Plan Administrator expects to render a decision; the 
standard on which the Participant’s entitlement to a benefit is based; and the unresolved 
issues, if any, that prevent a decision on the claim or on appeal, and the information 
needed to resolve those issues.  In the event such information is needed, the Participant 
will have at least 45 days in which to provide the specified information.  In addition, the 
time for determining an initial claim will be tolled from the date on which the notice of 
extension is sent to the Participant until the date on which the Participant responds to the 
request for additional information. 

9.5 Legal Actions.  A claimant must exhaust his or her administrative remedies under these 
procedures prior to bringing any legal action with respect to a claim. 

ARTICLE X 
ADMINISTRATION 

10.1 Plan Administrator.  The Employer shall appoint a Plan Administrator, who shall hold 
office at the discretion of the Employer.  If no person is so appointed the Employer shall 
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be the Plan Administrator.  All usual and reasonable expenses of the Plan Administrator 
may be paid in whole or in part by the Employer.  The Plan Administrator or any other 
designated representative of the Employer who is an Employee of the Employer shall not 
receive any compensation with respect to services hereunder except as such person may 
be entitled to benefits under this Plan. 

10.2 Plan Administrator’s Rules.  The Plan Administrator may adopt such rules as the Plan 
Administrator deems necessary, desirable, or appropriate.  All rules and decisions of the 
Plan Administrator shall be uniformly and consistently applied to all Participants in 
similar circumstances.  The Plan Administrator shall have no power to add to, subtract 
from, or modify any of the terms of the Plan, or to authorize or permit the payment of or 
reimbursement for any obligation or expense of a Participant incurred during a period 
when the individual was not a Participant. 

10.3 Other Powers and Rights of the Plan Administrator.  The Plan Administrator shall 
have full power to administer the Plan, in accordance with its terms, for the exclusive 
benefit of Plan Participants and their Beneficiaries.  For this purpose, the Plan 
Administrator’s powers include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. To make and enforce such rules and regulations as it deems necessary or proper 
for the efficient administration of the Plan, including the establishment of any 
claims procedures that may be required by applicable law; 

b. To interpret the Plan (any such interpretation, made in good faith, shall be final 
and conclusive on all persons claiming benefits under the Plan); 

c. To consider and decide claims and appeals filed under the Plan; 

d. To decide all questions concerning the Plan and the eligibility of any person to 
participate in the Plan (any such decision, made in good faith, shall be final and 
conclusive on all persons claiming benefits under the Plan); 

e. To appoint such agents, counsel, accountants, consultants and actuaries as may be 
required to assist in administering the Plan; and 

f. To allocate and delegate its responsibilities under the Plan and to designate other 
persons to carry out any of its responsibilities under the Plan.  Any such 
allocation, delegation or designation shall be in writing. 

All decisions by the Plan Administrator will be afforded the maximum deference 
permitted by law. 
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10.4 Plan Administrator’s Recordkeeping Duties. 

a. Records.  The Plan Administrator shall keep and maintain accurate records of the 
contributions to be credited by the Employer to any Account and shall administer 
all such contributions in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, as amended 
from time to time.  The Plan administrator shall keep and maintain accurate 
records of all payments debited to any Account. 

b. Funding; Source of Payments.  The applicable notional Accounts shall be the 
sole source of benefits due under the Plan.  No Participant, Employee, or 
beneficiary shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Employer in 
connection with the benefits provided under the Plan either during participation in 
the Plan or upon termination of participation, other than as provided in the Plan.  
The Benefits under this Plan may be funded by the Employer’s general assets, by 
Employee contributions, or by some combination of these.  Contributions are 
established by the Employer.  The Employer reserves the right to modify the cost 
sharing of contributions between the Employer and Participants, in such amounts 
as the Employer in its absolute discretion shall determine from time to time.  
Nothing in this Plan shall be construed to require the Employer or the Plan 
Administrator to segregate any amount or to maintain any fund for the benefit of 
any Participant, and no Participant or other person shall have any claim against, 
right to, or security or other interest in any fund, account, or asset of the Employer 
from which any payment under this Plan may be made. There is no trust or other 
fund from which Benefits are paid.  The Employer or Plan Administrator may hire 
an unrelated third-party paying agent to make Benefit payments hereunder. 

10.5 Board of Directors Liabilities.  No member of the Board of Directors shall be liable to 
any person for any action taken or omitted in connection with the interpretation and 
administration of this Plan unless attributable to such Director’s own willful misconduct 
or lack of good faith. 

10.6 Alienation; Limitation of Rights.  No Benefits under this Plan may be subject to 
anticipation, garnishment, attachment, execution or levy of any kind, or be liable for any 
Participant’s or Beneficiary’s debts or obligations.  No Participant or other person shall 
have any claim against, right to, or security or other interest in, any fund, account or asset 
of the Employer from which any payment under the Plan may be made.   

10.7 Indemnification of Plan Administrator.  The Employer agrees to indemnify and to 
defend to the fullest extent permitted by law any Employee serving as the Plan 
Administrator or a member of a committee designated by the Plan Administrator 
(including any Employee or former Employee who formerly served as Plan 
Administrator or as a member of such committee) to assist in carrying out the duties of 
the Plan Administrator against all liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including 
attorneys’ fees and amounts paid in settlement of any claims approved by the Employer) 
occasioned by any act or omission to act in connection with the Plan, if such act or 
omission is in good faith. 
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ARTICLE XI 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

11.1 Rights to Account.  No Participant shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of an 
Account upon termination or otherwise, except as provided from time to time under this 
Plan, and then only to the extent of the benefits payable under the Plan to such 
Participant.  This Section does not apply to any HSA. 

11.2 Nonalienation of Benefits.  Benefits payable under this Plan shall not be subject in any 
manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, 
charge, garnishment, execution, or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary, and 
any attempt to do so shall be void.  No benefit under the Plan shall in any manner be 
liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of any person 
or Participant.   

11.3 Use of Forfeited Amounts.  Amounts forfeited by the Participants pursuant to the terms 
of this Plan may be, at the option of the Plan Administrator: retained by the Plan for 
future use consistent with this Section; applied toward the payment of administrative fees 
for this Plan; or applied toward any other use permitted by applicable regulations. 

11.4 Governing Law.  This Plan is established in the State of Nebraska.  To the extent federal 
law does not apply, this Plan shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the 
laws of the State of Nebraska.  To the extent permitted by law, venue and forum shall 
only be proper in a federal court located in Lincoln, Nebraska.  In consideration of 
participating in and receiving benefits under the Plan, Employees, Participants, 
Beneficiaries, and other persons receiving benefits under the agree to the provisions of 
this Section 11.4. 

11.5 Limitations Period.  To the extent permitted by law, legal action cannot be taken against 
the Plan, the Plan Administrator, and/or the Employer more than three (3) years after (i) 
the time written proof of loss is required to be furnished according to the terms of the 
Plan, or (ii) the denial of a claim for Benefits. 

11.6 Status of Plan.  This Plan is intended to qualify as a “cafeteria plan” under Code 
Section 125 and is to be interpreted and administered in a manner consistent with the 
provisions of Code Section 125. 

11.7 Not an Employment Contract.  Neither this Plan nor any action taken with respect to it 
shall confer upon any person the right to continued employment with any Employer. 

11.8 Mental or Physical Incompetency.  If the Plan Administrator determines that any 
person entitled to payments under the Plan is incompetent by reason of physical or mental 
disability, he may cause all payments thereafter becoming due to such person to be made 
to any other person for his benefit, without responsibility to follow the application of 
amounts so paid.  Payments made pursuant to this Section shall completely discharge the 
Plan Administrator and Employer from any further liability under this Agreement. 
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11.9 Inability to Locate Benefit Payee.  If the Plan Administrator is unable to make payment 
to any Participant or other person to whom a payment is due under the Plan because the 
Plan Administrator cannot determine the whereabouts, location, and/or identity of such 
Participant or other person after reasonable efforts have been made to locate or identify 
such person, then such payment and all subsequent payments otherwise due to such 
Participant or other person shall be forfeited following a reasonable period of time after 
the date any such payment first became due. 

11.10 Mistakes.  If there is a mistake as to eligibility, participant, allocations, and/or the 
amount of Benefits paid or due to a Participant or other person, the Plan Administrator 
shall, to the extent permissible under Code Section 125, the applicable regulations, and 
other guidance, and to the extent the Plan Administrator deems administratively 
permissible, allocate, withhold, or otherwise adjust such amounts as the Plan 
Administrator determines will accord to the Participant or other person the eligibility, 
participation, credits, or distributions to which he or she is properly entitled under the 
Plan. 

11.11 Plan Provisions Control; No Oral Interpretations.  If the terms or provisions of any 
summary or description of this Plan are in any construction interpreted as being in 
conflict with the provisions of this Plan as set forth in this document, the provisions of 
this Plan shall be controlling.  Except as required by law, Employees and other persons 
cannot rely on oral statements of Plan personnel, the Plan Administrator, Employer, 
third-party administrator, or any other individual.  Although the Plan Administrator or its 
designee may respond orally to questions, oral communications are not binding on the 
Plan and cannot be relied upon in a benefits dispute.  If an Employee requires an 
interpretation of a Plan provision, such request must be made in writing to the Plan 
Administrator or its designee. 

11.12 Requirement for Proper Forms.  All communications in connection with the Plan made 
by a Participant shall become effective only when duly executed on any forms as may be 
required and furnished by, and submitted to, the Plan Administrator. 

11.13 Tax Effects.  The Employer and the Plan Administrator do not make any warranty or 
other representation as to whether any payments made to or on behalf of any Participant 
will be treated as excludable from gross income for state, local, or federal income (or 
other) tax purposes.  It shall be the obligation of each Participant to determine whether 
any payment under this Plan is excludable from gross income for federal and state 
income tax purposes and to take appropriate action if there is reason to believe that any 
payment or amount withheld is not excludable.  Neither the Employer nor the Plan 
Administrator is liable for any taxes or penalties owed by any Participant or Beneficiary 
with respect to such amounts. 

11.14 Additional Taxes or Penalties.  If there are any taxes or penalties payable by the 
Employer on behalf of any Employee, such taxes or penalties shall be payable by the 
Employee to the Employer to the extent such taxes would have been originally payable 
by the Employee had this Plan not been in existence.  If any Participant receives one or 
more payments or reimbursements under this Plan on a tax-free basis and if such 
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payments do not qualify for such treatment under the Code, then such Participant shall 
indemnify and reimburse the Employer for any liability that it may incur for failure to 
withhold federal income taxes, Social Security taxes, or other taxes from such payments 
or reimbursements. 

11.15 Severability.  Should any part of this Plan subsequently be invalidated by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remainder shall be given effect to the maximum extent 
possible. 

ARTICLE XII 
AMENDMENTS AND TERMINATION 

12.1 Amendment of Plan.  The Employer reserves the right to make amendments to the Plan 
at any time and from time to time.  Any amendment to the Plan may be made with 
retroactive effect if determined to be necessary or desirable to comply with any law or 
regulation. 

12.2 Termination of Plan.  The Employer may terminate the Plan at any time.  The Plan will 
automatically terminate if the Employer: is legally dissolved; makes a general assignment 
for the benefit of its creditors; files for liquidation under the Bankruptcy Code; merges or 
consolidates with any other entity and is not the surviving entity (or if it sells or transfers 
substantially all of its assets or goes out of business), unless the Employer’s successor in 
interest agrees to assume the liabilities under the Plan as to the Participants and eligible 
Dependents. 

12.3 Payment of Affected Participants.  Upon the termination of the Plan, the Account shall 
become payable in such following manner as the Plan Administrator shall determine: a 
continuation of the Plan in order to pay balances on hand as of the date of termination; or 
a distribution of the balances remaining to the credit of each Participant, if any. 

[The rest of this page is left blank intentionally.  Signature page follows.] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument has been executed this _____ day of __________, 
2021. 

NEBRASKA INVESTMENT FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

By:   
(signature) 

   
(print name) 

Its:   
(print title) 



 

Update 10/13/2021 

2022      NIFA Board Meeting Schedule 

 
 
 
 NIFA Board of Directors Meeting 9:00 a.m. – 10:30 a.m. 

JANUARY 

S M T W T F S 
      1 

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 
30 31      

 

 
FEBRUARY 

S M T W T F S 
  1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
27 28      

       
 

 
MARCH 

S M T W T F S 
  1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
27 28 29 30 31   

       
 

APRIL 

S M T W T F S 
     1 2 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 

       
 

 
MAY 

S M T W T F S 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
29 30 31     

       
 

 
JUNE 

S M T W T F S 
   1 2 3 4 

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 
12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
26 27 28 29 30   

       
 

JULY 

S M T W T F S 
     1 2 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
31       

 

 
AUGUST 

S M T W T F S 
 1 2 3 4 5 6 

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 
14 15 16 17 18 19 20 
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 
28 29 30 31    

       
 

 
SEPTEMBER 

S M T W T F S 
    1 2 3 

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
25 26 27 28 29 30  

       
 

OCTOBER 

S M T W T F S 
      1 

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 
30 31      

 

 
NOVEMBER 

S M T W T F S 
  1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
27 28 29 30    

       
 

 
DECEMBER 

S M T W T F S 
    1 2 3 

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
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